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Terry I. Major, Notary Public 
P.O. Box 2125 
Cottonwood, Arizona 86326 
623-451-5588 
 
 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

                                                       COUNTY OF MARICOPA 

STATE OF ARIZONA, 
   
                               Plaintiff,  
 Vs. 
 
JOHN C. STUART, 
 
                               Defendant. 

Case No.: CR2008-106594-001 

 
          AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF  
                            AND  
               JUDICIALNOTICE  
        PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 4 
 

  Honorable Paul McMurdie 

 COMES NOW Terry I. Major, Notary Public in and for the State of Arizona, submitting 

this Amicus Curiæ Brief in accordance with rights and authorities granted me by the State of 

Arizona as a public officer and as Notice to the court so that I am not in violation of Untied States 

Code, Title 18 § 4 Misprision of felony. 

 

See, Bouviers Law Dictionary, 1856 Edition. 

NOTARY or NOTARY PUBLIC. An officer appointed by the executive, or 

other appointing power, under the laws of different states: “To certify copies of 

agreements and other instruments: By act of congress, Sept. 16, 1850, Minot's 

Statutes at Large. U. S. 458, ‘…it is enacted, That, in all cases when certified 

under, the hand and official seal of such notary, shall have the name force and 

effect as if taken or made by or before such justice or justices of the peace’. …” 

 

See, THE NOTARY PUBLIC CODE OF PROFESSIONAL 

RESPONSIBILITY: 

 

Guiding Principles: 

V. The Notary shall give precedence to the rules of law over the dictates 

 or expectations of any person or entity.  

 The following documents are hereby entered into this court by an Arizona Notary Public 

and are entered into evidence under Seal to be made part of this court’s permanent record. 

  

                                     NO ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED 



 

AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF / NOTICE 18 U.S.C. § 4 / CR2008-106594-001  Pages 100 plus exhibits 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

2

 In fact, a cursory inspection of the ten (10) or so most recent hearings will show this 

court committed at least one (1) violation of a Rule of court, an Arizona Law, substantive 

right, Constitutionally guaranteed right, and/or a combination thereof in almost every 

hearing. Currently, it appears EVERY time Defendant comes to this court Defendant’s 

rights are violated in at least one way or another by this court and/or its officers. 

WHEREAS, the facts and the law contained herein are before this court; and. 

WHEREAS, the facts and the law contained herein are the Truth; and  

WHEREAS, we hold said Truths to be self-evident; and,  

WHEREAS, self-evident Truths are undisputed and incontrovertible, no oral argument is 

requested, for no words can alter or overcome these Truths; and,  

WHEREAS, Truth is Sovereign:  She comes from God and bears His message, from 

whatever quarter her great eyes may look down upon you; Psalms 117:2; John 8:32; II 

Corinthians. 13:8; and Exodus 22:2.  "If a thief is caught breaking in and is struck so that he dies, 

the defender is not guilty of bloodshed”;  

THEREFORE; this court must perform its duty under the Rule of Law, do Justice, Rectum 

Rogare, and DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE the above-captioned case without delay for “Justice 

delayed is Justice denied.” 

 This brief is supported by the law of the case herein, the prior rulings of this Court herein, 

the docket of this case, each of which are incorporated by this reference as fully set forth, and for 

each of which this Notary Public asks this Court to take judicial notice thereof. This brief is 

further supported the accompanying Memorandum of Points and Authorities. 

 
COPYRIGHT NOTICE: The above-mentioned entity is quoting citations ‘as purported in’ context 
to copyrighted case law, statutes, rules of court and court decision material as found in books 
published with Federal or state funding supplied by the Citizens of the united States of America 
and intended for use by attorneys, and does so under the provisions of the Fair use clause of the 
copyright laws of the United States. 
 
RESPECTFULLY ENTERED INTO EVIDENCE this 3rd day of December, 2009. 
 
{Seal}       
                                                                        BY: ___________________________________ 
                Terry I. Major, Notary Public 
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 1. ARIZONA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE............................                  

 2. ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES....................................................... 

 3. ARIZONA RULES OF EVIDENCE..................................................... 

 4. BY THE STATE AND/OR ITS AGENTS............................................ 

 

VIII. ARIZONA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE  

            VIOLATED  BY THE STATE       21                                                                                                              

 

 1. The Court is required to ensure the Rules are followed by ALL parties,  

  as the mission of the court is to obtain justice, not convictions  21 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 1.1 and 1.2 

 
 2. Speedy trial and due process rights                                                               

                        A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 8      22 

 
 3. Every attorney MUST file a notice of appearance                                       

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 6.3(a)      27 

 

 4. Counsel cannot withdraw when trial set                                                       

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 6.3(c)      28 

  

 5. Refusal to allow Defendant to waive right of counsel                                 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 6.1 (c)      30  

  

 6. Failure of prosecution to timely reply to motions                                         

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 35.1      34 

 

 7. Witnesses must be disclosed                                                                         

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 15.1      36 
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 8. New witnesses must be disclosed                                                                 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 15.6      36 

 

 9. Prosecutor shall issue summons                                                                    

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 3.1(b)      36 

 

 10. Prosecutor is required to have REAL probable cause 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 3.1(c)      37 

 

 11. Victim’s rights                                                                                                

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 39 pursuant to A.R.S. § 13-4401(6)  38 

 

 12. Failure to state a reason for invoking Rule 11 Evaluation                             

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 11.2(a)      39 

 

 13. Failure to allow Defendant to appear before the Grand Jury                         

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 12.6      41 

 

 14. Failure to supply Report from Rule 11 Evaluation                                        

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 11.4(a) and (b)     41 

 

IX. ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES VIOLATED BY THE STATE   42                                  

 

 1. Evidence must be maintained                                                                          

  Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-2809      42 

 

 2. Law enforcement cannot disobey and/or refuse to do as a warrant  

  commands                                                                                                        

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-3920     44 

  

 3. False arrest                                                                                                       

   Arizona Revised Statutes §      45 

 

 4. Justification                                                                                                      

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-418     46 
 

 5. Kidnapping                                                                                                       

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-1304     47 

 

 6. Private person may make an arrest                                                                   

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-3884, 13-3889   56 

 

 7. Crime victims and/or suspects must be given medical assistance 

  when requested                                                                                              

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-3902     57 

  

8. Perjury committed by Detective Dalton                                                        

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 21-422     57 
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 9. Influencing a witness                                                                                    

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-2802     58 

 

 10. Filing a false document                                                                                 

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 39-161     59 

 

 11. Tampering with a public record; classification                                             

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2407     61 

 

 12. Obstructing a criminal investigation                                                             

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2409     61 

 

 13. Perjury by inconsistent statements                                                               

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2705     62 

 

 14. Tampering with a witness                                                                             

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2804     65 

 

 15. Refusal of Medical Examiner to conduct test                    

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 11-594(a)(2)    65 

 

 16. Decedent’s wife made several false statements to law enforcement 

  yet has not been charged accordingly                                                            

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-2907.01    66            

 

 17. Investigating Officers chose to Investigate a Subject and not the 

  Crime                                                                                                             

   Arizona Revised Statutes      67 

 

X. ARIZONA RULES OF EVIDENCE VIOLATED BY THE STATE  68 
 
 1. Prosecution cannot ignore these Rules to gain false conviction 
   Arizona Rules of Evidence Rule 102     68 

 

 2. Prosecution cannot use retreat as evidence of guilt                                        

   Arizona Rules of Evidence Rule 407     68 

 

 3. Mrs. Beasley’s testimony has changed repeatedly                                         

   Arizona Rules of Evidence Rule 613     69 

 

ADDITIONAL FACTS 
 

XI.        SELF-DEFENSE AND JUSTIFICATION PRECEDENTS    70  

  

XII.       ORVILLE THOMAS BEASLEY’S FELONIES     71                                                               

 

 1. D.U.I.          71 

 2. Endangerment         72 
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 3. Unlawful imprisonment and Kidnapping     74 

 4. Criminal trespass        74 

 5. Criminal damage        75 

 6. Resisting arrest        75 

 

XIII. JUSTIFICATION UNDER ARIZONA LAW     75 

 

XIV.    MEMORANDUM IN ACCORDANCE WITH D.C. v. HELLER   80 

 

 

XV.    SUMMARY          97 

 

XVI. CONCLUSION AND RECTUM ROGARE      98 

                                                 

It must first be noted that the following pages are prima facie evidence, by this court’s 

own record that this court is acting in similar fashion in numerous way to “The Star Chamber.” 

 
Faretta: the court further brought analogies to the Star Chamber, saying "the Star 
Chamber has, for centuries, symbolized disregard of basic individual rights.  The 
Star Chamber not merely allowed, but required, defendants to have counsel.  
[Counsel that worked for the Star Chamber.], as the Public Defender(s) obviously 
do in this case. 

 In this instant case: forcing counsel that is assisting in the prosecution of defendant, 

threatening defendant, destroying exculpatory evidence, violating rights, preventing defendant 

from speaking, and intimidating witnesses; allowing prosecutor(s) to break laws, disregard orders, 

and violate rules; allowing investigators to commit perjury, change witness statements with 

immunity; falsely imprisoning defendant by charging him with a crime that does not exist then 

torturing him into a fraudulent plea agreement, etc. 

 This court has in essence proved by its own actions, and according to its own record, 

that it is in fact, in almost every way, a modern day version of: 

             “THE STAR CHAMBER” 
 

This document is supported by the law of the case herein, the prior rulings of this Court herein, 

the docket of this case, each of which are incorporated herein by this reference as if fully set forth, 

and for each of which Notary asks this Court to take judicial notice thereof. This document is 

further supported the accompanying Memorandum of Points and Authorities.
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                                 MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
I. INTEREST OF AMICI CURAE 

 Terry I. Major is an interested party in this matter and enters this Amicus Curiæ Brief as a 

public officer whose duties require that he “shall give precedence to the rules of law over the 

dictates or expectations of any person or entity.”  The outcome of this case may adversely 

affect the body and the life and liberty of all persons in the State of Arizona if this court continues 

to prosecute this case after the State’s agents have violated so many Arizona Laws, Rules of Court 

and Federal and State protections for individuals and estoppels granted against government 

agencies and/or agents. 

 Currently the number of violations by the State agents has exceeded several dozen and is 

growing steadily in relationship to the continuances of this case.  

           Terry I. Major is also required by law as a public officer to notify the proper authorities of 

any and all crimes he believes have occurred. Accordingly, and pursuant to Federal Law:  

Terry I. Major hereby notifies Judge McMurdie that he believes numerous crimes may have been 

committed and is reporting said possible crimes pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 4 Misprision of felony: 

 

Whoever, having knowledge of the actual commission of a felony cognizable by 

a court of the United States, conceals and does not as soon as possible make 

known the same to some judge or other person in civil or military authority 

under the United States, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more 

than three years, or both.  

 

 It is now up to this court to report these crimes to the appropriate State and Federal 

authorities for further investigation. 

II. COMPLETE LIST OF REPRESENTED AMICI 

 In this instant case I, Terry I. Major, Notary Public, am the amici, yet ALL peoples of the 

State of Arizona do have an interest in the outcome of this case in that, if this court is allowed to 

commit so many violations of substantive rights and laws in one case, no person is safe from 

mischievous prosecution and/or false imprisonment by a prosecutor and/or forced to accept an 

unwanted counsel who does not act in the best interest of a defendant, thereby detracting from the 
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original intent of all the laws created to protect individuals from a government that uses the courts 

as a means of usurping rights guaranteed by our State and Federal Constitutions. 

III. SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION 

 It was said, when referring to the Amistad case in 1840, that to control the people you 

must control the courts.  Our laws are designed to protect the people as much from the 

government as they are from criminal acts committed by others.  If the courts are allowed to 

commit so many crimes in one case against one defendant no one will even be concerned about 

criminal acts by others inasmuch as our concern as a society will be how to protect ourselves from 

the crimes committed against us by the courts.  

IV. DISCUSSION 

 In lieu of an argument the Notary Public chooses to honorably supply this court with a list 

of Laws, Rules and Constitutional Amendments that this court and/or the State’s agents have 

violated to mischievously prosecute a man who is justified in law.  

 

Questionable conduct by State Agents as evidenced by the court 

record has not yet been addressed by the court. 

This is by no means a complete list of violations, nor is it intended to be construed as anything 

more than supplementary information to the later listed violations. 

 

 1. Prosecutor Charbel:  

                        See: Exhibit B for corresponding documentation 

 
  A. Charged Defendant with “filing a false document” when in fact said  

   document was entered into evidence in open court by Defendant’s attorney, 

   a fact which the Prosecutor did witness, as evidenced by the video of the  

   court proceeding. 

    

   i) Accordingly, is the court now prepared to arrest and imprison any  

    defendant when their attorney enters evidence into a case in open  

    court? 

 

  B. Committed perjury to Judge Baca to have a fraudulently issued warrant  

   against Defendant by claiming the I.R.S. had confiscated Defendant’s bond, 

   when in fact Prosecutor Charbel had direct prima facie evidence to the  

   contrary, resulting in Defendant being falsely arrested and falsely  

                                    imprisoned by Prosecutor Charbel. 
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  C. Chose to have a warrant issued instead of a Summons, without cause. 

 

  D. Refused to file criminal charges against decedent’s wife, including without 

   limits, kidnapping, even though decedent and decedent’s wife’s actions are 

   clearly defined by Arizona law as kidnapping. 

 

  E. Attempted to coerce a non-witness into filing charges against Defendant’s  

   primary witness so the State could arrest said witness and coerce her into  

   testifying against Defendant. 

 

 2. Detective Dalton: 

                        See: Exhibit A, D, F, H, L for corresponding documentation 
 

  A. Committed perjury to two (2) grand juries, as evidenced by the grand jury  

   records. 

 

   B. Refused to do as ordered by a warrant, thus destroying exculpatory  

   evidence that proved conclusively that decedent was inside Defendant’s  

   vehicle. 

   

C. Refused medical attention to an injured suspect while integrating   

  suspect. 

 

  D. Destroyed original witness statement notes made by other police officers. 

 

 3. Judge McMurdie: 

                        See: Exhibit C, I, J, L, M, N, O, P, Q, R, S, T for corresponding documentation 

 

  A. Has refused to allow Defendant to refuse counsel; see: Faretta v.   

   California. 

 

   B. Allowed a Public Defender to withdraw without another attorney being  

   ready for trial. 

 

  C. Ordered Defendant to not file motions. 

                                      

  D. The judge has made rulings based on his opinion and without supporting  

   the rulings with fact and law. 

 

 4. Medical Examiner: 

                        See: Complete autopsy report 
 

  A. Did not test the 900ml of fluid in the decedent’s stomach and bladder. 

 

  B. Did not test decedent’s hair for a history of acid and L.S.D. use even though 

   decedent was an admitted frequent user of such illegal drugs. 
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  C. Did not test decedent for steroids even though decedent may have been in  

   possession of a steroid inhaler at the time of his death. 

 

 5. Public Defender John Johnson: 

                        See: Exhibit C, G, I, L, M, N, O, Q, R, S, T for corresponding documentation 

 

  A. Stated in open court he was not ready to move forward with the trial. 

   

                         B. Put in motions, including without limitations, continuances against  

   Defendant’s wishes. 

 

  C. Has attempted to have Defendant ruled incompetent even though two  

   court-appointed professionals have notified the court Defendant is   

   competent in their opinions. 

 

  D. Has never entered a notice of appearance as required by Arizona Law and  

   previous decisions of this court in this case. 

 

 6. Public Defender Tyler Harrison: 

                        See: Exhibit A, M, T for corresponding documentation 

 

  A. Withdrew from the case right before trial. 

 

  B. Never requested a hair test even though he informed Defendant on three (3) 

   occasions he did. 

   

C. Never entered a notice of appearance as required by Arizona Law and  

  previous decisions of this court in this case. 

 

 7. Judge Holding: 

                        See: Transcripts from hearing on October 29, 2009 
 

  A. Ordered Defendant to not speak upon threat that Defendant would be  

   arrested if he did speak. 

                                     

  B. Did not immediately order that the matter be set for trial upon notification  

   by the two court-appointed professionals that Defendant is competent. 

 

  C. The judge has made rulings based on his opinion and without supporting  

   the rulings with fact and law. 

 

 8. Prosecutor Julis Warzynski: 

                        See: Transcripts from hearing on October 29, 2009 
  A. Attempted to have an attorney monitoring the court proceedings on behalf 

   of himself arrested in court, based on the fraudulent claim that said  

   attorney threatened the victims in a court room. This appears to be nothing 

              more than an attempt to intimidate any attorney from witnessing the crimes  

   committed against Defendant by the court and its officers. 
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V. INTRODUCTION 

 This case has previously been settled by Judge Steinle.  Judge Stienle signed an order 

releasing Defendant from ALL liability.  Said order and record was then sealed by the court yet 

said order was never withdrawn and still stands.  Yet the court then charged Defendant with the 

same crime again as though the court was continuing without the order and falsely imprisoned 

Defendant for entering the documents Stienle agreed with and ordered pursuant to, even though 

the court was well aware it was Defendant’s attorney’s that gave said documents to the court. 

 
United States Constitution Article V: 
 
No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, 
unless on presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising in 
the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in actual service in time of War 
or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same offense to be twice 
put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be 
a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without 
due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without 
just compensation. 
 
Arizona Constitution Article II § 10.  Self-incrimination; double jeopardy 
No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against 
himself, or be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.  

 
VI. FACTS AND LAW 

 John C. Stuart and/or Defendant do NOT have an attorney as no attorney is allowed by 

Law to act in the “Best Interest” of John C. Stuart and/or Defendant: Corpus Juris Secundum "The 

Body of Law" or Legal encyclopedia, Volume 7, Section 4: as quoted: 

 
"Attorney & client: An Attorney's "first" duty is to the Courts (1st) and the 
public (2nd) and not to the client (3rd), and wherever the duties to an attorney's 
client "conflict" with those interests that he/she owes his allegiance to, as an 
officer of the court in the administration of justice, the former must yield to the 
latter." 

 John C. Stuart and/or Defendant also does NOT have an attorney as no attorney is allowed 

by Arizona Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 6.3(a), and an Order by a previous judge in this 

matter, to be involved with this case in ANY manner if said attorney did not enter a Notice of 

Appearance and as of this date no attorney has entered a Notice of appearance, including without 

limits, Public Defender John Johnson, who is also in violation of his contract with the STATE 

BAR OF ARIZONA. 
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 Rule 6.3(a) Duties of counsel: (a) Notice of Appearance. At his or her first       

appearance in any court on behalf of a defendant, an attorney, whether 

privately retained or appointed by the court, shall file a notice of 

appearance on a form provided by the clerk of the court. (Emphasis 

added) 

 

VII. SPECIFIC VIOLATIONS OF THE:  

  ARIZONA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 

  ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES 

  ARIZONA RULES OF EVIDENCE 

  BY THE STATE AND/OR ITS AGENTS 

 1. Prosecutor Susie Charbel, Detective Dalton, Detective Shearer, Public Defender 

Tyler Harrison, Public Defender John Johnson, Judge Paul McMurdie, ALL agents of the State of 

Arizona, Maricopa County, have violated numerous Rules as set forth in the Arizona Rules of 

Criminal Procedure, and/or Arizona Rules of Evidence, and/or Laws as set forth in the Arizona 

Revised Statutes, and/or the Arizona Constitution, and/or the United States Constitution and Bill 

of Rights.  These violations include, but are not limited to: 

 
  A. Arizona Rules of Criminal Procedure: 1.1, 1.2, 3.1(b), 3.1(c), 6.1(c), 6.3(a), 

   6.3(c), 8.1(d), 8.2(a), 8.4, 8.5(b), 8.6, 11.2(a), 11.4(a) & (b), 12.6, 15.1,  

   15.6, 35.1, 39, and others. 

 

  B. Arizona Revised Statute: §§ 13-303, 13-404, 13-405, 13-406, 13-407, 13- 

   407, 13-411, 13-412, 13-418, 13-1304, 13-2407, 13-2409, 13-2705, 13- 

   2802, 13-2804, 13-2809, 13-2907.01, 13-3884, 13-3889, 13-3902, 13-3920, 

   13-4401, 21-422, 39-161, 11- 594(a)(2), and others. 

 

  C. Arizona Rules of Evidence: 102, 407, 613, and possibly; 401, 501, 602,  

   609, 1101, and others. 

 

  D. United States Constitution Amendments: 6, 10, 14, and others. 

 
  E. Arizona Constitution Article II §§ 2, 4, 10, 11, 13, (23 possibly), 24, and  

   others. 

 

 If this court finds that any of the aforementioned Laws, Rules and/or Codes was not 

violated, the remaining claims of violations still stand as violated unless they are specifically 

proved as not being violated with specific and prima facie evidence. Each violation stands 

separately and on its own accord. 
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 2. Combined, the State’s agents have accumulated over fifty (50) violations of Rules, 

Laws and/or Codes. Several of which require the court to dismiss this case with prejudice, at least 

one even without Defendant’s request. Precedents have established that ONLY one of the 

aforementioned violations is ALL that is required to mandate that the court dismiss this case with 

prejudice. 

 Defendant and/or his Authorized Representative has made several attempts, some obscure, 

to move this court to act in accordance with the Law and Rules, to no avail what so ever. In fact, 

this court blatantly refuses to follow the Laws and Rules and has numerous times resorted to 

threats of further false imprisonment if Defendant and/or his Authorized Representative to prevent 

further attempts by Defendant and/or his Authorized Representative to move this court to abide by 

ANY Rules and/or Laws.  

 The first Rule of Arizona courts states: “... to protect the fundamental rights of the 

individual...”  Such has not, is not, and doesn’t appear will ever be the objective of this court.  The 

court and the State’s agents have proven conclusively they have no regard for the Rules, the Law 

and the rights of Defendant in this matter. 

 The court and its officers now need to inform the public and Defendant in this matter 

EXACTLY how many Laws and Rules the court is willing to violate in order to falsely convict a 

man they know is innocent, and/or at least justified by law. 

 Defendant has tried every lawful remedy to get the court to follow the Rules of Criminal 

Procedure, the Laws of Arizona, and the State and Federal Constitutions and NOTHING seems to 

convince the court that it is required to follow any Rule or Law, Constitutional or otherwise. 

Neither the Prosecutor, the Detectives, the Public Defenders, or even the Judge has ever tried to 

stay within the confines of the Law or Rules. 

 The Detective has committed numerous acts of perjury, even to two (2) grand juries, 

destroyed evidence, re-interviewed witnesses trying to get them to change their testimony, altered 

statements written by other police officers and then destroyed the originals.  

 The Prosecutor has committed perjury to a judge to issue a fraudulent warrant, mislead 

two (2) grand juries, attempted to get someone to charge one of the witnesses with a crime so she 
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could coerce the witness into changing her testimony or punish her for not assisting the 

prosecution, charged Defendant with a crime she personally witnessed someone else commit, if it 

even was truly a crime, and failed to respond to motions and other documents after over nine (9) 

months.  Charbel purposely prevented Defendant from appearing before the grand jury by moving 

the schedule ahead a day when she received written notice that Defendant requested to appear and 

would be ready on the scheduled date.  

 The Prosecutor has also, without just cause, granted decedent’s wife, Mrs. Beasley undue 

rights as a “victim” to prevent the defense from interrogating Mrs. Beasley.  Yet pursuant to 

Arizona Law, Mrs. Beasley cannot be a victim as she is an accessory to kidnapping and attempted 

murder and is in fact liable under the “felony murder rule.” 

 The Public Defender(s) never filed notices of appearances, lied to Defendant and/or his 

Authorized Representative, refused to assist Defendant, assisted the prosecution to the detriment 

of Defendant’s case and NEVER acted in any way in the best interest of Defendant. 

 The Judge has refused to acknowledge Defendant and/or his Authorized Representative; 

allowed continuances without cause and/or right even after Defendant and/or his Authorized 

Representative objected to such; allowed Public Defenders to act as Defendant’s counsel without 

having entered notices of appearances even after another judge had ordered that NO ATTORNEY 

will be allowed without a notice of appearance, threatened Defendant with jail if Defendant 

asserted his rights, and has failed to rule on motions by Defendant and/or his Authorized 

Representative after over nine (9) months. 

 The previous listed facts are a matter of the court’s record either by motions to the court 

and/or statements made in open court. The court cannot therefore deny the existence and/or 

accuracy of the allegations as the court is well aware of all of the crimes committed by the 

aforementioned parties. Yet the court is continuing as if the criminal acts did not occur or simply 

do not matter since they were committed under color of law by officers of the court.  

 It does not appear there is any possible way Defendant can receive a fair and impartial trial 

in this court, nor will it ever appear to any reasonable person the court is fair and impartial in this 

matter.  Even one violation is enough to dismiss a case with prejudice. It appears this court is 
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attempting to achieve some kind of record for the most Rules and Laws broken by a single court 

on a single matter.  

 Defendant has already spent eight (8) months in jail for the four-month sentence of the 

heretofore unknown and never previously prosecuted crime of a Defendant’s attorney entering 

evidence into a court case, a “so called crime” that occurred in open court which the Prosecutor 

witnessed Defendant’s attorney’s commit.  The Court then proceeded to seal the documents and 

they cannot now be used as evidence. 

 The previous statements are all true and factual and can be verified by this court’s record. 

Such statements would cause any reasonable man to ask the following questions that this court 

should be required to answer: 

� Why would the court seal documents that proved a crime? 

� How many rules must the court break for a dismissal? 

� How many crimes must court officers commit for a dismissal? 

� How much exculpatory evidence must be destroyed for a dismissal? 

� How many times can a trial be continued fraudulently before a dismissal? 

� How many fraudulent warrants can be issued on one man before a dismissal? 

� If the court and officers of the court are no longer required to follow the Rules of 

Court, the Laws of Arizona, and the Constitutions, exactly why does this court 

even still exist?  

� Is it time that this court just come out and say “if you are not an officer of this court 

we are going to imprison you and take all of your property?” 

 It appears as though that is what is happening in this case as Defendant has not violated 

any Rules of Court, nor any Laws, and has been maliciously prosecuted for almost two (2) years 

without cause and falsely imprisoned for eight (8) months. 

 It is often said by defense attorneys “you can tell how innocent the prosecutor thinks a 

man is by how often the court breaks the Rules.” If there is any truth to that quote, then it is 

obvious this court is sure Defendant is innocent.  
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Example of how extremely prejudicial 

and ridiculous this case has become: 

 During the most recent hearing, a Rule 11 Hearing on October 22, 2009, Judge Holding 

told Defendant, “come up here and stand next to your attorney and be quiet or that officer back 

there will arrest you.”  Defendant then stated he would do as the judge ordered “under duress from 

the threats and coercion by the judge, vi et armis.”  Defendant and/or Defendant’s Authorized 

Representative has several times, in writing and in open court, advised the court he did not have 

nor want a public defender, yet the court has repeatedly ignored Defendant’s and/or Defendant’s 

Authorized Representative’s statements. 

 This is another example of a judge in this matter “practicing law from the bench” and 

forcing Defendant under threat to allow the court to violate Defendant’s substantive rights or 

being falsely imprisoned again.  Judge McMurdie has repeatedly threatened Defendant, in 

numerous hearings, to accept what the court has unlawfully ordered or be arrested. 

 Both public defenders in this case have done great and irreparable harm to Defendant’s 

case.  Neither public defender has been of any benefit to Defendant’s case in any way.  

 Currently, public defender John Johnson is acting as the Prosecutor’s primary assistant to 

have Defendant deemed incompetent so the State will be able to have a bench trial by a judge that 

has previously broken several Laws and Rules of court, even imprisoned Defendant for eight (8) 

months on a crime that does not exist, and even if it did the sentence was only four (4) months.  

 Defendant would not be in Rule 11 court if the court had followed the Law and Rules of 

Court. This egregious violation has proved this court is not even slightly interested in justice 

and/or protecting Defendant’s substantive rights and that this court is willing to break any and 

every Rule and Law to gain a false conviction. No court may force Defendant to have counsel, 

especially when the counsel is obviously working against Defendant and for the Prosecutor. 

Accordingly, the Public Defenders assigned to this case cannot be Defendant’s attorney, and 

pursuant to the court’s record are not Defendant’s attorney, therefore the Rule 11 Ordered by the 

judge is invalid as are ALL continuations accepted and/or requested by the Public Defenders. See: 

Farreta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). 
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 As it stands now, Defendant has not been allowed to conduct his own defense, has been 

told if he talks in court he will be arrested and has been informed, not personally but via motion in 

the docket, that the court will not accept any of his motions and that the court has stricken ALL of 

his previous motions. 

 In essence, the court has violated so many of Defendant’s substantive rights so the court 

can force a Public Defender to destroy Defendant’s case while unlawfully acting as Defendant’s 

attorney. 

 

Example of how Public Defender 

is destroying Defendant’s case. 

 The Rule 11 was never properly motioned by the court and the Public Defender should 

have immediately objected.  Even after two court-ordered evaluators stated Defendant was 

competent, the Public Defender still attempted to have Defendant ruled incompetent by requesting 

an evidentiary hearing. 

 This is not being done in any way for Defendant’s benefit.  The obvious goal of the Public 

Defender, who is in reality just another of the Prosecutor’s assistants, is to have Defendant ruled 

incompetent so the Public Defender can request a bench trial in front of a judge that will 

obviously convict Defendant for anything, with or without evidence, even when said judge knows 

Defendant is innocent and/or justified under Arizona Law. 

Example of Law being used against Defendant and 

the same Law being ignored to benefit the State 

 Prosecutor Charbel witnessed Defendant’s attorney hand documents to Judge Stienle’s 

clerk in open court, yet charged Defendant with violating A.R.S. § 39-161 for said documents 

being entered into the court record.  If the State has the ability to charge a defendant with a crime 

they witness Defendant’s attorney commit and then the State’s attorney and detective commits the 

same violation to again harm Defendant and are not charged, there is no longer any use for this 

court or the law, if they do not apply equally to all people they are not Laws and Rules, they are 

simply a modern form of chains and whips used to beat the non-government employee slaves 

with.  
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 Ergo, any time a prosecutor enters a “false and/or forged” check into evidence against a 

forger the prosecutor that enters said check into evidence MUST be charged with a violation of 

A.R.S. § 39-161. 

Accordingly, when Prosecutor Charbel allowed Detective Dalton to enter into 

the record “falsified” witness statements, this is prima facie evidence Charbel 

and Dalton have committed the same “crime”  Charbel falsely imprisoned 

Defendant for Defendant’s attorney committing, yet according to this court 

Charbel and Dalton can commit the same crimes with impunity that they put 

other people in prison for, a violation of Defendant’s substantive rights, the 

Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, and Article II § 13 of the Arizona Constitution. 

 
 Arizona Constitution Article II Section 13. No law shall be enacted granting to 

any citizen, class of citizens, or corporation other than municipal, privileges or 

immunities which, upon the same terms, shall not equally belong to all citizens or 

corporations. 

 3. The Arizona legislature, the “Lawmakers,” wrote legislation, and the Governor 

then signed into Law in April 2006, that legislation now known as A.R.S. § 13-418.  This Law 

made ANY homicide that occurs while a criminal is attacking a person in their own home and/or 

vehicle “justifiable.”  The intent of this Law was to prevent the courts from sending innocent 

people to prison for simply protecting themselves, as been the frequent case since the Law was 

changed in 1997.  This new Law, similar to the Law previous to 1997, REQUIRES the State to 

consider defendants “innocent until proven guilty” in cases of self-defense.  Every action of the 

State has been to purposely avoid and disavow this new Law, even to the extent of re-writing 

witness statements and destroying evidence to prevent Defendant from invoking the protection 

guaranteed by this Law.  

 4. The following is a list of criminal acts the State’s agents have committed for the 

purpose of disavowing, and setting precedent to disavow this Law in the future, a law designed to 

protect people from criminal(s) that attack them.  It seems the only aspect the Legislatures failed 
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to address was how to protect us from the criminals paid with public funds to protect the other 

criminals. This list is not intended as a complete list.  

 

 The court is well aware, as proven by its own admissions and/or evidence, that:  

 

 A. Defendant was attacked in his own vehicle by a man committing  

  multiple felonies; (kidnapping pursuant to A.R.S. § 13-1304) and 

 B. The attacker had a B.A.C. of .19, .01 below felony drunk driving,  

  which the attacker would have been in a matter of minutes since the 

  attacker still had 900ml of alcohol inside him; (drunk driving and  

  felony assault); and 

 C. Defendant was “performing a political function” when attacked;  

  and 

 D. Defendant NEVER left his vehicle during the attack; and 

 E. Defendant attempted several times to “retreat” from the assault; and 

 F. Attacker’s wife was as drunk as the attacker and as such was  

  complicit in the felonies, including without limits, the attack on,  

  and interference with, a man “performing a political function,”  

  (A.R.S. § 13-1304); and 

 G. The gun used in the shooting was “ripped” out of its holster and not 

  “drawn out” as the holster strap was torn off of the holster and not  

  just opened; and 

 H. Subsequent to the attacker’s death and before the Defendant  

  retreated, the attacker’s wife also attacked Defendant; and 

 I. The attacker had in his possession a “steroid inhaler”; and 

 J. The attacker was also committing the act of kidnapping during the  

  attack; (A.R.S. § 13-1304) and 

 K. Detective Dalton knowingly, willingly, and purposefully, with  

  malice aforethought, committed perjury to two (2) grand juries, as  

  evidenced by the witness statements compared to Dalton’s grand  

  jury testimony; (A.R.S. § 21-422); and 

 L. Prosecutor Charbel knowingly, willingly, and purposefully, with  

  malice aforethought, committed perjury to Judge Baca, as   

  evidenced by the second warrant issued in this case. (A.R.S. § 21- 

  422) 

 The court must admit that the evidence Detective Dalton destroyed, and/or altered,  

and/or refused to collect pursuant to a lawfully issued warrant, and/or standard practices, proved 

conclusively that: 

  A. Defendant was sober; and 

  B. Defendant was injured and temporarily partially blinded by the attacker;  

   and 

  C. No other parties were injured strictly due to Defendant retreating when such 

   retreat became possible; and 
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  D. Detective Dalton changed the testimony of several witnesses while entering 

   said statements into the court’s and/or police department’s computer record; 

   (a violation of A.R.S. § 39-161); and 

E. The attacker was shot while almost on top of Defendant AND partially                

inside of Defendant’s vehicle. 

 The court must presume that Detective Dalton is guilty of multiple felonies for Dalton’s 

purposeful destruction, and/or alteration, and/or refusal to collect, evidence: 

 

  A. See: Bouvier’s Law Dictionary of 1856 GUILT, crim. law.  

   In general everyone is presumed innocent until guilt has been proved;  

   but in some cases the presumption of guilt overthrows that of 

   innocence; as, for example, where a party destroys evidence to which  
   the opposite party is entitled. (Emphasis added) 

 

 The court is also well aware of prosecution tricks and why they do them: 

 

  A. Showing witnesses inaccurate notes to cause witnesses to forget certain  

   aspects and/or question their memories and/or alter their memory; and 

  B. The standard practice of going to court quickly when the accused is guilty  

   so the witnesses memories are fresh, yet delaying trial thru any means  

   necessary so witnesses memories can be altered by the investigators giving 

   them false information when the prosecution is sure the accused is   

   innocent; and 

  C. The court is familiar with the standard practice of prosecutors delaying trial 

   as long as possible when they know the accused is innocent, and this trial  

   has been delayed numerous times without cause. The court has even  

   resorted to violating several Rules of court just to delay the trial as long as  

   possible; and 

  D. The latest trick, and perhaps the most heinous of all prosecution tricks, is to 

   attempt to deem Defendant incompetent so the court can prevent Defendant 

   from refusing counsel and/or testifying and/or the court using the Public  

   Defender to request a bench trial to prevent a jury from acquitting a man  

   the court knows is innocent. 

 

 5. The decedent and/or the decedent’s wife in this matter cannot by law be considered 

“victims” as defined in Article II, section 2.1 of the Arizona Constitution, as the decedent was 

committing several felonies and the decedent’s wife was a willing accomplice and/or accessory to 

all said felonies. The decedent and/or his wife were committing the following crimes that lead to 

the death of the decedent.  

 

Arizona Revised Statute: §§ 28-1382, 13-1201, 13-1202,13-1203,13-1204,13-

1301, 13-1303, 13-1304, 13-1504, 13-1602, 13-2508,  28-1381, and others. 

 



 

AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF / NOTICE 18 U.S.C. § 4 / CR2008-106594-001  Pages 100 plus exhibits 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

21 

 If this court finds that any of the aforementioned Laws, Rules and/or Codes was not 

violated, the remaining claims of violations still stand unless they are specifically proved as not 

being violated with specific and prima facie evidence. Each violation stands separately and on its 

own accord. 

 

VIII. ARIZONA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE VIOLATED BY THE STATE 
 

 1. The Court is required to ensure the Rules are followed by ALL parties, as the 

  mission of the court is to obtain justice, not convictions. 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 1.1 and 1.2 
   (The only remedy for this violation is dismissal with prejudice) 

  Rule 1.1.  Scope 

 These rules shall govern the procedure in all criminal proceedings in all courts  

 within the State of Arizona except that the Rules of Procedure in Traffic Cases    

            shall continue to apply. (Emphasis added) 

 

  A. Rule 1.2. Purpose and Construction 

 These rules are intended to provide for the just, speedy determination of 
 every criminal proceeding.  They shall be construed to secure simplicity in 
 procedure, fairness in administration, the elimination of unnecessary delay 
 and expense, and to protect the fundamental rights of the individual 
 while preserving the public welfare. (Emphasis added) 

  A. The following is a list of some of the obvious violations of Rule 1.1 and 1.2 

and the corresponding Rule.  This is not a complete list, and ALL violations are a matter of court 

record.  The court is well aware of ALL of these violations and has chosen to ignore such in a 

blatant attempt to prosecute an obviously innocent man. 

  B. The court is currently attempting to prevent Defendant from being  in 

charge of his own defense and is allowing a Public Defender to “throw” Defendant’s case, as is 

evidenced by the fact the Public Defender has refused to protect Defendant in any way or object to 

anything the court has done to harm Defendant’s case.  In fact, the Public Defender has worked 

against the best interest and desires of Defendant in every hearing so far, and appears to be more 

of a prosecutor’s assistant than a Public Defender. 

  C. The court is currently attempting to prevent Defendant from having a jury 

trial so as to falsely convict Defendant by the decision of a single judge.  This is the same Judge 
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that sentenced Defendant to jail for Defendant’s attorney’s  entering exculpatory evidence into 

this same case.  

Annotated 

 

Each and every part of the criminal rules must be construed in the light of and in connection with 

each and every other rule as if the individual rules in fact constituted a single part. State v. 

Treadway, (1960) 88 Ariz. 420, 357 P.2d 157. 

 

Construction and interpretation of a court rule is resorted to only if the rule is not clear on its face. 

Anagnostos v. Truman, (App. Div.2 1975) 25 Ariz.App. 190, 541 P.2d 1174. 

 

Each constitutional rule of criminal procedure has distinct function, and individual history and 

precedent, and a separate impact on administration of justice. State v. Smith, (1975) 112 Ariz. 321, 

541 P.2d 918. 

 

Effect of constitutional rule of criminal procedure on integrity of fact-finding process is matter of 

degree and depends to greatest extent on what other safeguards protect integrity of process. State 

v. Smith  (1975) 112 Ariz. 321, 541 P.2d 918.  

 

Rules of criminal procedure are designed to protect fundamental rights of individual and 

promote simplicity in procedure while eliminating delay and expense. State v. Gomez  

(App. Div.2 1976) 27 Ariz.App. 248, 553 P.2d 1233.  

  

2. Speedy trial and due process rights 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 8 
   (The only remedy for this violation is dismissal with prejudice pursuant to  

   SCOTUS decisions) 

  Rule 8.1. Priorities in scheduling criminal cases 

  d. Duty of Defense Counsel.  The defendant's counsel shall advise the 
   court of the impending expiration of time limits in the defendant's  
   case. Failure to do so may result in sanctions and should be   
   considered by the court in determining whether to dismiss an action 
   with prejudice pursuant to Rule 8.6. 
  e. Extraordinary Cases.  Within twenty-five days after the   
   arraignment in Superior Court either party may apply in writing to  
   the court for a hearing to establish extraordinary circumstances  
   requiring the suspension of Rule 8 in a particular case. Within five  
   days of the receipt of the application the court shall hold the hearing 
   and make findings of fact. The findings shall be immediately  
   transmitted to the Chief Justice who may approve or decline to  
   approve them. Upon approval of the findings by the Chief Justice,  
   they shall be returned to the trial court where upon motion of either 
   party the trial court may suspend the provisions of Rule 8 and reset 
   the trial date for a time certain. 
 
 The court in this case cannot suspend Rule 8: 
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  A. Rule 8.1(d) ONLY applies to counsel and not to Defendant.  
 
  B. Rule 8.1(e) refers to either party and not just to counsel. 
 
  C. No exceptional circumstance has ever been listed and the time allowed to  
  do so has passed. 
 
  Rule 8.2.  Time limits 
 
  a. General.  Subject to the provisions of Rule 8.4, every person against whom 
   an indictment, information or complaint is filed shall be tried by the court  
   having  jurisdiction of the offense within the following time periods: 
   (1) Defendants in Custody. 150 days from arraignment if the person is  
    held in custody, except as provided in subsection (a), paragraph (3) 
    of this section. 
   (2) Defendants Released From Custody.  180 days from arraignment if 
    the person is released under Rule 7, except as provided in   
    subsection (a), paragraph (3) of this section. 
 
  d. Extension of Time Limits.  These time limits may be extended pursuant to 
   Rule 8.5. 
 
  e. Trial Dates. In all superior court cases except those in which Rule 8 has  
   been suspended pursuant to Rule 8.1(e), the court shall, either at the time of 
   arraignment in superior court or at a pretrial conference, set a trial date for a 
   time certain. 
 
 All time limits in Rule 8.2 have been passed: 

  Defendant has an absolute right to a speedy trial pursuant Rule 8.2(a)(1-3); such 

requirements are without demand of Defendant: within (180) days of arrest if Defendant was not 

in custody, one hundred fifty days (150) if in custody, two hundred seventy days (270) if the case 

was deemed complex.  

Rule 8.4.  Excluded periods 

 The following periods shall be excluded from the computation of the time limits set 

forth in Rules 8.2 and 8.3: 

  A. Delays occasioned by or on behalf of the defendant, including, but  
   not limited to, delays caused by an examination and hearing to  
   determine competency or mental retardation, the defendant's absence 
   or incompetence, or his or her inability to be arrested or taken into  
   custody in Arizona. 

  B. Delays resulting from a remand for new probable cause   
   determination under Rules 5.5 or 12.9. 

  C. Delays necessitated by congestion of the trial calendar, but only  
   when the congestion is attributable to extraordinary circumstances, 
   in which case the presiding judge shall promptly apply to the Chief 
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   Justice of the Arizona Supreme Court for suspension of any of the  
   Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

  D. Delays resulting from continuances in accordance with Rule 8.5, but 
   only for the time periods prescribed therein. 
 
 None of the requisites for Rule 8.4 excluded periods have been met in this case. 
 

The court has lost the right to extend the “last day” past April 26, 2009, by not: 

              “. . . apply(ing) to the Chief Justice of the Arizona Supreme Court for suspension”   

              which did not occur in this instant matter. 

  The continuance in this matter was not necessary and did not serve in the interest 

of justice; and the court did not state the specific reason for the continuance on the record. If in 

fact the court did state the reason, said statement was moot as Defendant was not represented by 

an attorney of record. 

  Rule 8.5(b) 

 
A continuance may be granted only for so long as is necessary to 

serve the interests of justice.  In ruling on a motion for continuance, the 

court shall consider the rights of the defendant and any victim to a 

speedy disposition of the case. If a continuance is granted, the court shall 

state the specific reasons for the continuance on the record.” (Emphasis 

added) 

 

  No party has stated a valid reason for the last few continuances.  

 

A. The continuance due to Harrison’s withdrawal is invalid due  

  to Harrison’s withdrawal being a violation of 6.3(c); 

B. The continuance due to Johnson not being ready is invalid   

  due to Johnson not being ready is a violation of 6.3(c); 

C. The continuances due to the Rule 11 Evaluation is invalid   

  due to the Rule 11 Evaluation being invalid since the court   

  did not state in a motion why it requested the Rule 11   

  Evaluation, a violation of Rule 11.2(a); 

D. All continuations by the public defenders are invalid due to  

  the public defenders not being attorney of record, a violation  

  of 6.3(a), therefore the court could not accept their    

  continuation(s); 

E. All continuations in 2009 are invalid as Defendant was sui   

  juris and never agreed to any continuations and even   

  attempted to make such clear in open court yet the judge   

  refused to hear Defendant and instead chose to violate   

  several Rules of Criminal Procedure by ONLY hearing the   

  non-attorney of record public defenders. 
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  The court NEVER considered Defendant’s right when ordering the continuances, 

in fact, the court refused to even hear Defendant even though Defendant was sui juris pursuant to 

A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 6, the 6
th

 Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and other State and Federal 

laws and precedents. 

 

 Rule 8.6 Violations. 

 

 If the court determines after considering the exclusions of Rule 8.4, that a 

time limit established by Rules 8.2(a), 8.2(b), 8.2(c), 8.2(d), 8.3(a), 

8.3(b)(2), or 8.3(b)(3) has been violated, it shall on motion of the 

defendant, or on its own initiative, dismiss the prosecution with or without 

prejudice. (Emphasis added) 

 

Annotated 

 
Rules Crim. Proc., Rule 8.1 et seq., governing speedy trial rights generally does not require 

defendant to make any demand to preserve rights. State v. Tucker, (1982) 133 Ariz. 304, 651 P.2d 

359. (Emphasis added). 

 

Prohibition in this rule against extension of speedy trial limits by stipulation or waiver applies 

only to a voluntary waiver of the 150-day speedy trial time limit in an attempt to extend the trial 

date, not to a case where defendant remains silent and lets time expire. State v. Guerrero  (1989) 

159 Ariz. 568, 769 P.2d 1014 

 
SCOTUS has ruled the ONLY remedy for the Defendant’s due process right of a speedy 

trial violation is dismissal with prejudice.   
 
  A. Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647: “. . . the accusation itself did indeed 
   cause harm to the defendant.  The proper rule to be derived from the case is 
   that if an accusation period is unconstitutionally long under the Sixth  
   Amendment, the indictment should automatically laps.”  Dismissal with  
   prejudice is "the only  possible remedy" for speedy trial clause violation.  
 
  B. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972); and Strunk v. United States, 412  
   U.S. 434 (1973), "the only possible remedy" for speedy trial clause  
   violations.  It is indeed a precisely apt remedy where a trial itself would be 
   incurably unfair, because of the government's own conduct during the  
   accusation period.  Dismissal without prejudice would still permit the  
   prosecutor to reindict later, and would do nothing to prevent further  
   prosecutorial violations of Defendants due process rights. 
 
  C. Because dismissal with prejudice has been held by SCOTUS to be the only 
   appropriate remedy for speedy trial clause violations, courts have opted for 
   a rather loose, multi-factor test to assess speed.  Accordingly, in 1974,  
   Congress responded to this loose judicial regime with the Speedy Trial Act, 
   18 USC §§ 3161–3174, providing a tighter, fixed schedule regulating the  
   accusation period. 
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  D. United States v. Goeltz, 513 F. 2d 193, 197, (10th cir. 1975) and United  
   States v. Lam, 251 F. 3d 852 (9th Cir. 2001).  To the extent that the  
   Defendant's counsel waived time or had Defendant request continuances.  
   This would not be attributed to Defendant, due to counsel's actions  
   contradicting the best interest of Defendant, regardless of Defendant  
   being bound by counsel's actions, defense continuances don't excuse  
   lengthy delays in the disposition of a case. (Emphasis added) 
 
   i) The Court should note that Defendant did not agree to    

                                                 waive  time and the public defender that did agree was  

                                                 NOT Defendant’s attorney of record. 

 
SCOTUS has recognized that society at large also has its own legitimate interests in the prompt 

resolution of criminal accusations.  But the Constitution does not give a defendant a general right 

to an "unspeedy" trial — unlike, for example, the Sixth Amendment right of counsel, which is 

accompanied by a general right not to have counsel. Farretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806. 

 

In cases where it is less than clear that a trial would itself be unfair, the court is to rely on the due 

process rule of In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970), requiring the government prove guilt beyond a 

reasonable doubt in criminal cases. 

 

 a) Such unreasonable delay by the prosecutor's office caused key   

  evidence to be lost; including without limitations; i) witnesses   

  memories; and ii) evidence in and on vehicle; and iii) Defendant’s   

  clothing. 

 

Purpose of Criminal Rule 8 is to insure that a criminal defendant is not forgotten while the orderly 

administration of justice swirls around him on all sides but leaves him untouched. State v. 

Ferguson, (1978) 120 Ariz. 345, 586 P.2d 190. 

 

Right to criminal trial within time prescribed was extended to person on bail on same terms and 

conditions as it was to one in prison. State v. Carrillo  (1932) 41 Ariz. 170, 16 P.2d 965. 

 

The county attorney has the primary responsibility in seeing that the speedy trial requirements set 

forth in Const. Art. 2, §§ 11 and 24, and U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6 are met, and it is no defense 

that the defendant asked for some of the delays and acquiesced in others.  State v. Branni, (1973) 

109 Ariz. 525, 514 P.2d 446. 

 

Speedy trial right under this rule is more restrictive of state than U.S.C.A. Const., Amend. 6 and 

does not require analysis espoused by Barker v. Wingo.  State v. Tucker, (1982) 133 Ariz. 304, 

651 P.2d 359. 

 

Right to a speedy trial afforded by rule is more strict than that provided by the Federal 

constitution.  State v. Wassenaar,  (App. Div.1 2007) 215 Ariz. 565, 161 P.3d 608.  The right to a 

speedy trial is both constitutional and statutory.  Snyder v. Donato  (App. Div.1 2005) 211 Ariz. 

117, 118 P.3d 632. 

 

Speedy trial rule is more restrictive than constitutional right to speedy trial.  State v. Vasko (App. 

Div.1 1998) 193 Ariz. 142, 971 P.2d 189 
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Where there are no intervening delays between event that triggers speedy trial rights and 

expiration of time limit, accused need not demand compliance with time limits.  State v. Tucker, 

(1982) 133 Ariz. 304, 651 P.2d 359 

 

Under provision of this rule that a defendant must be tried within 150 days of his arrest or service 

of summons and also within 120 days of his initial appearance or within 90 days of his 

arraignment, a trial within the shorter of the two latter dates is mandated when the defendant is in 

custody. State v. Rose, (1978) 121 Ariz. 131, 589 P.2d 5 

 

Post-remand trial must be treated as “new trial” within meaning of speedy trial rule, regardless of 

whether matter had previously gone to judgment in superior court or proceeding had reached stage 

from which it could be presumed that State had already assembled its evidence; thus, since retrial 

of defendant after dismissal on DUI charges did not occur within 60 days of remand, conviction 

and sentence had to be reversed.  State v. Bruggeman, (App. Div.1 1987) 154 Ariz. 489, 744 P.2d 

16 

 

Trial court erred in granting continuance to State which transgressed speedy trial rule time limits 

even if defense attorney went back on his word not to resist continuance asked for by State, since 

speedy trial time requirements may not be extended by stipulation of counsel.  Schultz v. Peterson, 

(1975) 111 Ariz. 421, 531 P.2d 1128 

 

The constitutional right to a speedy trial is triggered by either formal indictment, information, or 

actual restraint of arrest.  State v. Soto, (1977) 117 Ariz. 345, 572 P.2d 1183 

 

 3. Every attorney MUST file a notice of appearance 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 6.3(a) 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the due process  

   violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 

 Rule 6.3(a) Duties of counsel 

 

 A. Notice of Appearance. (Hereafter NAR).  At his or her first   

  appearance in any court on behalf of a defendant, an attorney,  

  whether privately retained or appointed by the court, shall file a  

  notice of appearance on a form provided by the clerk of the court.  

  (Emphasis added) 

 

   i) Judge Baca ruled on Nov. 11, 2008 that EVERY attorney  

    MUST file a notice of appearance to be heard in this matter, 

    docket code 019.  Baca refused to allow Chornenky to beard 

    based on the single fact Chornenky had not filed a NAR,  

    Chornenky then filed a NAR and was then refused on the  

    basis he was a witness.  

    (See: State’s Motion to Strike on 11/05/08, pages 3 & 4) 

   ii) Tyler Harrison never filed a notice of appearance.  

   iii) John Johnson never filed a NAR. 
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   iv). Attorney O. Joseph Chornenky was denied being heard by  

    the court based on the fact he did not file a NAR (See:  

    Ruling dated 11/17/08). 

   v) Beasley’s attorney did file a NAR. 

   vi) Hammond did file a NAR. 

   viii) Cantor did file a NAR. 

   ix) Defendant was permanently harmed by the Court invoking Rule 

    6.3(a) as Defendant was held in jail longer, and therefore the  

    court cannot now refuse to invoke Rule 6.3(a) to again harm  

    Defendant by continuing a trial that should be dismissed with  

    prejudice due to the Court’s violation of Rule 6.3(a), and 6.3(c). 

 

See: Exhibit(s) C, G, I, M, N, Q, R, S, and/or T for corresponding documentation 

 

Annotated 

 
SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 

UNITED STATES v. GONZALEZ-LOPEZ, CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED  STATES 

COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT, No. 05–352. Argued April 18, 2006— 

Decided June 26, 2006. Reversing, the Eighth Circuit held that the District Court erred in 

interpreting the disciplinary rule, that the court’s refusal to admit Low therefore violated 

respondent’s Sixth Amendment right to paid counsel of his choosing, and that this violation was 

not subject to harmless-error review. 

Held: A trial court’s erroneous deprivation of a criminal defendant’s choice of counsel entitles 

him to reversal of his conviction. Pp. 3–12. 

  

4. Counsel cannot withdraw when trial set 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 6.3(c) 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the due process  

   violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
 Rule 6.3 (c) Duty Upon Withdrawal.  No attorney shall be permitted to 

 withdraw after a case has been set for trial except upon motion 

 accompanied by the name and address of another attorney, together with a 

 signed statement by the substituting attorney that he or she is advised of 

 the trial date and will be prepared for trial.  Appointed counsel may 

 withdraw after the arraignment on the grounds of his or her client's 

 ineligibility only upon a showing that withdrawal will not disrupt the 

 orderly processing of the case. (Emphasis added) 

 
  A. Tyler Harrison resigned and Johnson immediately filed a Motion for  

   Continuance, on July 8, 2009, although Johnson was not attorney of record, 

   and Johnson did admit in open court he was not ready for trial. 

   i) Such statement by Johnson in open court is prima facie evidence of 

    the violation of Rule 6.3 (c), and is also prima facie evidence of the 

    court’s knowledge of said violation and purposeful agreement to  

    violate Rule 6.3(c) to the detriment of Defendant’s substantive  

    rights.  
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  B. The court could not allow Harrison to resign if Harrison was attorney of  

   record. 

   i) By allowing Harrison to resign the court admitted Harrison was not 

    the attorney of record and accordingly ALL of Harrison’s motions  

    and/or agreements, especially those concerning continuances MUST 

    be stricken and removed from the record. Therefore the last day for 

    trial could ONLY be April 26, 2009. 

 
  C. When the court allowed Harrison to withdraw without another attorney  

   being prepared, the court thereby allowed the disruption of the orderly  

   processing of the case and therefore prejudiced Defendant.  

   i) Due to the court’s fatal error of allowing a Public Defender  

    to resign and then continuing the trial even though another  

    Public Defender was not ready for trial, a violation of 6.3(c), 

    the following harm has been cause by the court’s error to  

    Defendant: 

    a. Defendant has spent several more months in   

     custody; 

    b. Defendant is now totally financially destitute; 

    c. The court has unlawfully proceeded with a Rule 11  

     evaluation against Defendant in an attempt to force  

     Defendant to accept a Public Defender as counsel,  

     even though the Public Defender has already greatly 

     harmed Defendant’s case and has never acted in the  

     best interest of Defendant. 

 

See: Exhibit M for corresponding documentation 
 

Annotated 

 
Rule 6.3(c). Section (c) incorporates Uniform Rules of Practice of the Superior Court of Arizona 

XII(c) into the criminal rules in order to emphasize its importance in maintaining the trial date. It 

adds a requirement that the address of substitute counsel be included in the withdrawal 

application. 

 
Trial court did not abuse its discretion in entering order allowing public defender to withdraw as 

counsel for defendant provided that another lawyer would be available for trial. Arcaris v. 

Superior Court In and For County of Maricopa, (State) (App. Div.1 1989) 160 Ariz. 533, 774 

P.2d 837. (Emphasis added) 

 

Exercise of trial court's discretion in deciding motion to withdraw made by defense counsel prior 

to trial setting must be governed by considerations of potential prejudice to judicial process, 

counsel, and defendant. Riley, Hoggatt & Suagee, P.C. v. Riley  (App. Div.2 1990) 165 Ariz. 138, 

796 P.2d 940.  

 

 5. Refusal to allow Defendant to waive right of counsel 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 6.1 (c) 
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   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the due process  

   violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 Rule 6.1. Rights to counsel; waiver of rights to counsel 
 c. Waiver of Rights to Counsel. A defendant may waive his or her  
  rights to counsel under (a) and (b), in writing, after the court has  
  ascertained that he or she knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily  
  desires to forego them. When a defendant waives his or her rights to 
  counsel, the court may appoint an attorney to advise him or her  
  during any stage of the proceedings. Such advisory counsel shall be 
  given notice of all matters of which the defendant is notified. 

 
  A. Defendant has numerous times in writing, and in open court informed the  
   judge he did not want counsel. The judge continually ignored Defendant  
   and even allowed a public defender to make decisions against the best  
   interest of Defendant in an attempt to prevent Defendant from invoking his 
   rights. 
   i) Public Defender has never acted in the best interest of Defendant,  
    and has even greatly harmed Defendant and Defendant’s case.  
   ii) Public Defender has not even once objected to anything from the  
    court that harm’s Defendant’s case. 
   iii) Public Defender simply complies with the Prosecutor and the court. 
   iv) Public Defender’s first call to Defendant was to lie to Defendant  
    then a return call to apologize to Defendant. 
 
  B. The court has attempted to issue Defendant two (2) public defenders and  
   both have repeatedly lied to Defendant and done grave harm to Defendant’s 
   case and even assisted the prosecution in permanently injuring Defendant’s 
   case. 
 
  Defendant has no reason to trust the State’s Public Defenders as both have  
  irreparably harmed Defendants case and ignored Defendant’s substantive rights.  
 
  Public Defender John Johnson did not even object to, nor did he require the court  
  to follow the rules, when judge McMurdie requested a Rule 11 Evaluation.  
  Johnson should have at least objected, and more correctly Johnson should have  
  demanded the court to follow the Rules of Criminal Procedure and state in a  
  motion the reason for the Rule 11. The absence of both proves Johnson has no  
  desire to act in the best interest of Defendant.  
 
  Public Defender Harrison was not acting in Defendant’s best interest, thereby   
  nullifying Harrison’s decision(s) that were not in Defendant’s best interest.  
  A. Harrison repeatedly lied to Defendant claiming Harrison applied for a  
   “hair test” on the decedent, yet Harrison ONLY applied for a blood and  
   urine test. 
   i) Hair test go back ninety (90) days, whereas blood and urine go back 
    three (3) days. 
   ii) Defendant needed to establish the decedent was a frequent L.S.D.  
    and acid user in accordance with decedent’s boastings on a web  
    site. 
  B. Harrison’s negligence harmed Defendant’s case. 
  C. Harrison withdrew too close to the trial date to allow Defendant to obtain  
   the exculpatory evidence needed by Defendant. 
   i) Defendant attempted for the first two (2) weeks of June to contact  
    Harrison.  Harrison did not contact or in any way answer any of  
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    Defendant’s questions until June 20, 2009, and then only to tell  
    Defendant Harrison had resigned from the case. 
  D. Harrison refused to attempt to obtain funds from the State to either do  
   computer generated animation and/or build a life size diagram of the  
   vehicle for visual effect during testimony. Defendant, an indigent, had to  
   borrow money to build a wooden diagram of the vehicle confiscated by the 
   State.  
 
  Public Defender John Johnson was not acting in Defendant’s best when,  
  even after two (2) State appointed Rule 11 evaluators deemed Defendant  
  competent, on October 22, 2009, in open court, Johnson asked for a  
  evidentiary hearing” in an attempt to have Defendant considered  
  incompetent. This is in no way in Defendant’s best interest and is only a  
  legal tactic to violate Defendant’s substantive rights and prevent Defendant  
  form defending himself and obfuscate the facts concerning the Public  
  Defender’s office and Judge McMurdie’s previous violations of preventing  
  Defendant from invoking the Law and Rules of Court. 
 
See: Exhibit(s) I, L, M, N, O, P, Q, R, S, and/or T for corresponding documentation 

 

Annotated 

 List of case precedents demanding court allow a defendant to defend himself.             
 Farreta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).                                                                     
 Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972).                                                                   
 Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984).                                                                   
 Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387 (1977).                                                                      
 Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776 (1987).                                                                           
 Coleman v. Alabama, 399 U.S. 1 (1970).                                                                        
 Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722 (1991).                                                                  
 Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157 (1986).                                                                    
 Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452 (1994).                                                                   
 Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353 (1963).                                                                     
 Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454 (1981).                                                                               
 Fuller v. Diesslin, 868 F.2d 604 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 873 (1989).                  
 Gandy v. Alabama, 569 F.2d 1318 (CA5 1978).                                                               
 Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976).                                                                     
 Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103 (1975).                                                                              
 Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963).                                                                     
 Gilbert v. California, 388 U.S. 263 (1967).                                                                         
 Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12 (1956).                                                                                
 Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1986).                                                                                 
 Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365 (1986).                                                                 
 Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682 (1972).                                                                                
 Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364 (1992).                                                                         
 Martinez v. California, 526 U.S. 152 (2000).                                                                      
 Martinez v. Court of Appeal, 528 U.S. 152 (2000).                                                            
 Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964).                                                                  
 McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168 (1984).                                                                       
 McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759 (1970).                                                                    
 Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128 (1967).                                                                                
 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).                                                                          
 Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1 (1983).                                                                                   
 Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1 (1992).                                                                            
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 Nix v. Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157 (1986).                                                                               
 North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369 (1979).                                                                   
 Palko v. United States, 302 U.S. 319 (1937).                                                                       
 Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551 (1987).                                                                      
 Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932).                                                                              
 Rhode Island v. Innis, 466 U.S. 291 (1980).                                                                        
 Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600 (1974).                                                                                  
 Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367 (1979).                                                                                  
 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).                                                                  
 United States v. Ash, 413 U.S. 300 (1973).                                                                          
 United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984).                                                                     
 United States v. Malpiedi, 62 F.3d 465 (2d Cir. 1995).                                                       
 United States v. Rankin, 779 F.2d 956 (3d Cir. 1986).                                                        
 United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218 (1967).                                                                      
 Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153 (1988).                                                                     

But the Constitution does not give a defendant a general right to an "unspeedy" trial — unlike, for 

example, the Sixth Amendment right of counsel, which is accompanied by a general right not 

to have counsel. Farretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806. (Emphasis added). 

 
United States v. Goeltz, 513 F. 2d 193, 197, (10th cir. 1975) and United States v. Lam, 251 F. 3d 

852 (9th Cir. 2001).  To the extent that the Defendant's counsel waived time or had Defendant 

request continuances. This would not be attributed to Defendant, due to counsel's actions 

contradicting the best interest of Defendant, regardless of Defendant being bound by counsel's 

actions, defense continuances don't excuse lengthy delays in the disposition of a case.  (Emphasis 

added). 

 

As to defendant's waiver of counsel, failure to comply with Criminal Rule 6.1 requiring a 

defendant to sign a written waiver form did not rise to the level of constitutional error, since a 

written waiver was not inevitably necessary to establish the validity of the waiver. Evans v. 

Raines, D.Ariz.1982, 534 F.Supp. 791, remanded 705 F.2d 1479. (Emphasis added). 

 

Defendant's submission of signed handwritten motion to waive counsel was sufficient for 

purposes of rule specifying that waiver of counsel be in writing and providing a form to be used. 

State v. Cornell, (1994) 179 Ariz. 314, 878 P.2d 1352.  

 

Where it was clear that defendant was advised of charges and possible death penalty and was 

reminded of complexity of proceedings and advantage of advisory counsel, but despite those 

warnings, defendant waived counsel, that waiver was valid, notwithstanding that it was not in 

writing as required by this rule. State v. Harding, (1983) 137 Ariz. 278, 670 P.2d 383, certiorari 

denied 104 S.Ct. 1017, 465 U.S. 1013, 79 L.Ed.2d 246, habeas corpus dismissed 795 F.Supp. 953. 

 
Rule 6.1(c). Section (c) provides the standards for waiver of the rights to counsel, applicable 

throughout these rules. It adopts the constitutional standard set down in Johnson v. Zerbst, 58 

S.Ct. 1019, 304 U.S. 458, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938); Von Moltke v. Gillies, 68 S.Ct. 316, 332 U.S. 

708, 92 L.Ed. 309 (1948); Miranda v. Arizona, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 384 U.S. 436, 16 L.Ed.2d 694, 10 

A.L.R.3d 974 (1966), rehearing denied 87 S.Ct. 11, 385 U.S. 890, 17 L.Ed.2d 121; Argersinger v. 

Hamlin, supra; and State v. Martin, 102 Ariz. 142, 426 P.2d 639 (1967). Generally, a defendant 

must be advised of the charges against him, of the possible maximum sentence, whether, if 
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convicted, he is likely to be sentenced to a term of imprisonment, and of his rights to be 

represented by counsel and to have counsel appointed if he is indigent. 

 

The second sentence allows but does not require the court to appoint advisory counsel whenever a 

defendant seeks to proceed pro se. A number of cases have recognized a defendant's absolute right 

to represent himself, e.g.,United States v. Plattner, 330 F.2d 271 (2d Cir.1964); State v. Martin, 

supra; State v. Betts, 2 Ariz.App. 27, 406 P.2d 229 (1965), but this right is not infringed by 

appointment of advisory counsel. 

 

Rule 6.1(d). This rule incorporates the standard of the 1956 Ariz.Rules of Criminal Procedure, as 

amended, Rule 19(b) to protect the court against dilatory tactics of the defendant in retaining 

counsel. It applies to all stages of the proceedings, not just the preliminary hearing. 

Rule 6.1(e). The defendant can decide at any time that he was mistaken to waive counsel; the 

court should encourage an unrepresented defendant, at all stages, to obtain counsel. The 

defendant's right to withdraw a waiver of counsel is unlimited; however, he is not allowed to use 

late appointment or retention of counsel to disrupt orderly and timely processing of his case. Thus, 

he cannot delay a scheduled proceeding, nor repeat one already held, solely because of a change 

of heart concerning his ability to represent himself. 

 

Where waiver to right to counsel is fully evidenced by defendant's conduct which is consistent 

only with knowing and voluntary waiver, it would be nonsensical to expect uncooperating 

defendant to voluntarily sign written statement of waiver even though his conduct would leave 

court with no reasonable alternative but to proceed without representation for him; requirement of 

this rule that waiver be in writing was not intended to afford opportunity to recalcitrant defendant 

to disrupt or delay trial proceedings. State v. Castoe (App. Div.1 1976) 114 Ariz. 47, 559 P.2d 

167. 

 

Defendant's waiver of counsel was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, despite failure of trial 

court to advise defendant on record of dangers of waiving counsel, where defendant moved to 

represent himself well in advance of trial, specifically requested that he be allowed to proceed on 

his own, and showed adequate familiarity with legal proceedings by citing and discussing 

applicable cases.  State v. Russell, (App. Div.1 1993) 175 Ariz. 529, 858 P.2d 674, redesignated as 

opinion.  

 

Court strikes balance between seemingly conflicting rights to waive counsel and right to be 

effectively assisted by counsel by assuring itself that defendant proceeds in propria persona 

knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. State v. Russell, (App. Div.1 1993) 175 Ariz. 529, 858 

P.2d 674, redesignated as opinion.  

 

Bank robbery defendant made knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of right to trial counsel 

where court determined defendant's competence after defendant articulated his desire to defend 

himself, and defendant competently represented himself at trial. State v. Rigsby, (1989) 160 Ariz. 

178, 772 P.2d 1.  

 
United States v. Goeltz, 513 F. 2d 193, 197, (10th cir. 1975) and United States v. Lam, 251 F. 3d 
852 (9th Cir. 2001).  To the extent that  the Defendant's counsel waived time or had Defendant 
request continuances. This would not be attributed to Defendant, due to counsel's actions 
contradicting the best interest of Defendant, regardless of Defendant being bound by counsel's 
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actions, defense continuances don't excuse lengthy delays in the disposition of a case. (Emphasis 
added) 
 

The Supreme Court noted that "[i]n the federal courts, the right of self-representation has been 

protected by statute since the beginnings of our Nation. Section 35 of the Judiciary Act of 

1789, 1 Stat. 73, 92, enacted by the First Congress and signed by President Washington one day 

before the Sixth Amendment was proposed, provided that 'in all the courts of the United States, 

the parties may plead and manage their own causes personally or by the assistance of 

counsel.'" Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 813 (1975)  

 

The Supreme Court began to expand the interpretation of the clause in Powell v. Alabama, 287 

U.S. 45 (1932), in which it held, “in a capital case [sic--which this is not], where the defendant is 

unable to employ counsel, and is incapable adequately of making his own defense because of 

ignorance, feeble mindedness, illiteracy, or the like, it is the duty of the court, whether 

requested or not, to assign counsel for him.” 

The Supreme Court expanded the right to pro se representation, holding in Faretta v. California, 

422 U.S. 806 (1975), the power to choose or waive counsel lies with the accused, and the state 

cannot intrude, though it later held in Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389 (1993), that the state 

could deny the waiver if it believed the accused less than fully competent to adequately proceed 

without counsel.  

 

In Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817 (1977), the Supreme Court held that the constitutional right of 

"meaningful access to the courts" can be satisfied by counsel or access to legal materials. Bounds 

has been interpreted, by several federal courts of appeals, to mean a pro se defendant does not 

have a constitutional right to access a prison law library to research his defense. 

 

In Faretta the court further brought analogies to the Star Chamber, saying "the Star Chamber has, 

for centuries, symbolized disregard of basic individual rights. The Star Chamber not merely 

allowed, but required, defendants to have counsel. [Counsel that frequently worked for the Star 

Chamber.] 

 
 6. Failure of prosecution to timely reply to motions 
  A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 35.1 

(The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the due process  

   violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice)   

 

                         Rule 35.1 Motions: form, content and rights of reply 

   a. Unless otherwise specified in these rules, all motions shall be   

                         typewritten, double-spaced on 8.5 x 11 inch paper and shall    

contain a short, concise statement of the precise nature of the   

             relief requested, shall be accompanied by a brief memorandum   

             stating the specific factual grounds therefor and indicating the   

             precise legal points, statutes, and authorities relied upon, and  
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  shall be served to all other parties. Each party may within 10 days  

  file and serve a response, and the moving party may within 3  

  additional days file and serve a reply, which shall be directed only  

  to matters raised in a response.  Responses and replies shall be in  

  the form required for motions. If no response is filed, the motion  

  shall be deemed submitted on the record before the court.  

 b. Unless otherwise permitted by the court, a motion, including  

  its supporting memorandum, and the response, including its  

  supporting memorandum, shall not exceed 10 pages, exclusive of  

  attachments. Unless otherwise permitted by the court, a reply,  

  including its supporting memorandum, shall  not exceed 5 pages,  

  exclusive of attachments. 

 

  A. On January 21, 2009, Defendant’s then attorney filed several   

   Motions in Limine.   

 

   Over ten (10) months later the prosecutor has stilled not responded   

   to said motions and the judge has still refused to rule on said   

   motions. In accordance with the law these motions MUST stand.   

   Motion in Limine #9 moved the court to dismiss for Detective   

   Dalton’s purposeful destruction of evidence. Ergo, the court has  

   NO recourse except to dismiss this case with prejudice. 

 

See: Exhibit J for corresponding documentation 

 

Annotated 
 

Where defendant served motion to dismiss charges against him for conspiracy to commit murder 

on September 26, 1975, State had until 5 P.M. on October 3, 1975, to reply to such motion, and 

trial court erred in failing to consider reply filed within such time.  State, ex rel., Berger v. 

Superior Court In and For Maricopa County, (1975) 112 Ariz. 451, 543 P.2d 439.  

 

A motion to suppress evidence need not be accompanied by evidence; it suffices for defendant to 

make allegations of fact that, if proved, would entitle defendant to suppression, and the obligation 

to prove a prima facie case for suppression does not attach until the hearing. Rodriquez v. 

Arellano,  (App. Div.1 1999) 194 Ariz. 211, 979 P.2d 539. 

 

A defendant who establishes that evidence was seized pursuant to a warrantless search has 

satisfied the burden of going forward on a motion to suppress under the rules of criminal 

procedure and has triggered the state's burden of proving the lawfulness of the acquisition of the 

challenged evidence. Rodriquez v. Arellano, (App. Div.1 1999) 194 Ariz. 211, 979 P.2d 539.  

 7. Witnesses must be disclosed 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 15.1 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the due process  

   violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
 Rule 15.1. Disclosure by state 
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  a. Initial Disclosure in Felony Cases. Unless otherwise ordered by the  
  court or provided by local rule, at the arraignment, or at the   
  preliminary hearing, whichever occurs first, the prosecutor shall   
  make available to the defendant all reports containing items listed in  
  Rule 15.1(b)(3) and (4) that were in the possession of the attorney   
  filing the charge at the time of the filing. 
 

  b. Supplemental Disclosure; Scope. Except as provided by Rule 39(b),  
  the prosecutor shall make available to the defendant the following   
  material and information within the prosecutor's possession or   
  control: 
 
  (1) The names and addresses of all persons whom the    
   prosecutor intends to call as witnesses in the case-in-chief  
   together with their relevant written or recorded    
   statements,..(Emphasis added) 

 
  The court would not allow Attorney Chornenky to be an attorney of record  

  even though Chornenky did file a Notice of Appearance on 10/31/08, on the  

  basis Chornenky was a witness for Defense, yet the Prosecution NEVER disclosed 

  to the court or defense counsel that Chornenky would be called as a witness.  

 

 8. New witnesses must be disclosed 
   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 15.6 

   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

  Rule 15.6. Continuing duty to disclose; final disclosure deadline;  

  extension 

  a. Continuing Duties. The duties prescribed in this rule shall be  

  continuing duties and each party shall make additional disclosure,  

  seasonably, whenever new or different information subject to  

  disclosure is discovered. 

 

  Prosecutor Charbel has spoken to Shawn Harris, the ex-boyfriend of Defendant’s  

  ex-wife, Cindy Cantrell, and has NEVER notified the defense of this interview.  

  Charbel attempted to coerce Harris into bringing charges against Cantrell so as to  

  intimidate Cantrell into changing her testimony and/or prosecuting Cantrell  

  fraudulently as punishment for not assisting the prosecution. Charbel told  

  Harris she could use her connections to get the county to prosecute Cantrell for  

  anything as long as Harris would charge Cantrell with something. 
 
 9. Prosecutor shall issue summons  

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 3.1(b) 
   (The court is required to sanction Charbel for her obvious violation  

   of the Rules of Court, yet almost two (2) years later has still not) 

 Rule 3.1(b) Issuance of warrant or summons 

 b. Preference for Summons. Unless good cause exists for the   

 issuance of a warrant, a summons shall issue if the defendant is not  

 in custody and the offense charged is bailable as a matter of right,   
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 and there is reason to believe that the defendant will respond to it. If  

 a warrant is requested by the prosecutor, the prosecutor shall state   

 the reasons for the issuance of the warrant rather than a summons. 

 c. Initial Arrest Warrant. Before issuing an arrest warrant, the   

 magistrate shall determine that probable cause exists that the d  

 defendant committed the offense or find that such a determination   

 has previously been made. An initial arrest warrant shall issue if: 

  (1) a defendant who has been summoned fails to appear, or  

  (2) there is good cause to believe that the defendant will fail to  

  appear, or  

  (3) the summons cannot readily be served or delivered. 
 
  A. Prosecutor Charbel had no good cause for issuing a warrant for Defendant  
   in February 2008. In fact, Charbel had to commit perjury to obtain the  
   warrant.  Charbel could have simply issued a summons, but as such would 
   have not been cause to arrest Defendant since Charbel’s claim was   
   perjurous it is obvious that Charbel’s intent was to have Defendant falsely  
   arrested and wrongfully imprisoned. 
 

Annotated 

 
Serving defendant with a summons as opposed to issuing a warrant for his arrest was 

proper where it was reasonable to believe that defendant would respond to it. State v. Rose 

(1978) 121 Ariz. 131, 589 P.2d 5.  
 
 10. Prosecutor is required to have REAL probable cause 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 3.1(c) 
   (The court is required to sanction Charbel for her obvious violation  

   of the Rules of Court, yet almost two (2) years later has still not) 

 Rule 3.1. Issuance of warrant or summons 

 c. Initial Arrest Warrant. Before issuing an arrest warrant, the   

  magistrate shall determine that probable cause exists that the  

  defendant committed the offense or find that such a determination  

  has previously been made. An initial arrest warrant shall issue if: 

  (1) a defendant who has been summoned fails to appear, or  

  (2) there is good cause to believe that the defendant will fail to  

  appear, or  

  (3) the summons cannot readily be served or delivered. 
 
 In February 2008 Prosecutor Charbel had Defendant falsely arrested by having  

 Judge Baca issue a warrant for Defendant’s arrest. Not only did Charbel have a  

 warrant issued instead of a summons as required by 3.1(b), Charbel lied to Judge  

 Baca claiming the I.R.S. had confiscated Defendant’s bond, when it was obvious   

 the letter form the I.R.S. merely informed the court that AFTER the trial the I.R.S.  

 would lien the bond. Charbel committed perjury, false imprisonment, wrongful  

 arrest and numerous other crimes in an attempt to unlawfully detain Defendant. 
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 11. Victim’s rights 

  A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 39 pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 13-4401(6) , 13-303 
  (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

  due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice 

 

  Rule 39. Victims' rights 

  a. Definitions.  

   1. Victim. As used in this rule, a “victim” is defined as a person  

    against whom a criminal offense as defined by 13-4401(6) has  

    allegedly been committed, or the spouse, parent, lawful   

    representative, or child of someone killed or incapacitated by the  

    alleged criminal offense, except where the spouse, parent, lawful  

    representative, or child is also the accused. With regard to the  

    rights to be notified and to be heard pursuant to this rule, a person  

    ceases to be a victim upon the acquittal of the defendant or upon the 

    dismissal of the charges against the defendant as a final disposition. 

    If a victim is in custody for an offense, the victim's right to be heard 

    pursuant to this rule is satisfied through affording the victim the  

    opportunity to submit a written statement, where legally permissible 

    and in the discretion of the court. A victim not in custody may  

    exercise his or her right to be heard pursuant to this rule by   

    appearing personally, or where legally permissible and in the  

    discretion of the court, by submitting a written statement, an  

    audiotape or videotape. The victims' rights of any corporation,  

    partnership, association, or other similar legal entity shall be limited 

    as provided by statute. 

 13-4401. Definitions 
 In this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 

  “Criminal offense" means conduct that gives a peace officer or  
  prosecutor probable cause to believe that one of the following has  
  occurred:(a) A felony. (b) A misdemeanor involving physical injury, 
  the threat of physical  injury or a sexual offense. 

 
  13-303. Criminal liability based upon conduct of another 
   A. A person is criminally accountable for the conduct of another if: 
    1. The person is made accountable for such conduct by the  
     statute defining the offense; or 
    2. Acting with the culpable mental state sufficient for the  
     commission of the offense, such person causes another  
     person, whether or not such other person is capable of  
     forming the culpable mental state, to engage in such  
     conduct; or 
    3. The person is an accomplice of such other person in the  
     commission of an offense including any offense that is a  
     natural and probable or reasonably foreseeable consequence 
     of the offense for which the person was an accomplice. 
   B. If causing a particular result is an element of an offense, a person  
    who acts with the kind of culpability with respect to the result that is 
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    sufficient for the commission of the offense is guilty of that offense 
    if: 
    1. The person solicits or commands another person to engage  
     in the conduct causing such result; or 
    2. The person aids, counsels, agrees to aid or attempts to aid  
     another person in planning or engaging in the conduct  
     causing such result.  
 
  A. Defendant did inform the police that the decedent did attack him and his   

   wife and as such the decedent and decedent’s wife should have been  

   charged with the felony of kidnapping pursuant to A.R.S. § 13-1304, yet  

   the State has refused to charge in an attempt to prevent Defendant form  

   invoking his Constitutional rights. 

 

  B. The Prosecutor is using the “victim’s rights” law to shield an accessory to  

  a crime, and therefore a criminal, to prevent the defense from questioning  

  the offender of her involvement with the attack on Defendant.  

 

  C. The “victim’s rights” law was never intended to be used as a ploy by a  

   prosecutor to maliciously prosecute the true victim of a crime, yet the  

   Prosecutor in this instant case has used said law to harm Defendant and  

   protect a person the Prosecutor is well aware should be charged with  

   multiple felonies. 

 

 12. Failure to state a reason for invoking Rule 11 Evaluation 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 11.2(a) 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
Rule 11.2. Motion to have defendant's mental condition examined 
 a. Motion for Rule 11 Examination. At any time after an information  
  or complaint is filed or indictment returned, any party may request in  
  writing, or the court on its own motion may order, an examination to  
  determine whether a defendant is competent to stand trial, or to   
  investigate the defendant's mental condition at the time of the   
  offense.  The motion shall state the facts upon which the mental  
  examination is sought. On the motion of or with the consent of   
  the defendant, the court may order a screening examination for a   
  guilty except insane plea pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 13-502 to be   
  conducted by the mental health expert. In a capital case, the   
  court shall order the defendant to undergo mental health examinations as  
  required under A.R.S. § 13-703.02 and 13-703.03. (Emphasis added) 

 
  A. At no time has the court EVER stated a reason for the Rule 11 Evaluation  

   Order. The Order itself is can only be i) to force Defendant into accepting a 

   public defender; and ii) prevent Defendant from testifying on his own  

   behalf. 

   i) It has become obvious this court does not want Defendant to testify 

   and that the public defender will ask for a bench trial so as to assist the  

   court in falsely convicting Defendant. 
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  B. Defendant did not consent to the Rule 11 Evaluation and the fact the public   

   defender did agree to such without any argument is prima facie evidence  

   the public defender is not assisting Defendant and is not working in the best 

   interest of Defendant. In fact, the public defender is working in the best  

   interest of the prosecutor. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) P, Q, R and/or S for corresponding documentation 

 

Annotated 

 
If evidence in support of motion for examination of competency to stand trial is sufficient to 

give rise to doubt in mind of court as to whether defendant is competent, it is mandatory duty of 

court to hold hearing. State v. Messier,  (App. Div.1 1977) 114 Ariz. 522, 562 P.2d 402. 

(Emphasis added) 

 

Frendak v. United States, 408 A.2d 364 (D.C. 1979) is a landmark case in which United States 

Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit decided that a judge could not impose an 

insanity defense over the defendant's objections.  Paula Frendak shot a coworker.  After four 

competency hearings, the defendant was adjudicated competent, although in the opinion of several 

experts she was likely insane when she committed the crime.  However, Frendak refused to use 

the insanity defense as she felt a hospital was worse than any prison.  She was forced by the court 

to plead insanity.  Thus, in this case a competent defendant was not allowed to reject the use of the 

insanity defense. [credit: wiki] On appeal the decision was reversed.  The judge may not impose 

the insanity defense upon an unwilling defendant if an intelligent defendant voluntarily wishes to 

forgo the defense.  "...respect for a defendant's freedom as a person mandates that he or she be 

permitted to make fundamental decisions about the course of the proceedings." 

 

Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389 (1993), was a landmark decision in which the U.S. Supreme 

Court ruled that if a defendant was competent to stand trial, they were automatically competent to 

plead guilty or waive the right to legal counsel and represent themselves pro se. 

 

McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168 (1984), is a United States Supreme Court case in which the 

court considered the role of standby counsel in a criminal trial where the defendant conducted his 

own defense (pro se). In this case the defendant claimed his Sixth Amendment right to present his 

own case in a criminal trial was violated by the presence of a court-appointed standby counsel. 

The court agreed. Drope v. Missouri (1975), the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that a “bona fide 

doubt” must exist in order for the judge, prosecutor, or defense counsel to obtain an evaluation of 

the defendant’s competency to stand trial.  The court also made it clear that the threshold for 

obtaining a competency to stand trial determination was low, and that factors that might be 

indicative of mental illness should be considered. 

 

Defendant's struggle with sheriff's deputies in hallway outside courtroom did not afford 

reasonable grounds for presentence diagnostic evaluation and mental health examination to 

determine defendant's competency at sentencing, where trial court concluded that defendant 

intentionally disrupted the proceeding.  State v. Amaya-Ruiz, (1990) 166 Ariz. 152, 800 P.2d 

1260, certiorari denied 111 S.Ct. 2044, 500 U.S. 929, 114 L.Ed.2d 129, denial of habeas corpus 

affirmed 121 F.3d 486, certiorari denied 118 S.Ct. 1083, 522 U.S. 1130, 140 L.Ed.2d 140.  
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Determinations of motions for examination of competency to stand trial are subject to review 

whether or not they come to court of appeals following guilty plea or at trial.  State v. Messier, 

(App. Div1 1977) 114 Ariz. 522, 562 P.2d 402 

 

 13. Failure to allow Defendant to appear before the Grand Jury 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 12.6 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

Rule 12.6. Appearance of persons under investigation 

A person under investigation by the grand jury may be compelled to appear 
or may be permitted to appear before the grand jury upon the person's 
written request. Such person shall be advised of the right to remain silent 
and the right to have counsel present to advise the person while he or she is 
giving testimony. If the person is accompanied by counsel before the grand 
jury, counsel shall not attempt to communicate with anyone other than his or 
her client. Any communication or attempted communication shall result in 
counsel's summary expulsion by the foreman from the grand jury session. 
(Emphasis added) 

 

   A. Defendant did enter a written request to appear before the second  

    Grand Jury and in response to said motion the Prosecutor moved the 

    Grand Jury ahead of schedule to prevent Defendant from appearing. 

 

Annotated 

 
Grand jury testimony of certain witness, who was incompetent to testify because testimony was 

not based upon personal knowledge, should have been excluded as to murder count upon 

defendant's objection, in that prosecution intended that the testimony be used for its substantive 

content and not just to refresh the witness' recollection or to impeach her trial testimony. State v. 

Mincey, (1981) 130 Ariz. 389, 636 P.2d 637. 

 

 14. Failure to supply Report from Rule 11 Evaluation 

   A.R. of Crim. P. Rule 11.4(a) and (b) 

 
 Rule 11.4. Disclosure of mental health evidence 

 a. Reports of Appointed Experts. The reports of experts made pursuant to 

 Rule 11.3 shall be submitted to the court within ten working days of the 

 completion of the examination and be made available to all parties, except 

 that any statement or summary of the defendant's statements concerning the 

 offense charged shall be made available only to the defendant. Upon receipt, 

 court staff will copy and distribute the expert's report to the court and to 

 defense counsel. Defense counsel is responsible for editing a copy for the 

 State which is to be returned to court staff within 24 hours of receipt and 

 made available for the State. 

 b. Reports of Other Experts. At least 15 working days prior to any 

 hearing, the parties shall make available to the opposite party for 

 examination and reproduction the names and addresses of mental health 
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 experts who have personally examined a defendant or any evidence in the 

 particular case, together with the results of mental examinations of scientific 

 tests, experiments or comparisons, including all written reports or statements 

 made by them in connection with the particular case. 

 

IX. ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES VIOLATED BY THE STATE 

 

 1. Evidence must be maintained 

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-2809 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

    due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
  3-2809. Tampering with physical evidence; classification 

  A. A person commits tampering with physical evidence if, with intent that it  

   be used, introduced, rejected or unavailable in an official proceeding which 

   is then pending or which such person knows is about to be instituted, such  

   person: 

   1. Destroys, mutilates, alters, conceals or removes physical evidence  

    with the intent to impair its verity or availability; or 

   2. Knowingly makes, produces or offers any false physical evidence;  

    or 

   3. Prevents the production of physical evidence by an act of force,  

    intimidation or deception against any person. 

  B. Inadmissibility of the evidence in question is not a defense. 

  C. Tampering with physical evidence is a class 6 felony.  

 
   1. Detective Dalton purposely, with malice aforethought, violated the  

    commands of the first warrant issued by the court in this matter to  

    “collect the clothing worn by the Defendant” during the incident.  

    This clothing was splattered with the decedent’s blood which would 

    have proved conclusively that the decedent was on top of Defendant 

    and therefore inside Defendant’s vehicle when the decedent was  

    shot. Such would cause the State to follow A.R.S. 13-418, which  

    would have required the State to consider justification before  

    pursuing prosecution. Dalton, a seasoned detective is well aware  

    this evidence would have destroyed the possibility of prosecuting  

    Defendant and therefore refused to follow the warrant.  Law  

    enforcement officers do not have the authority to refusal to do as  

    ordered by a warrant and accordingly, Dalton’s acts can only be  

    considered criminal.  Since this original unlawful act by Dalton has 

    allowed the prosecution of an innocent man that would not have  

    occurred if Dalton had followed the law, Dalton’s actions under the 

    color of law are even more heinous. 

  

   2. Dalton also refused to collect a sample of Defendant’s blood as it  

    was obvious to Dalton that Defendant was completely sober and this 

    fact would have been excellent exculpatory evidence. 
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   3. Detective Dalton rewrote the notes from the other officers then  

    destroyed the original notes, making it impossible to prove what  

    was in the original note.  At least one witness has stated very clearly 

    that what Dalton entered into the record as what she said is very  

    different than her statement, and in fact Dalton’s alternate and  

    fraudulent version of the witnesses’ statement changes the statement 

    from exculpatory to inculpatory. (See: Defense Motion(s) to  

    Preserve/Prevent, 11/13/08 and Motion for Reconsideration  

    11/14/08,and Motion in Limine #9, 1/21/09.) 

 

   4. Detective Dalton committed perjury to two (2) grand juries by  

    misstating what witnesses told him. Dalton even went to the  

    extreme in the second grand jury when asked by a juror if ANY of  

    the witnesses said the decedent had entered Defendant’s vehicle,  

    Dalton said explicitly that NONE had said such, when in fact  

    several had told Dalton the witness either had or might had entered 

    Defendant’s vehicle. (See: First and second grand jury transcripts  

    and witness statements) 

 
   5. Detective Dalton refused to allow Defendant to receive medical  

    assistance immediately after the arrest even though Defendant was  

    injured and requested to see a doctor several times.  It was obvious 

    that Dalton did not want a doctor’s opinion proving that Defendant 

    was injured as such would be prima facie evidence of “self-defense” 

    and/or “justification” which would have destroyed the State’s case.  

 

   6. The “lead” detective in this matter has at least four (4) times  

    destroyed evidence that would have cleared Defendant and   

    committed perjury at least twice to indict Defendant. All of these  

    facts are in court records and the court is well aware of these facts  

    and the crimes committed by the lead Detective.  How now can this  

    court continue to allow the Detective to be involved in this case, and 

    for that matter not charge Detective Dalton for the multiple felonies 

    he has committed under color of law. 

 

   7. The holster strap that was ripped off of the holster, instead of  

    opened, during the struggle for the gun, and the holster appear to be 

    missing. The fact the strap was “torn off the holster” can only be  

    considered exculpatory in nature. Yet without the strap and the  

    holster there is no way to prove they were torn instead of opened. 

 

   8. The Medical Examiner has refused to test the stomach and bladder  

    contents of the decedent.  There was “900ml of pinkish brown  

    liquid and no food” inside of the decedent.  Such could possibly be 

    mostly alcohol which would mean the decedent was possibly dying 

    of alcohol poisoning and in a “fit of rage” due to his oncoming  

    death.  The autopsy did prove that the decedent did have, at the time 

    of his death, a B.A.C. of 0.19, which pursuant to the Arizona D.U.I. 
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    manual for Law enforcement means the decedent was aggressive  

    and prone to attack. 

 

   9. The Medical Examiner has refused to test the decedent for   

    “steroids” even though the decedent had in his possession at the  

    time of his death a steroid inhaler.  It is a medical fact that alcohol  

    and steroid inhaler abuse at the same time can lead to a from of  

    “roid rage” where a man can be incredibly strong, extremely  

    violent, and almost “unstoppable.” 

 
   10. The Medical Examiner has refused to test the decedent’s hair for  

    LSD and acid use even though the court is well aware the decedent 

    bragged on a “web blog” that he was a frequent user of both illegal 

    substances. It is a medical fact that frequent and prolonged use of  

    these drugs can lead to extremely violent behavior and has been  

    known to cause men to attack and kill other men without cause or  

    reason.  

 

   11. The Prosecutor has purposely left the vehicle outside and uncovered 

    for almost two (2) years so all the blood evidence would be   

    destroyed by the natural elements and weather. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) H, J, S,  and/or autopsy report for corresponding documentation 
 

 2. Law enforcement cannot disobey and/or refuse to do as a warrant commands  

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-3920 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

    due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 

  13-3920. Retention of property 

  All property or things taken on a warrant shall be retained in the custody of the  

  seizing officer or agency which he represents, subject to the order of the court in  

  which the warrant was issued, or any other court in which such property or things i

  is sought to be used as evidence.  

 

 As stated in the warrant: 

 

 “You are therefore commanded…to make search of the above named or 

described person(s)…and if you find the same or any part thereof, to retain 

such in your custody or in the custody of the Phoenix Police Department, as 

provided by Arizona Revised Statute 13-3920. (Emphasis added) Warrant 

#:SW2008-000552 (Bate Stamp 000169). 

 
  A. The officers, in direct defiance of the Courts and this order, refused to  

   comply and the clothes and other items were not collected. This evidence is 

   material because the blood spatter on the clothes indicates the proximity of 

   the alleged victim to Mr. Stuart.  The proximity of the alleged victim to the 

   defendant supports Mr. Stuart’s version of the altercation and his   
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   affirmative defense of self-defense. If the alleged victim was not reaching  

   into defendant’s vehicle, according to the State’s theory of the case, his  

   blood spatter would not be found inside defendant’s vehicle and on Mr.  

   Stuart’s clothes. The refusal, despite court order, of the officers to collect  

   this evidence was in bad faith and prejudicial to Mr. Stuart. Even if this  

   failure is determined to not have been in bad faith, the loss of an affirmative 

   defense is substantially prejudicial and the defendant is entitled to   

   dismissal. 

 
  B. The truck was impounded, and has been outside in the elements since  

   January 2008.  Any evidence that may have been on the outside of the truck 

   has likely been compromised by exposure to the sun, wind, rain, etc.  The  

   loss of this evidence is prejudicial to the defendant because evidence of the 

   alleged victim’s blood on the truck, and the specific locations on the truck, 

   furthers Mr. Stuart’s claim of self defense.  This evidence would be used to 

   show that the alleged victim had been next to and later inside of Mr.  

   Stuart’s vehicle at the time of the incident, not several feet away, as the  

   State is claiming. 

 
  C. The police officers also did not permit Mr. Stuart to take a breathalyzer test. 

   The results of this test would have shown Mr. Stuart’s Blood Alcohol Level 

   at the time of arrest.  Even if the test was not administered immediately  

   after the incident, the results would indicate whether Mr. Stuart had been  

   intoxicated during the incident.  An officer at the scene claimed that he  

   smelled alcohol in the truck.  This unsubstantiated claim cannot be refuted 

   because the officers did not administer a breathalyzer test to the defendant, 

   even after repeated requests by the Mr. Stuart. The failure of the officers to 

   administer this test and preserve the results substantially prejudices the  

   defendant. 

 

See: Exhibit A for corresponding documentation 

 

Annotated 
 

Where marijuana was discovered pursuant to search warrant in suitcase found in bus station, 

allowing suitcase to be transported to designated destination in order to determine who held claim 

checks did not violate duty of justice of peace who issued warrant to retain evidence seized 

pursuant thereto. State v. Carroll (1974) 111 Ariz. 216, 526 P.2d 1238. 

 

 

3. False arrest 

   Arizona Revised Statutes §  
   (The court is required to sanction Charbel for her obvious violation  

   of the Rules of Court, yet almost two (2) years later has still not) 

 
  A. Prosecutor Charbel witnessed Defendant’s attorney hand documents to  

   Judge Stienle’s clerk in open court, yet still charged Defendant with A.R.S. 

   § 39-161. If the State has the ability to charge a defendant with a crime they 
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   witness the defendant’s attorney commit then the crime MUST also be  

   charged against the State’s attorney when the State’s attorney commits the 

   same violation. Ergo, any time a prosecutor enters a “false and/or forged”  

   check into evidence against a forger the prosecutor that enters said check  

   into evidence in the court MUST be charged with a violation of A.R.S. §  

   39-161.  

 

   Accordingly, when Prosecutor Charbel allowed Detective Dalton  

   to enter into the record “false” witness statements, Charbel and  

   Dalton committed the same crime Charbel falsely imprisoned  

   Defendant for.  
 

  B. Commissioner Mroz said in open court “this is not a crime” yet only  

   transferred the matter to another judge instead of dismissing the case as  

   required by law. 

 

  C. This was the second time Prosecutor Charbel fraudulently charged   

   Defendant with a crime that does not exist.  

 

   i) Never in the history of the United State’s and/or Arizona has anyone 

    ever been charged with a crime for entering evidence into court. 

 

   ii) Never in the history of the United State’s and/or Arizona has anyone  

    ever been charged with a crime for something their attorney did in  

    open court.  

 

 4. Justification 

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-418 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

    due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
  13-418. Justification; use of force in defense of residential structure or  

    occupied vehicles; definitions 

  A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a person is justified  

   in threatening to use or using physical force or deadly physical force  

   against another person if the person reasonably believes himself or another 

   person to be in imminent peril of death or serious physical injury and the  

   person against whom the physical force or deadly physical force is   

   threatened or used was in the process of unlawfully or forcefully entering,  

   or had unlawfully or forcefully entered, a residential structure or occupied  

   vehicle, or had removed or was attempting to remove another person  

   against the other person's will from the residential structure or occupied  

   vehicle. 

  B. A person has no duty to retreat before threatening or using physical force  

   or deadly physical force pursuant to this section. 

  C. For the purposes of this section: 

   1. "Residential structure" has the same meaning prescribed in section  

    13-1501. 
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   2. “Vehicle" means a conveyance of any kind, whether or not   

    motorized, that is designed to transport persons or property. 

 
 A closer look at Arizona's SB 1145, as passed by the House and signed recently by the 

 Governor. It has five major thrusts: 

 (1) Previously, "justification" defenses, including self-defense, were affirmative  

  defenses.  The defendant (or self-defender) had to prove them by a preponderance 

  of the evidence (i.e., proof of "more likely true than not). Under SB 1145, if the  

  defense presents "evidence" (quantum undefined) of justification, the prosecution  

  must disprove justification to a "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard. This change 

  is not limited to defense of home or car, but applies anywhere. 

 (2) No duty to retreat before using force to prevent certain serious offenses, including 

  aggravated assault. Again, this applies anywhere, any place a person has a right to 

  be, in the language of the law. 

 (3) A person is presumed to be justified in using force or deadly force if he/she  

  reasonably believes they are another are in imminent peril and the attacker has  

  entered or is trying to enter a residence or occupied auto.  Again, no duty to retreat. 

  (I don't think this changes the law any, since if a person reasonably believes  

  themselves in imminent peril they are justified in using deadly force whether in a  

  house or anywhere else). 

 (4) A person is generally presumed to be justified in use of force if the attacker has  

  unlawfully forced his way into residence or car or is trying to do so (with certain  

  exceptions, such as if the person forcing in had a legal right to be in there). I  

  wonder how this interacts with (1) above... if the prosecution is always required to 

  disprove justification anyway, what is the additional effect of saying that in certain 

  cases justification is presumed? I can think of two possibilities: (1) under the first, 

  the defense must put up some "evidence" before the burden shifts to the perhaps  

  this presumption substitutes for the evidence. If the defender proves a home  

  invasion, the prosecution immediately assumes the burden of disproving   

  justification. If home invasion is shown by the prosecution's own case, it had better 

  disprove need for use of force before it rests, or it may lose on a directed verdict  

  before defendant has to put on his/her case. (2) It's always nice to have two  

  favorable jury instructions rather than one. Oh, perhaps (3) the shifting of the  

  burden only functions at trial, so perhaps this presumption would function to  

  prevent a finding of probable cause, and thus arrest, in a home invasion absent  

  evidence that use of force was not justified. 

 (5) If the aggressor is foolish enough to sue, and the defender wins, the defender  

  recovers attorney fees and lost income (presumably, lost while at the courthouse).  

  This not limited to the home invasion situation. Good idea, but I think the   

  legislature slipped up. It applies to any justification "under this chapter."  This  

  chapter is ch. 4 of TItle 13, ARS. That includes all justifications, including  

  necessity (no way to obey law without creating greater social or individual harm,  

  not applicable to causing serious injury or death) and duress (being forced into it,  

  with the same limit). The good news for LEOs is that Chapter 4 also covers use of 

  force in law enforcement. 

 Although the Constitution of the United States does not cite it explicitly,  

 presumption of innocence is widely held to follow from the 5th, 6th and  

 4th amendments. See: Coffin v. United States, 156 U.S. 432 (1895). 
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 5. Kidnapping 

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-1304 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
§13-1304. Kidnapping 

A. A person commits kidnapping by knowingly restraining another 

person with the intent to: 

  3. Inflict death, physical injury or a sexual offense on the  

   victim, or to otherwise aid in the commission of a felony; or 

  4. Place the victim or a third person in reasonable   

   apprehension of imminent physical injury to the victim  
   or the third person; or 

  5. Interfere with the performance of a governmental or  

   political function; or 

  6. Seize or exercise control over any airplane, train, bus, ship 

   or other vehicle. (All emphasis added) 

   i) Prosecutor Charbel has refused to file accessory to   

    kidnapping charges against the decedent’s wife even though 

    the requirements for the kidnapping charges were met when 

    the decedent and his wife attacked Defendant. 

 

   ii) There is no doubt that Prosecutor Charbel and/or the State  

    has charged several people with kidnapping pursuant to 13- 

    1304 for the same behavior and criminal acts that the  

    decedent and his wife  committed against Defendant yet the  

    State is refusing on the sole bases that such a charge would  

    prevent the State from pursuing Defendant.  

 
   iii) The State is choosing to allow an obviously guilty person go 

    without being charged so the State’s fraudulent case against 

    an obviously innocent man can continue.  

 

                        Summary of kidnapping pursuant to  

                                    Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-1304    

                                            as it applies in this case 
 

It is a well settled matter in this and all other States in the union that a person attempting to escape 

from a kidnapper shall by right and law be protected from prosecution as it is a person’s right and 

duty to attempt to save their own life. 

 

It is also well settled that a victim escaping from kidnappers is neither required nor expected to 

remain at the scene of the crime, especially if any of the kidnappers remain. It was never Stuart’s 

intention to flee, only to escape from the kidnappers and retreat to prevent any further injury to 

himself or anyone else, as is lawfully allowed and reasonably expected during a failed kidnapping 

attempt. 
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Dating back well over 150 years, and even into ancient times, every precedent set has 

allowed kidnapping victims to use any type of force, necessary or not, to escape. Even in 

United States v. The Libellants and Claimants of the Schooner Amistad her Tackle, Apparel 

and Furniture 40 U.S. 518 (1841), argued 22–24 February 1841, decided 9 March 1841 by 

vote of 7 to 1; Story for the Court, Baldwin in dissent, known now as the Amistad case, the 

case was decided on whether slaves were property or people and if they be considered people 

they were lawfully allowed to kill their captures even while at sea. There are obviously far 

too many cases to list and the concept too well settled for the prosecution to argue whether a 

kidnap victim may use deadly force to escape from his attacker. 

 
The use of the word or instead of and (governmental or political function) causes the statute to 

mean a very clear and distinct difference between governmental and political functions. These are 

two separate concepts and can not be redefined to mean that those performing a “political 

function” need be government employees and/or paid for their services.  

At point is only whether Stuart was performing a political function. We then look to Black’s Law 

Sixth Edition:  

 

 a) Political: page 1158 “..having to do with organization or ACTION OF  

  INDIVIDUALS  that seek to control appointment…” 

 b) Function: page 673, “..perform, execute or administer..”  

 c) Campaign: page 205, “ALL the things… done by a candidate AND HIS  

   ADHERENTS to obtain… votes. Any organized effort to promote a cause  

   or to  secure some definite result with any group of persons” (all emphasis mine) 

 

Political function is exactly that; a political function, which would include a myriad of duties and 

jobs whether volunteered or paid. Hanging banners for a company to draw customers would be a 

“company function” whether those hanging the banners were being paid or simply doing a friend 

a favor. Thus, someone hanging banners for a politician trying to be elected to a political office is 

by definition a “political function.” 

 

  A. Elements of kidnapping: 

 
The Beasley’s did in fact commit kidnapping pursuant to Arizona law when they blocked Stuart’s 

truck door from opening and attacked Stuart while Stuart was restrained by his own seatbelts. Seat 

belts are legally defined as restraints pursuant to: Arizona State Senate Issue Brief 11-03-06. 

Beasley did in fact attempt to exercise control over Stuart’s vehicle when Beasley grabbed Stuart 

and attempted to remove Stuart from Stuart’s vehicle and after failing did in fact grab at Stuart’s 

steering wheel. 

   i) Knowingly restraining another person with intent to place the victim 

    in a reasonable apprehension of immanent physical injury or to  

    seize or exercise control over a vehicle State v. Newman, (1984) 141 

    ARIZ 554, 688 P.2d 180 

 

   ii) Kidnapping may be committed with intent to inflict death or it may 

    be… committed with intent to inflict serious injury.  State v. Bruni, 

    (app. Div.2 1981) 129 Ariz. 321, 630 P.2d 1044 
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   iii) Although offense of kidnapping with intent to place a victim or a  

    third person in reasonable apprehension of immanent physical  

    injury is not a lesser included offense or a separate offense, it is one 

    of the many ways in which a person can be guilty of kidnapping.   

    State v. Stough, (App. Div.2 1983) 136 Ariz. 374, 641 P.2d 862 

 

  B. Intent, elements of kidnapping: 

 
Under Arizona law there is no requirement for the Beasleys to know that Stuart was performing a 

political function, nor is it a requirement that they caused Stuart’s restraint. The simple facts that 

Stuart was performing a political function and/or was restrained is all that is necessary under 

Arizona law for the Beasleys to be considered committing the act of kidnapping. 

 

   i) Under Arizona kidnapping statute, kidnapping is one crime,  

    regardless of whether it occurs as a result of a knowing restraint  

    with the intent to inflict physical injury or with intent to interfere  

    with the performance of a governmental function.  State v. Jones,  

    (App. Div1 1995) 185 Ariz. 403, 916 P.2d 1119. 

 

  C. Force or intimidation, elements of kidnapping: 

 
Although it is known that Mr. Beasley did in fact try to injure Stuart, such attempt is not required 

under Arizona law.  The simple fact that Stuart was apprehensive about the fact Beasley was 

going to attempt to injure Stuart is all that is necessary under Arizona law.  It is obvious that a 

man with a B.A.C. of .19 would appear to be drunk and any reasonable man would be 

apprehensive of an obviously drunken man attacking him while in his own vehicle, especially if 

said attacker is 4 inches taller and 40+ pounds heavier than the victim. 

 

It is known that Mr. and Mrs. Beasley both left their vehicle, both pounded on Stuart’s vehicle and 

that Mr. Beasley attempted to remove Stuart from Stuart’s vehicle.  Witnesses have also 

acknowledged that Mr. Beasley was attempting to strangle Stuart. 

 

Stuart’s testimony, even without other witnesses testimony, that Stuart told Beasley to stop is 

relevant in this matter and goes to prove Stuart’s intent to escape and Beasley’s intent to kidnap. 

 

   i) The force or compulsion required for offense of kidnapping need  

    not consist of using actual physical force or express threats, and,  

    where taking  was accomplished by giving orders that the victim  

    felt compelled to obey because he feared harm, or injury, and  

    victim’s apprehension was not unreasonable under the   

    circumstances, taking was “forcible” within the meaning of  

    kidnapping statute.  State v. Belkin, (App. Div.2 1976) 26 Ariz. 513, 

    549 P.2d 608 

 

   ii) Rape victim’s testimony that defendant knew that she was trying to 

    get away from them while they were raping her was clearly relevant 

    so as to be admissible lay opinion testimony in prosecution   

    for rape and kidnapping in that it added weight to victim’s   
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    contention that she was forced without her consent to have   

    intercourse without her consent and rebutted defendant’s allegation 

    to contrary.  State v. Alaya, (App. Div.1 1994) 178 Ariz. 385, 873  

    P.2d 1307 

 

  D. Commission of felony 

 
  Beasley’s purposeful confinement of Stuart and Stuart’s fiancé was enough to 

determine that Beasley meant to kidnap Stuart and Stuart’s fiancé. There need not be any other 

crime committed by Beasley nor is it a requirement that Beasley cause in any way for Stuart 

and/or Stuart’s fiancé to be moved any distance. 

 

   i) Fact that defendant’s confinement of individuals was incidental to  

    armed robbery of store did not preclude defendant’s conviction of  

    kidnapping with intent to commit armed robbery in addition to  

    conviction of armed robbery.  State v. Rabon, (App. Div.2 1977)  

    115 Ariz. 45, 563 P.2d 300 

 

   ii) Fact that defendant ordered individuals into room in connection  

    with robbery only after defendant had received money did not  

    preclude conviction of kidnapping for robbery on theory that  

    robbery had already been committed at time defendant confined the 

    individuals.  State v. Rabon, (App. Div.2 1977) 115 Ariz. 45, 563  

    P.2d 300 

 

  E. Sufficiency of evidence 

 
Statements by the witnesses are adequate evidence to prove the Beasley’s did commit kidnapping 

and/or conspired to do so as both left their vehicle and attacked Stuart’s vehicle. Although neither 

Stuart nor his fiancé was forced to go anywhere, the fact the Beasley’s forced Stuart and his fiancé 

to stay in Stuart’s vehicle is enough to constitute the charge of kidnapping against the Beasleys.  

 

The fact Stuart was performing a political function and the Beasleys interfered with said function 

is grounds enough for the kidnapping charge.  The fact Beasley did violently assault Stuart and 

attempt to kill Stuart is further evidence of Beasley’s intent. 

 

Although Stuart is not a law enforcement officer, Stuart did place Mr. Beasley under arrest and 

Beasley did resist said arrest in a violent manner. 

 

Mrs. Beasley’s behavior, whether willing or not, primarily due to her voluntary intoxication, 

makes her an accomplice to Mr. Beasley’s kidnapping attempt of Stuart and Stuart’s fiancé. 

Especially since Mrs. Beasley committed several acts of perjury to hide her husbands crimes and 

further the false prosecution and unlawful imprisonment of Stuart. 

 

   i) Evidence that defendant compelled victims, against their will to  

    remain in truck cab or to enter rear of truck so that defendant could 

    commit rapes was adequate evidence of compulsion to stay   

    somewhere or go somewhere against victim’s will so as to sustain  
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    conviction of three counts of kidnapping with intent to rape.  State  

    v. Pickett, (1978) 1221 Ariz. 142, 589 P.2d 16 

 

   ii) Evidence was sufficient to support finding that defendant interfered 

    with performance of governmental function by deputy, and thus  

    supported defendant’s conviction of kidnapping deputy; defendant  

    admitted that he grabbed, hit, and wrestled with deputy, and told  

    brother to grab deputy’s gun so that deputy would not take   

    defendant to jail.  State v. Herrera, (1993) 176 Ariz. 21, 859 P.2d  

    131 

 

   iii)  Manner in which defendant and codefendant forcibly entered  

    victim’s automobile and fact that she was then taken immediately to 

    isolated area where she was raped and robbed by defendant was  

    sufficient circumstantial evidence of codefendant’s intent to sustain 

    his convictions as aider and abettor on charges of kidnapping for  

    rape and robbery.  State v. Bailes, (App. Div.2 1978) 118 Ariz. 582 

    P.2d 1011 

 

   iv) In prosecution for being an accessory to crime of kidnapping in that 

    defendant had full knowledge that named person had committed  

    crime of kidnapping and concealed such fact fro magistrate or  

    harbored and protected such person…  State v. Hernandez, (1958)  

    83 Ariz. 279, 320 P.2d 467 

 

  F. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND OF KIDNAPPING LAWS 

 
No man has ever been prosecuted for injuries inflicted on his kidnapper or for continued flight 

after escaping a failed kidnapping attempt. Such prosecution contravenes the desired effect of 

societal imposed laws. The continued prosecution of the Defendant in error Stuart would be no 

different than prosecuting Charles Lindbergh’s infant son for suicide.  

 

Kidnapping has been a recognized crime tracing back to the earliest Judeo-Christian law. See 

Exodus 21:16 (Holman Christian Standard). English common law defined kidnapping as “the 

forcible abduction or stealing away of a man, woman, or child, from their own country, and 

sending them into another.” William Blackstone, 4 Commentaries *219.  

 

Some federal courts, considering the separate states as jurisdictions foreign to each other for the 

purpose of kidnapping, incorporated the English common law definition of kidnapping by 

modifying the offense to include the asportation of an individual across state lines as well as 

across international boundaries. See, e.g., Collier v. Vaccaro, 51 F.2d 17, 19 (4th Cir. 1931) (“The 

gist of the [kidnapping] offense is the forcible carrying out of the state . . . .”); Gooch v. United 

States, 82 F.2d 534, 537 (10th Cir.) (“[K]idnapping at common law means to forcibly abduct a 

person and to carry him from one state into another state . . . .”), cert. denied, 298 U.S. 658 

(1936). So, too, did Congress, in its enactment of the Federal Kidnapping Act in 1932. 18 U.S.C. 

§ 408(a) (1932) (currently codified at 18 U.S.C. § 1201 (2000)). The Act, often referred to as 

“The Lindbergh Law” because its enactment came as a result of the mysterious disappearance of 

Charles Lindbergh's infant son, currently follows the English common law by stating: “Whoever 
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unlawfully seizes, confines, inveigles, decoys, kidnaps, abducts, or carries away and holds for 

ransom or reward or otherwise any person . . . when--(1) the person is willfully transported in 

interstate or foreign commerce . . . [,]” shall be guilty of kidnapping. 18 U.S.C. § 1201(a) (2000). 

During the last half of the twentieth century, kidnapping stories encompassed an ever wider array 

of fictive and real-life scenarios. The 1974 abduction of Patricia Hearst, the daughter of a 

prominent media mogul, by the Symbionese Liberation Army, recalled politically motivated 

kidnappings in other countries. Several years later, when an anti-American faction in Iran seized 

nearly one hundred people at the American Embassy in Tehran, the media proclaimed "America 

Held Hostage," and the incident played a key role in the 1980 presidential election of Ronald 

Reagan and the defeat of incumbent Jimmy Carter. The kidnapping of U.S. businesspeople and 

diplomats remained a prominent concern overseas, while abductions that accompanied 

carjackings and other crimes attracted considerable attention in the United States. 

 

Still, cases involving young children attracted the most intense interest. Bitter controversy over 

child custody laws, for example, publicized a form of abduction in which one parent resorted to 

kidnapping in order to circumvent a court order granting custody to the other. In 1980, Congress 

responded with the Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act, which mandated greater state-to-state 

cooperation in custody-related abductions. Advocates for children, though, insisted on a clear 

distinction between parental kidnappings and "stranger abductions," which became firmly 

associated with the specter of sexual exploitation. Several tragic cases of stranger abductions 

prompted new legislation, such as "Megan's Law," which aimed for the registration and 

monitoring of "sexual predators." Other prominent kidnappings produced new nationwide 

organizations, including the Adam Walsh Children's Fund and the Polly Klaas Foundation for 

Missing Children. 

 

Arizona’s legislatures, however, have chosen to accept the Model Penal Code § 212.1, in its 

entirety, as its bases for the definition of kidnapping, and the corresponding statutes thereof. Thus, 

the precedents of other State’s that also chose to accept Model Penal Code § 212.1 in its entirety 

as law, apply. 

 

The intent of Model Penal Code § 212.1 is in no way ambiguous. Model Penal Code § 212.1 the 

crime of kidnapping, its most serious imprisonment offense, is defined as: unlawfully remov[ing] 

another from his place of residence or business, or a substantial distance from the vicinity where 

he is found, or . . . unlawfully confin[ing] another for a substantial period in a place of isolation, 

with any of the following purposes: 

 

(a) to hold for ransom or reward, or as a shield or hostage; or  

 

(b) to facilitate commission of any felony or flight thereafter; or  

 

(c)        to inflict bodily injury on or to terrorize the victim or another; or   

 

(d)       to interfere with the performance of any governmental or political function. 

 

Annotated 
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“The legislative intent of enacting the enhancement of sentence provision of 13-1304 was to deter 

kidnappers from injuring their victims by distinguishing between injury and noninjury case, not 

between injuring and noninjuring kidnappers.”  State v. Tison, (1981) 129 Ariz. 526, 633 P.2d 335 

 
“Under Arizona kidnapping statute, kidnapping is one crime, regardless of whether it occurs as a 

result of a knowing restraint with the intent to inflict physical injury or with intent to interfere 

with the performance of a governmental function.”  State v. Jones, (App. Div1 1995) 185 Ariz. 

403, 916 P.2d 1119 

 

“Evidence was sufficient to support finding that defendant interfered with performance of 

governmental function by deputy, and thus supported defendant’s conviction of kidnapping 

deputy; defendant admitted that he grabbed, hit, and wrestled with deputy, and told brother to grab 

deputy’s gun so that deputy would not take defendant to jail.”  State v. Herrera, (1993) 176 Ariz. 

21, 859 P.2d 131 

 
39 ALR 5th 283, Seizure Or Detention For Purpose Of Committing Rape, Robbery, Or Other 

Offense As Constituting Separate Crime Of Kidnapping. 

 

Knowingly restraining another person with intent to place the victim in a reasonable apprehension 

of immanent physical injury or to seize or exercise control over a vehicle.  State v. Newman, 

(1984) 141 ARIZ 554, 688 P.2d 180 

 

Under Arizona kidnapping statute, death or injury to victim is a sufficient but not necessary goal 

of the restraint. State v. Jones, (App. Div.1 1995) 185 Ariz. 403, 916 P.2d 1119, review denied.  

 

Neither movement of victim nor differing degree of victim's restraint by defendant constitutes 

additional act of kidnapping under Arizona statute defining that offense.  State v. Jones, (App. 

Div.1 1995) 185 Ariz. 403, 916 P.2d 1119, review denied.  

 

Crime of kidnapping was complete where defendant abducted victim at knife point from behind 

and ordered her into his truck. State v. Jones, (App. Div.1 1995) 185 Ariz. 403, 916 P.2d 1119, 

review denied.  

 

Physical injury suffered by victim of sexual assault, kidnapping, and aggravated assault from 

being punched and kicked during assault enhanced all of the offenses as “dangerous” rather than 

merely aggravated assault, where by punching and kicking victim defendant was able to 

accomplish sexual intercourse without consent constituting sexual assault, and was able to effect 

the element of restraint required for kidnapping. State v. Greene, (App. Div.1 1993) 177 Ariz. 

218, 866 P.2d 886, review granted in part, denied in part, affirmed in part , vacated in part 182 

Ariz. 576, 898 P.2d 954. 

Though defendant's infliction of physical injury on victim would not itself support felony-murder 

charge, defendant's knowing restraint of victim with intent to inflict such injury was kidnapping 

which supported felony-murder charge. State v. Lewis, (App. Div.1 1991) 169 Ariz. 4, 816 P.2d 

263, redesignated as opinion, review denied 170 Ariz. 398, 825 P.2d 19 

 

Seizure or detention of victim, with any accompanying movement, is necessarily sufficient to 

constitute separate crime of kidnapping, whether or not movement substantially increases risk of 
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harm. State v. Lewis  (App. Div.1 1991) 169 Ariz. 4, 816 P.2d 263, redesignated as opinion, 

review denied 170 Ariz. 398, 825 P.2d 19.  

 

Elements of kidnapping as charged in instant case were: knowingly, restraining another person 

with the intent to place the victim in a reasonable apprehension of imminent physical injury or to 

seize or exercise control over a vehicle. State v. Newman, (1984) 141 Ariz. 554, 688 P.2d 180.  

 

Although offense of kidnapping with intent to place victim or a third person in reasonable 

apprehension of imminent physical injury is not a lesser included offense or a separate offense, it 

is one of many ways in which a person can be guilty of kidnapping.  State v. Stough, (App. Div.2 

1983) 137 Ariz. 121, 669 P.2d 99.  

 

A kidnapping may occur during a robbery, it is but one of the acts occurring during the course of 

the robbery.  State v. Linden, (App. Div.1 1983) 136 Ariz. 129, 664 P.2d 673. 

 

It is fact of forcible removal and not distance involved that establishes crime of kidnapping.  State 

v. Ring, (1982) 131 Ariz. 374, 641 P.2d 862. 

 

Kidnapping may be committed with intent to inflict death or it may be committed with intent to 

inflict a sexual offense or it may be committed with intent to inflict physical injury.  State v. 

Bruni, (App. Div.2 1981) 129 Ariz. 312, 630 P.2d 1044.  

 

Kidnapping involves taking away of person by force or fraud against will of victim.  State v. 

Miguel, (App. Div.1 1980) 125 Ariz. 538, 611 P.2d 125. 

 

When defendant took each girl at gunpoint into a room and raped her, this constituted kidnap for 

rape and when he forced them into the car, this constituted armed kidnap.  State v. Jones, (App. 

Div.2 1979) 123 Ariz. 373, 599 P.2d 826.  

 

 Essence of kidnap is not the distance the victim is transported but the unlawful compulsion 

against the will to go somewhere.  State v. Williams  (1974) 111 Ariz. 222, 526 P.2d 1244.  

 

To constitute kidnapping, it is not essential that any personal property be taken.  State v. Soders, 

(1970) 106 Ariz. 79, 471 P.2d 275. 

 

Under Arizona kidnapping statute, kidnapping is one crime, regardless of whether it occurs as a 

result of a knowing restraint with the intent to inflict physical injury or with the intent to interfere 

with the performance of a governmental function.  State v. Jones, (App. Div.1 1995) 185 Ariz. 

403, 916 P.2d 1119, review denied. 

 

State was not required to establish that defendant committed sexual offense after abducting victim 

to support kidnapping conviction, but rather was only required to show that defendant had intent 

to commit such offense when he abducted victim.  State v. Atwood, (1992) 171 Ariz. 576, 832 

P.2d 593, opinion modified on denial of reconsideration, certiorari denied 113 S.Ct. 1058, 506 

U.S. 1084, 122 L.Ed.2d 364. 

 

Defendant, who both moved and confined 15-year-old victim in his automobile with intent to 

inflict sexual offense, had no standing to make argument that kidnapping statute (this section) was 
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overbroad by defining restraint without consent as acquiescence of victim if under 18.  State v. 

Taylor, (App. Div.2 1982) 135 Ariz. 262, 660 P.2d 863. 

 

Even if defendant had standing to challenge kidnapping statute (this section) as overbroad due to 

fact that restraint without consent is defined as acquiescence of victim if under 18, statute makes 

such “restraint” criminal only if one of the requisite intent is present, which in defendant's case, 

was intent to commit a sexual offense; therefore, this section was not overbroad.  State v. Taylor, 

(App. Div.2 1982) 135 Ariz. 262, 660 P.2d 863.  

 

Consideration of the number of victims kidnapped was not beyond the discretion of sentencing 

court, even though number of victims was not statutory aggravating factor; by committing crimes 

against multiple victims simultaneously defendant altered character and magnitude of offense, 

creating greater risk of physical and emotional injury to each victim as they saw the others 

terrorized or injured, thus arguably representing graver offense to society.  State v. Tschilar, (App. 

Div.1 2001) 200 Ariz. 427, 27 P.3d 331, review granted in part, review denied as improvidently 

granted.  

 

Force required by § 13-491 (repealed; now, this section) was not necessarily the same as force 

required by assault statute, § 13-241 (repealed; see, now, § 13-1203).  State v. Belkin, (App. Div.2 

1976) 26 Ariz.App. 513, 549 P.2d 608. 

 

Fact that defendant's confinement of individuals was incidental to armed robbery of store did not 

preclude defendant's conviction of kidnapping with intent to commit robbery in addition to 

conviction of armed robbery.  State v. Rabon,(App. Div.2 1977) 115 Ariz. 45, 563 P.2d 300.  

 

 6. Private person may make an arrest 

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-3884, 13-3889 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

    due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
  13-3884. Arrest by private person 

  A private person may make an arrest: 

   1. When the person to be arrested has in his presence committed a  

    misdemeanor amounting to a breach of the peace, or a felony. 

   2. When a felony has been in fact committed and he has reasonable  

    ground to believe that the person to be arrested has committed it.  

 
  13-3889. Method of arrest by private person 

  A private person when making an arrest shall inform the person to be arrested of  

  the intention to arrest him and the cause of the arrest, unless he is then engaged in  

  the commission of an offense, or is pursued immediately after its commission or  

  after an escape, or flees or forcibly resists before the person making the arrest has  

  opportunity so to inform him, or when the giving of such information will imperil  

  the arrest. 

 

 7. Crime victims and/or suspects must be given medical assistance when   

  requested  

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-3902 
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  13-3902. Treatment of arrested person 

  No peace officer, or other official engaged in administering the criminal law, shall 

  use oppressive methods of any kind for the purpose of securing a confession or  

  other evidence of guilt from an arrested person  

 
   i) Dalton refused to provide medical assistance to Defendant even  

    after several request. Instead Dalton took pictures of defendant  

    claiming Defendant was not injured.  It is absolutely impossible to  

    determine an eye injury with a camera.  Dalton was simply   

    preventing the Defendant from being able to prove he was injured  

    and as such Dalton was purposely destroying exculpatory evidence. 

 

 8. Perjury committed by Detective Dalton 

  Arizona Revised Statutes § 21-422 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
  A.R.S. § 21-422 (3)(4) Powers and duties: 

  3. Perjury, false swearing, unsworn falsification, or any violation of Title 13,  

   chapter 28 in connection with any state grand jury proceeding, committed  

   by any person  testifying before it or in any trial or other proceeding  

   involving any indictment returned by a state grand jury.  

  4. Any perjury by subornation or attempted perjury by subornation relating to 

   testimony before it or in any trial or other proceeding involving any  

   indictment returned by a state grand jury. 

 
Pursuant to the MOST RECENT precedent, ARIZONA v. HAROLD FISH ARIZONA  COURT 

OF APPEALS, Division one, 6/30/2009, lies and/or misstatements and/or  withholding evidence 

from a grand jury to secure an indictment is grounds for dismissal,  and that the State is required 

to prove Defendant did not act in self-defense BEFORE  prosecuting. 

 

 In accordance with the maxim of law Ex dolo malo no oritur action: 

 
“Out of fraud no action arises; fraud never gives a right of action.  No court will 

lend its aid to a man who founds his cause of action upon an immoral or illegal 

act.” 

 

The Court made clear in the 1971 case of United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, that if 

defendants could show substantial prejudice to their defense created by a bad-faith prosecutor 

seeking delay, a due process challenge would be appropriate. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) A, D, F, H, and/or J for corresponding documentation 
 

Annotated 

 
Prior statement of assault victim to police officers which was inconsistent with victim's trial 

testimony could have been used substantively as well as for impeachment in prosecution for 
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assault with deadly weapon where victim testified at trial and was subject to cross-examination. 

State v. Acree, (1978) 121 Ariz. 94, 588 P.2d 836 

 

Where statements of witness constituted party admission under rules of evidence, it was not 

necessary to give witness opportunity to explain or deny prior statement which was offered for 

impeachment purposes. Lynn v. Helitec Corp. (App. Div.1 1984) 144 Ariz. 564, 698 P.2d 1283 

 

 9. Influencing a witness 

  Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-2802 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 
  13-2802. Influencing a witness; classification 

  A. A person commits influencing a witness if such person threatens a witness 

   or offers, confers or agrees to confer any benefit upon a witness in any  

   official proceeding or a person he believes may be called as a witness with 

   intent to: 

   1. Influence the testimony of that person; or 

   2. Induce that person to avoid legal process summoning him to testify; 

    or 

   3. Induce that person to absent himself from any official proceeding to 

    which he has been legally summoned. 

  B. Influencing a witness is a class 5 felony.  

 

   i) Detective Dalton is attempting to influence the witnesses, especially 

    other police officers by destroying their original notes and only  

    allowing them to use the notes that he entered into the computer  

    system after altering said notes. 

 

   ii) Prosecutor Charbel has influenced witnesses by having them read  

    the notes altered by Detective Dalton in an attempt to cause the  

    witnesses to question then change their own testimony to   

    correspond with Dalton’s altered version in the notes. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) D, F, H, and/or J for corresponding documentation 

 

Annotated 

 
Former § 13-289 (repealed; now this section and § 13-2804) was primarily designed to prevent the 

corrupt interference with the administration of justice, and its purpose was to go back as far as 

necessary and say, in effect, that any attempt to so influence prospective witnesses that the truth 

will not be presented in anticipated litigation is felonious.  State v. Ferraro, (1948) 67 Ariz. 397, 

198 P.2d 120.  

 

Elements of attempt to dissuade witness are intent to dissuade witness, and overt act in 

furtherance of that intent.  State v. Verive, (App. Div.1 1981) 128 Ariz. 570, 627 P.2d 721.  
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Reference in former § 13-289 (repealed; now this section and § 13-2804) to “person about to be 

called as a witness”, included all offers of bribes to any person in contemplation of his becoming a 

witness, and such anticipation was not affected as to its wrongfulness by fact that proceeding in 

which influenced testimony was to be given or withheld had not yet been filed.  State v. Ferraro, 

(1948) 67 Ariz. 397, 198 P.2d 120.  

 

A person who swore to a criminal complaint before a magistrate was a “person about to be called 

as a witness” within former § 13-289 (repealed; now this section and § 13-2804), and bribery of 

the person swearing to complaint constituted a felony; although defendant for whose benefit the 

bribe was offered subsequently waived preliminary hearing and pleaded guilty to criminal charge. 

State v. Ferraro, (1948) 67 Ariz. 397, 198 P.2d 120. 

 

State's plea agreement with co-defendant for manslaughter and first degree burglary in exchange 

for co-defendant's cooperation with investigation of capital murder defendant and testimony at 

defendant's trial did not violate statute that prohibits offering, conferring, or agreeing to confer 

any benefit upon a witness with the intent to influence the testimony of that person, as statute 

prohibited only conferring benefits in an attempt to influence testimony, not in order to obtain 

truthful testimony.  State v. Canez, (2002) 202 Ariz. 133, 42 P.3d 564, reconsideration denied , 

supplemented 205 Ariz. 620, 74 P.3d 932, certiorari denied 124 S.Ct. 1043, 540 U.S. 1141, 157 

L.Ed.2d 953.  

 

Letter written by prosecutor to Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) on behalf of state's 

witnesses in capital murder prosecution did not violate statute that prohibits offering, conferring, 

or agreeing to confer any benefit upon a witness with the intent to influence testimony of that 

person; record supported state's characterization of letter as a mere inquiry into witnesses' 

immigration status so that state could seek a deposition if there was risk of unavailability, and 

there was no evidence to suggest that state sought to keep witnesses in the country or to alter their 

treatment by INS.  State v. Canez, (2002) 202 Ariz. 133, 42 P.3d 564, reconsideration denied , 

supplemented 205 Ariz. 620, 74 P.3d 932, certiorari denied 124 S.Ct. 1043, 540 U.S. 1141, 157 

L.Ed.2d 953.  

 

Defendant was not denied a fair trial as a result of the prosecutor arranging favorable plea 

agreement with witness who testified against him where plea arrangement was admitted into 

evidence and jury was able to assess the credibility of the testimony.  State v. Dumaine, (1989) 

162 Ariz. 392, 783 P.2d 1184.  

 

Under former § 13-289 (repealed; now this section and 13-2804) two separate means of 

committing crime of “bribery” of a witness were set forth, under the first of which an 

understanding or agreement must be had, and under the second of which the bribery is 

accomplished by any other means fraudulently inducing a witness to give false or withhold true 

testimony, and under which there need be no meeting of the minds.  State v. Ferraro, (1948) 67 

Ariz. 397, 198 P.2d 120.  

  

10. Filing a false document 

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 39-161  
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 
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  39-161. Presentment of false instrument for filing; classification 

  A person who acknowledges, certifies, notarizes, procures or offers to be filed,  

  registered or recorded in a public office in this state an instrument he knows to be  

  false or forged, which, if genuine, could be filed, registered or recorded under any 

  law of this state or the United States, or in compliance with established procedure  

  is guilty of a class 6 felony.  As used in this section "instrument" includes a written 

  instrument as defined in section 13-2001. 

 

  A. Detective Dalton purposely altered witness statements that were entered  

   into the record then destroyed the hand written notes to hide his criminal  

   act. 

 

   i) Defendant was falsely imprisoned for eight (8) months for the crime 

    of filing a false document when his attorney’s entered a document  

    into evidence that the prosecution claimed was false, yet was true.  

    Detective Dalton and Prosecutor Charbel have filed a false   

    document by entering Dalton’s inaccurate notes into this court.  It is 

    inexcusable that this court would wrongfully imprison a man for his 

    attorney’s entering a true document into court, then allow a   

    detective and prosecutor enter a document they know is false into  

    the same court. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) A, H, and/or J for corresponding documentation 
 

Annotated 
 

Defendant who caused instrument which he knew contained false information to be placed in 

situation whereby the instrument would ultimately be recorded procured the instrument to be filed 

for purposes of this section making it a felony to knowingly procure or offer a false or forged 

instrument to be recorded, even though he did not file the instrument himself. State v. Edgar, 

(1979) 124 Ariz. 472, 605 P.2d 450.  Forgery.  

 

An application for security guard registration is an instrument within provision of this section 

relating to the presentment of a false instrument for filing.  Op.Atty.Gen., No. 78-167. 

 

In prosecution for filing in treasurer's office forged application for state loan, it is necessary for 

state to show that instrument was forged, that it was filed in office of state treasurer, that 

defendant knew of its falsity, and that he filed or caused it to be filed.  Lewis v. State, (1927) 32 

Ariz. 182, 256 P. 1048. 

 

Federal felony conviction for making false oath in bankruptcy proceeding could be used for 

impeachment of credibility.  State v. Daymus, (1961) 90 Ariz. 294, 367 P.2d 647.  

 

Where defendant prepared realty mortgage which he knew contained false information and then 

submitted it to people who he had reason to believe would accept and record it, fact that stranger 

to the transaction attempted cancellation of mortgage and defendant thought it had been cancelled 

could not constitute defense to charge of knowingly procuring or offering a false or forged 

instrument to be recorded.  State v. Edgar, (1979) 124 Ariz. 472, 605 P.2d 450.  
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In prosecution for filing in state treasurer's office forged application for loan of money from 

certain state funds, evidence concerning four other applications made about same time was 

admissible as tending to prove that defendant knew of falsity of application and caused it to be 

filed.  Lewis v. State, (1927) 32 Ariz. 182, 256 P. 1048.  

 

 11. Tampering with a public record; classification 

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2407 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

    due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 

 13-2407. Tampering with a public record; classification 

 A. A person commits tampering with a public record if, with the intent to  

  defraud or deceive, such person knowingly: 

  1. Makes or completes a written instrument, knowing that it has been  

   falsely made, which purports to be a public record or true copy  

   thereof or alters or makes a false entry in a written instrument which 

   is a public record or a true copy of a public record; or 

  2. Presents or uses a written instrument which is or purports to be a  

   public record or a copy of such public record, knowing that it has  

   been falsely made, completed or altered or that a false entry has  

   been made, with intent that it be taken as genuine; or 

  3. Records, registers or files or offers for recordation, registration or  

   filing in a governmental office or agency a written statement which 

   has been falsely made, completed or altered or in which a false entry 

   has been made or which contains a false statement or false   

   information; or 

  4. Destroys, mutilates, conceals, removes or otherwise impairs the  

   availability of any public record; or 

  5. Refuses to deliver a public record in such person's possession upon 

   proper request of a public servant entitled to receive such record for 

   examination or other purposes. 

 B. In this section "public record" means all official books, papers, written  

  instruments or records created, issued, received or kept by any   

  governmental office or agency or required by law to be kept by others for  

  the information of the government. 

 C. Tampering with a public record is a class 6 felony. 

  i) See previous section. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) A, D, F, H, and/or I for corresponding documentation 
 

 12. Obstructing a criminal investigation  

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2409 
    (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

     due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

  13-2409. Obstructing criminal investigations or prosecutions; classification 

  A person who knowingly attempts by means of bribery, misrepresentation,  

  intimidation or force or threats of force to obstruct, delay or prevent the   
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  communication of information or testimony relating to a violation of any criminal  

  statute to a peace officer, magistrate,  prosecutor or grand jury or who knowingly  

  injures another in his person or property on  account of the giving by the latter or  

  by any other person of any such information or testimony to a peace officer,  

  magistrate, prosecutor or grand jury is guilty of a class 5 felony, except that it is a  

  class 3 felony if the person commits the offense with the intent to promote, further 

  or assist a criminal street gang.  Mrs Beasley made several false statements to  

  police, see section on 13-2907.01. 

 

  A. Detective Dalton lied to two (2) grand juries to fraudulently obtain an  

   indictment against Defendant. 

 

  B. Detective Dalton destroyed original notes made by himself and other  

   officers. 

 

  C. Prosecutor Charbel attempted to coerce Defendant’s ex-wife’s ex-boyfriend 

   to charge Defendant’s ex-wife with a crime to intimidate Defendant’s ex- 

   wife into changing her testimony.  

 

  D. On October 29, 2009 in open court the stand-in prosecutor attempted to  

   charge attorney Michael Kielsky with harassing the victims, without cause, 

   as she saw said attorney, a friend of Defendant who was there only to watch 

   the hearing as he had heard how corrupt the hearings have been, in an  

   attempt to intimidate said attorney.  

 

See: Exhibit(s) A, D, F, H, and/or I for corresponding documentation 
 

 13. Perjury by inconsistent statements 

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2705 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 

  13-2705. Perjury by inconsistent statements 

  When a person has made inconsistent statements under oath, both having 

  been made within the period of the statute of limitations, the prosecution 

  may proceed by setting forth the inconsistent statements in a single charge  

  alleging in the alternative that one or the other was false and not believed by  

  the defendant. In such case it shall not be necessary for the prosecution to 

  prove which statement was false but only that one or the other was false and  

  not believed by the defendant to be true.  

 

  A. Detective Shearer accused Defendant of being a “radical” and/or a   

   “terrorist” for the single fact that Defendant had certified copies from the  

   National Archive of the United States Constitution and the Declaration of  

   Independence in his personal vehicle when arrested. (It should be noted  

   Defendant also had a Bible as Defendant had just completed a class on  

   Constitutional and Torah Law).  Detective Shearer has taken an oath to  

   protect the Constitution and in so accusing Defendant of crimes for having 
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   a copy of the Constitution is Shearer’s admittance to knowingly violating  

   his oath.  One cannot swear to support a document then charge another as a 

   criminal for supporting the same document without committing perjury.  

   Oath 

   “I do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitutions  

    of the United States and of the State of Arizona…” 

 
  B. Detective Dalton rewrote witness statements before entering incorrect  

   versions thereof into the computer record and then destroying the originals 

   to hide his crime.  This is evidenced by witnesses claiming the computer  

   record is contains inaccurate statements and/or inaccurate versions of their 

   statements. 

 

  D. See section on 13-2907.01 for perjury by Mrs. Beasley. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) A, D, F, H, and/or I for corresponding documentation 
 

Annotated 
 

The probative value of prior inconsistent statement to police officer by witness, who was allegedly 

racing defendant, regarding how fast witness's car was going when defendant's car was involved 

in fatal accident outweighed any prejudicial effect to defendant, and thus, statement to officer was 

admissible for impeachment purposes, where witness acknowledged discussing his driving speed 

with officer, officer did not have an interest in the outcome of the trial, and impeachment 

testimony offered by officer was not the sole evidence of defendant's guilt.  State v. Sucharew, 

(App. Div.1 2003) 205 Ariz. 16, 66 P.3d 59, redesignated as opinion, review denied.  

 

To determine whether the probative value of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness, which is 

being used for impeachment, outweighs its prejudicial effect, the court considers five factors to 

assess the danger of unfair prejudice: (1) whether the witness being impeached denies making the 

impeaching statement; and (2) whether the witness presenting the impeaching statement has an 

interest in the proceeding and there is no other corroboration that the statement was made; or (3) 

whether there are other factors affecting the reliability of the impeaching witness, such as age or 

mental capacity; (4) whether the true purpose of the offer is substantive use of the statement rather 

than impeachment of the witness; and (5) whether the impeachment testimony is the only 

evidence of guilt.  State v. Sucharew, (App. Div.1 2003) 205 Ariz. 16, 66 P.3d 59, redesignated as 

opinion, review denied. 

Prior inconsistent statements are admissible for purpose of impeaching witness credibility. 

Hernandez v. State, (App. Div.1 2001) 201 Ariz. 336, 35 P.3d 97, review granted in part , vacated 

203 Ariz. 196, 52 P.3d 765.  

 

In action by park visitor for injuries suffered in fall from retaining wall in state park, trial court did 

not abuse its discretion in admitting visitor's notice of claim to impeach his trial testimony; 

visitor's testimony that there had been no trail on hill above lake marina conflicted with his 

statement in notice of claim that there was trail leading to marina.  Hernandez v. State, (App. 

Div.1 2001) 201 Ariz. 336, 35 P.3d 97, review granted in part, vacated 203 Ariz. 196, 52 P.3d 

765. 
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Refusing to permit defense counsel to impeach state's witness with tape recording of prior 

inconsistent statement that had been recorded by defense counsel was not error in murder 

prosecution, where defense counsel was able to have witness read prior statement to court.  State 

v. Mauro, (1988) 159 Ariz. 186, 766 P.2d 59. 

 

In prosecution for first-degree murder and armed robbery, trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

precluding defendant from playing tape-recorded statement of state witness for impeachment 

purposes, where witness acknowledged all prior inconsistencies while testifying, inconsistencies 

were patent, and witness was impeached severely on other grounds.  State v. Woods, (1984) 141 

Ariz. 446, 687 P.2d 1201, dismissal of habeas corpus affirmed 990 F.2d 1266.  Cruz, 128 Ariz. 

538, 627 P.2d 689, did not preclude impeachment of defendant's 12-year-old cousin by use of 

prior inconsistent statement of the cousin wherein cousin indicated that defendant had threatened 

to kill his parents and had planned a robbery, as reliability of the prior statements did not require 

resolution of a swearing contest in that cousin admitted making the prior statements, which he 

subsequently recanted.  State v. Druke, (App. Div.2 1982) 132 Ariz. 126, 644 P.2d 280. 

 

This rule requires that witness be allowed to explain alleged prior inconsistent statement and that 

opposite party be permitted to interrogate him; either or both of these requirements can be 

dispensed with only if justice so requires, and minimum compliance with rule requires that party 

which intends to introduce impeaching statement inform court so that opposing party may keep 

witness available to explain.  State v. Emery, (1982) 131 Ariz. 493, 642 P.2d 838.  

 

Despite witness' trial testimony that investigator for public defender called him but “she came on 

so strong” he didn't talk to her, testimony of investigator that witness had told her that he had to 

check with somebody about whether he was going to talk with her was properly excluded since 

the statement did not directly, substantially and materially contradict testimony of the witness and 

therefore was not admissible as a prior inconsistent statement.  State v. Navallez, (App. Div.2 

1981) 131 Ariz. 172, 639 P.2d 362. 

 

If prior inconsistent statements are material, evidence of such statements may be introduced if 

witness on cross-examination denies making the statements, claims no recollection of the 

statements, or equivocates regarding his making the statements.  State v. Allen, (1977) 117 Ariz. 

168, 571 P.2d 665. 

 

Physician's report in hospital records is admissible to impeach physician if he has signed the 

report and it contradicts his testimony, and if he is first asked whether he did, at the time of the 

report, make statements differing from his testimony at the trial.  Miller v. Schafer, (1967) 102 

Ariz. 457, 432 P.2d 585. 

 

Where a witness, who testified that she was present when an altercation between defendant and 

the prosecuting witness began, and, becoming frightened, ran out of the room, whereupon there 

was a noise like a shot, but that she did not see defendant have a gun, was asked, on cross-

examination, whether she had said, immediately after leaving the room, and on hearing the shot, 

that defendant had killed the prosecuting witness, evidence was admissible to prove that she had 

made the statement since it tended to contradict her statement that she had not seen a gun, and to 

show that defendant was the aggressor.  Tamborino v. Territory, (Ariz.Terr. 1900) 7 Ariz. 194, 62 

P. 693, affirmed 7 Ariz. 246, 64 P. 492. 
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Prosecutor was permitted to use transcript of witness' interview with police about alleged threats 

defendant made against witness to refresh witness' recollection, in trial for threatening and 

intimidating and other crimes, after wit 

 

 14. Tampering with a witness 

   Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 13-2804 
   (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

   due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 

  13-2804. Tampering with a witness; classification 

  A. A person commits tampering with a witness if such person knowingly  

   induces a witness in any official proceeding or a person he believes may be 

   called as a witness to: 

   1. Unlawfully withhold any testimony; or 

   2. Testify falsely; or 

   3. Absent himself from any official proceeding to which he has been  

    legally summoned. 

  B. Tampering with a witness is a class 6 felony. 

 
   i) Prosecutor Charbel has spoken to Shawn Harris, the ex-boyfriend of 

    Defendant’s ex-wife, Cindy Cantrell, and has NEVER notified the  

    defense of this interview.  Charbel attempted to coerce Harris into  

    bringing charges against Cantrell so as to intimidate Cantrell into  

    changing her testimony and/or prosecuting Cantrell fraudulently  

    Cantrell as punishment for not assisting the prosecution. Charbel  

    told Harris she could use her connections to get the county to  

    prosecute Cantrell for anything as long as Harris would charge  

    Cantrell with something. 

 

See: Exhibit(s) A, D, F, H, and/or I for corresponding documentation 
 
 15. Failure of Medical Examiner to conduct test 

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 11-594(a)(2) 
    (The only remedy for this violation in this case due to the 

    due process violation it caused is dismissal with prejudice) 

 

  11-594. Powers and duties of county medical examiner 

 

  A. The county medical examiner or alternate medical examiner shall direct a  

   death investigation, shall determine whether an external examination or  

   autopsy is required and shall: 

   2. Certify to the cause and manner of death following completion of  

    the death investigation, unless the medical examiner or alternate  

    medical examiner determines there is no jurisdiction pursuant to  

    section 11-593, reduce the findings to writing and promptly make 

    a full report on forms prescribed for that purpose. (Emphasis  

    added) 
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    i) M.E did not test stomach and bladder contents for alcohol  

     even though the decedent had a B.A.C. of .019, purposely  

     not testing to see if the additional 900 ml of fluid is or is not 

     alcohol cannot constitute a “full report” as required by the  

     Statute.  

 
    ii) M.E did not test the hair for use of LSD and/or acid even  

     though the decedent was a known LSD and acid user,  

     purposely not testing to see if the decedent had used LSD  

     and/or acid recently cannot constitute a “full report” as  

     required by the Statute. 

 

  B. M.E did not list the contents of the inhaler even though the M.E. would be 

   well aware that mixing a steroid inhaler with such high quantity of alcohol 

   is known to make men dangerously aggressive and abnormally strong,  

   purposely not testing to see if the inhaler was a steroid inhaler cannot  

   constitute a “full report” as required by the Statute. 

 

See: Autopsy report for corresponding documentation 
 

 16. Decedent’s wife made several false statements to law enforcement yet has not 

  been charged accordingly 

   Arizona Revised Statutes § 13-2907.01 
 

  3-2907.01. False reporting to law enforcement agencies; classification 

  A. It is unlawful for a person to knowingly make to a law enforcement agency 

   of either this state or a political subdivision of this state a false, fraudulent  

   or unfounded report or statement or to knowingly misrepresent a fact for  

   the purpose of interfering with the orderly operation of a law enforcement  

   agency or misleading a peace officer. 

  B. Violation of this section is a class 1 misdemeanor. 

 

  A. Decedent’s wife, Mrs. Beasley made several false statements to the police  

   and then made statements contradicting those statements to the media. 

   i) Mrs. Beasley stated to the police that Mr. Beasley did not do  

    anything after Defendant passed them and did not “flash the high  

    beams,” yet Mrs. Beasley stated in a television interview with the  

    press that her husband did “flash the high beams”; and 

   ii) Mrs. Beasley stated to the police that Mr. Beasley did not start the  

    assault yet Mrs. Beasley stated in a television interview with the  

    press that her “husband sees red” which may only mean he has a  

    temper and was an acknowledgement that he did start the attack;  

    and 

   iii) Mrs. Beasley stated to the police that Mr. Beasley and her only had 

    “1½ Jack and Cokes,” yet the autopsy revealed that Mr. Beasley had 

    approximately 12 Jack and Cokes and a B.A.C. of 0.19, and  

    according to the police, Mrs. Beasley was “very intoxicated.” 
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  B. Mrs. Beasley claimed that the decedent did not attack Defendant yet several 

   witness that have not yet lied to the police as it is known Mrs. Beasley has, 

   stated that Mr. Beasley did in fact attack Defendant and even attempt “to  

   pull him out of his window by the neck.” 

 

  C. Mrs. Beasley has not been interrogated by the defense because of the  

   protection granted to her under false pretense by the prosecution as a  

   “victim” when in fact Mrs. Beasley is not a victim she is an accessory to  

   kidnapping and attempted murder and is in fact liable under the “felony  

   murder rule.” 

 

  D. Mrs. Beasley has committed several acts of “false statements to police” and 

   the Prosecutor has refused to charge her with such as it would harm the  

   Prosecutor’s fraudulent and unfounded case against Defendant. 

 

Annotated 

 
If prior inconsistent statements are material, evidence of such statements may be introduced if 

witness on cross-examination denies making the statements, claims no recollection of the 

statements, or equivocates regarding his making the statements.  State v. Allen, (1977) 117 Ariz. 

168, 571 P.2d 665. 

 

Physician's report in hospital records is admissible to impeach physician if he has signed the 

report and it contradicts his testimony, and if he is first asked whether he did, at the time of the 

report, make statements differing from his testimony at the trial.  Miller v. Schafer, (1967) 102 

Ariz. 457, 432 P.2d 585.  

 

Where a witness, who testified that she was present when an altercation between defendant and 

the prosecuting witness began, and, becoming frightened, ran out of the room, whereupon there 

was a noise like a shot, but that she did not see defendant have a gun, was asked, on cross-

examination, whether she had said, immediately after leaving the room, and on hearing the shot, 

that defendant had killed the prosecuting witness, evidence was admissible to prove that she had 

made the statement since it tended to contradict her statement that she had not seen a gun, and to 

show that defendant was the aggressor.  Tamborino v. Territory, (Ariz.Terr. 1900) 7 Ariz. 194, 62 

P. 693, affirmed 7 Ariz. 246, 64 P. 492.  

 

 17. Investigating Officers chose to Investigate a Subject and not the Crime 

   Arizona Revised Statutes  
 

  A. At no time did the officers investigate ANY other person and/or any other  

   possibility.  There were two (2) people in Defendant’s vehicle and   

   Defendant’s eye was injured at the time of arrest. The witnesses could only 

   see outside of the vehicle, not inside and the decedent was shot while inside 

   Defendant’s vehicle, yet Defendant was the only person tested for GSR.  

   There is no viable reason during an investigation to conclude that one  

   person could have committed an act and another person less than one foot  

   away could not have committed the act. Detective Dalton asserts that he  

   only investigated Defendant because the witnesses said Defendant shot the 
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   decedent, yet that is not what the witnesses said until after Dalton re-wrote 

   the notes and destroyed the originals then showed the re-written notes to the 

   witnesses. Original the witnesses only saw the decedent shot, they only  

   guessed it was by Defendant as they could not see into the vehicle.  

 

X. ARIZONA RULES OF EVIDENCE VIOLATED BY THE STATE 
 
 1. Prosecution cannot ignore these Rules to gain false conviction  

   Arizona Rules of Evidence Rule 102 

 
 Rule 102. Purpose and Construction. 

 These rules shall be construed to secure fairness in administration, 

 elimination of unjustifiable expense and delay, and the promotion of growth 

 and development of the law of evidence to the end that the truth may be 

 ascertained and proceedings justly determined. 
 
  A. The Prosecution, Detective(s), and other State agents have purposely  

   ignored and/or destroyed and/or prevented collecting exculpatory evidence 

   even when said evidence was Ordered by a Warrant to be collected.  

 

 2. Prosecution cannot use retreat as evidence of guilt  

   Arizona Rules of Evidence Rule 407 

 
 Rule 407. Subsequent Remedial Measures 

 When, after an event, measures are taken, which if taken previously, would 

 have made the event less likely to occur, evidence of the subsequent 

 measures is not admissible to prove negligence or culpable conduct in 

 connection with the event.  This rule does not require the exclusion of 

 evidence of subsequent measures when offered for another purpose, such as 

 proving ownership, control, or feasibility of precautionary measures, if 

 controverted, or impeachment. 
 
  A. The prosecution cannot use the fact Defendant retreated after the incident to 
   claim negligence or culpable conduct in connection with the event. 
 
Annotated 

 
If a husband sees another man trying to get into his wife’s room window at night is it natural for 

him to investigate further [YES]; Is the husband under a duty to retreat when attacked with a knife 

under such circumstances [NO]; May the husband use only as much force as is necessary to repel 

the assault [YES]; If in an ensuing confrontation the husband shoots and kills the other man, then 

flees, must his flight in and of itself be seen as evidence of his guilt [NO]. Alberty v. United States 

• Ð; 1896; 162 U.S. 499; 231 

 

Are words alone sufficient provocation to justify an assault [NO]; Are words alone sufficient to 

reduce murder to manslaughter [NO]; Can premeditation and intent to kill be determined from 

your actions [YES]; Although flight after a possibly criminal event may suggest guilt, does it 

prove it conclusively [NO]. Allen v. United States • Ð; 1896; 164 U.S. 492; 241 
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If trial court concludes that factors of undue prejudice, confusion of issues, misleading jury or 

waste of time outweigh probative value of evidence of remedial measures, evidence may be 

excluded. Hallmark v. Allied Products Corp. (App. Div.1 1982) 132 Ariz. 434, 646 P.2d 319. 

 
Remedial measure evidence regarding the state's acts in installing a truck-crossing sign and a 

variable message board to warn motorists that trucks would be crossing or entering at intersection, 

was not admissible to prove the state's knowledge and recognition of dangerous conditions and to 

rebut the state's argument of safety. Johnson v. State ex rel. Dept. of Transp. (App. Div.1 2009) 

2009 WL 1709051. 

 

 3. Mrs. Beasley’s testimony has changed repeatedly 

   Arizona Rules of Evidence Rule 613 

 
Rule 613. Prior Statements of Witnesses 

(a) Examining witness concerning prior statement. In examining a witness 

concerning a prior statement made by the witness, whether written or not, the 

statement need not be shown nor its contents disclosed to the witness at that time, 

but on request the same shall be shown or disclosed to opposing counsel. 

(b) Extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statement of witness. Extrinsic 

evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless 

the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same and the 

opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate the witness thereon, or the 

interests of justice otherwise require. This provision does not apply to admissions 

of a party-opponent as defined in Rule 801(d)(2). 

 
  A. Decedent’s wife, Mrs. Beasley made several false statements to the police  

   and then made statements contradicting those statements to the media. 

   i) Mrs. Beasley stated to the police that Mr. Beasley did not do  

    anything after Defendant passed them and did not “flash the high  

    beams”, yet Mrs. Beasley stated in a television interview with the  

    press that her husband did “flash the high beams”; and 

   ii) Mrs. Beasley stated to the police that Mr. Beasley did not start the  

    assault yet Mrs. Beasley stated in a television interview with the  

    press that her “husband sees red” which may only mean he has a  

    temper and was an acknowledgement that he did start the attack;  

    and 

   iii) Mrs. Beasley stated to the police that Mr. Beasley and her only had 

    “1½ Jack and Cokes”, yet the autopsy revealed that Mr. Beasley had  

    approximately 12 Jack and Cokes and a B.A.C. of 0.19, and  

    according to the police, Mrs. Beasley was “very intoxicated.” 

 

  B. Mrs. Beasley claimed that the decedent did not attack Defendant yet several 

   witness that have not yet lied to the police as it is known Mrs. Beasley has, 

   stated that Mr. Beasley did in fact attack Defendant and even attempt “to  

   pull him out of his window by the neck.” 

 

  C. Mrs. Beasley has not been interrogated by the defense because of the  

   protection granted to her under false pretense by the prosecution as a  
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   “victim” when in fact Mrs. Beasley is not a victim she is an accessory to  

   kidnapping and attempted murder and is in fact liable under the “felony  

   murder rule.” 

 

  D. Mrs. Beasley has committed several acts of “false statements to police” and 

   the Prosecutor has refused to charge her with such as it would harm the  

   Prosecutor’s fraudulent and unfounded case against Defendant. 

 

                                      ADDITIONAL FACTS 

 

XI.      Self-defense and justification precedents: 

 
Bailey v. United States, 1995; 516 U.S. 137; 542 

Can the sentence for a drug offense be increased for using a gun, if the defendant possessed a gun 

at the time of the offense but did not actively employ it [NO]; Is the “inert presence of a firearm” 

sufficient to indicate “use” for the purpose of enhancing certain drug offenses [NO]; Does storing 

a gun with drugs or drug money constitute “use” for this purpose [NO]; Does hiding a gun where 

it can be grabbed and used if necessary constitute use [NO]; If the gun is not disclosed or 

mentioned is it used [NO]. 

 

Beard v. United States, 1895; 158 U.S. 550; 208 

Can you stand your ground with a shotgun against an unprovoked armed attack on your property 

near your home [YES]; Is there a greater duty to retreat on your own property than in your house 

[NO]. 

 

Brown v. United States, 1921; 256 U.S. 335; 285 

Is there a duty to retreat when attacked by a man with a knife [NO]; Believing you’re in a mortal 

conflict, if you fire a shot in the heat of combat, which in cool reflection later may be seen as 

unnecessary, may you still be acquitted on grounds of self defense [YES]; Is your right of self 

defense roughly similar in your home, on your land, and at your work [YES]; Can detached 

reflection be demanded in the presence of an uplifted knife [NO]. 

 

Cummings v. Missouri, 1866; 71 U.S. 277; 158 

Is deprivation or suspension of a person’s civil rights, including the right to bear arms, a form of 

punishment [YES]. 

 

Duncan v. Louisiana, 1968; 391 U.S. 145; 333 

Is the right to keep and bear arms one of the personal rights guaranteed and secured by the first 

eight amendments of the Constitution [YES]. 

 

Gourko v. United States,  1894; 153 U.S. 183; 189 

If you shoot someone who has repeatedly threatened you, and the circumstances of the shooting 

are not found to be justifiable as self defense, does the fact that you armed yourself in response to 

the threat automatically make the shooting murder (as opposed to manslaughter) [NO]. 

 

Griswold v. Connecticut, 1965; 381 U.S. 479; 322 

Do the first eight amendments to the Constitution protect fundamental rights of the people [YES]. 
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Logan v. United States, 1892; 144 U.S. 263; 180 

Does the 2nd Amendment guarantee a preexisting right recognized by the Constitution, and not a 

right created by the Constitution [YES]; Is a prisoner in legal custody entitled to protection “while 

he is deprived of the ordinary means of defending and protecting himself” [YES]. 

Moore v. E. Cleveland, 1976; 431 U.S. 494; 390 

Is the right to keep and bear arms among the type of individual rights enumerated in the Bill of 

Rights [YES]. 

 

Rowe v. United States, 1896; 164 U.S. 546; 247 

If a man is provoked into making a minor assault on someone, and then backs off in good faith, is 

his right to self defense restored if the person he assaulted attacks him with a deadly weapon? 

[YES]; Is he required to retreat under such circumstances [NO]; Is he under an obligation to try to 

only wound an attacker when fighting for his life [NO]; Can either party in a mutual combat claim 

self defense [NO]. 

 

Tennessee v. Garner, 1985; 471 U.S. 1; 428 

Is the use of deadly force by police to prevent the escape of all felony suspects constitutionally 

unreasonable [YES]; Is the use of deadly force by a police officer permissible under the 4th 

Amendment, if necessary to prevent the escape of a felony suspect who threatens the officer with 

a weapon, or if there is probable cause to believe that the suspect has committed a crime involving 

the infliction or threatened infliction of serious physical harm, if, where feasible, some warning 

has been given [YES]. 

 

Thompson v. United States, 1894 ; 155 U.S. 271; 203 

Does arming yourself after being threatened, and then traveling the only road in the area where 

you know your adversary may be, turn a subsequent shooting of the adversary during a 

confrontation into murder? [NO]; Is arming yourself for legitimate self defense premeditation 

[NO]. 

 

Verdugo-Urquidez, United States v., 1990; 494 U.S. 259; 444 

Does the phrase “the people” used in the 2nd Amendment refer to individual members of the 

American society, the same as it does in the Constitution’s preamble, and its 1st, 4th, 9th and 10th 

Amendments [YES]; Does the 2nd Amendment protect “the right of the people to keep and bear 

arms.” [YES]. 

 

 

XII.        Orville Thomas Beasley’s FELONIES 
 

Mr. Beasley was in the act of committing, and Mrs. Beasley was an accessory to, at the very least: 

       1 class 2 felony 

2 class 3 felonies 

5 class 6 felonies 

1 class 1 misdemeanor 

1 class 3 misdemeanor 

Beasley’s crimes included: kidnapping, unlawful imprisonment, aggravated assault, assault

 D.U.I., endangerment, threatening and intimidating, resisting arrest and others. 
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1. D.U.I.  
 

  A. 28-1381. Driving or actual physical control while under the influence; trial 

   by jury; presumptions; admissible evidence; sentencing; classification 

   A. It is unlawful for a person to drive or be in actual physical control of 

    a vehicle in this state under any of the following circumstances: 

    1. While under the influence of intoxicating liquor, any drug, a 

     vapor releasing substance containing a toxic substance or  

     any combination of liquor, drugs or vapor releasing   

     substances if the person is impaired to the slightest degree. 

    2. If the person has an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or more  

     within two hours of driving or being in actual physical  

     control of the vehicle and the alcohol concentration results  

     from alcohol consumed either before or while driving or  

     being in actual physical control of the vehicle…….. 

    3. If there was at that time 0.08 or more alcohol concentration  

     in the defendant's blood, breath or other bodily substance, it 

     may be presumed that the defendant was under the influence 

     of intoxicating liquor. 

 
  B. 28-1382. Driving or actual physical control while under the extreme  

   influence of intoxicating liquor; trial by jury; sentencing; classification 

   A. It is unlawful for a person to drive or be in actual physical control of 

    a vehicle in this state if the person has an alcohol concentration as  

    follows within two hours of driving or being in actual physical  

    control of the vehicle and the alcohol concentration results from  

    alcohol consumed either before or while driving or being in actual  

    physical control of the vehicle: 

    1.  0.15 or more but less than 0.20. 

     2. 0.20 or more. 

   B. A person who is convicted of a violation of this section is guilty of  

    driving or being in actual physical control of a vehicle while under  

    the extreme influence of intoxicating liquor. 

    A person who is convicted of a violation of this section is guilty of a 

    class 1 misdemeanor.  

 

Beasley had a B.A.C. of .19 which means he drank 15.25 ounces of 

whiskey within the previous 2.5 hours to the incident. He also had in his 

possession a “steroid inhaler”.  Use of steroid inhalers with large 

amounts of alcohol is considered highly dangerous and is known to 

cause “roid rage.” 

 

 2. Endangerment 
 

  A. 13-1201. Endangerment; classification 

   A. A person commits endangerment by recklessly endangering another 

    person with a substantial risk of imminent death or physical  

    injury. 
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   B. Endangerment involving a substantial risk of imminent death is a  

    class 6 felony. In all other cases, it is a class 1 misdemeanor.  

   
B. 13-1202. Threatening or intimidating; classification 

   A. A person commits threatening or intimidating if the person threatens 

    or intimidates by word or conduct: 

    1. To cause physical injury to another person or serious  

     damage to the property of another; or 

    2. To cause, or in reckless disregard to causing, serious public 

     inconvenience including, but not limited to, evacuation of a 

     building, place of assembly or transportation facility; or 

   B. Threatening or intimidating pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 3 is 

    a class 3 felony.  

 
  C. 13-1203. Assault; classification 

   A. A person commits assault by: 

    1. Intentionally, knowingly or recklessly causing any physical 

     injury to another person; or 

    2. Intentionally placing another person in reasonable   

     apprehension of imminent physical injury; or 

    3. Knowingly touching another person with the intent to injure, 

     insult or provoke such person. 

   B. Assault committed intentionally or knowingly pursuant to   

    subsection A, paragraph 1 is a class 1 misdemeanor. Assault  

    committed recklessly pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 1 or  

    assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 2 is a class 2   

    misdemeanor. Assault committed pursuant to subsection A,  

    paragraph 3 is a class 3 misdemeanor.  

 

  D. 13-1204. Aggravated assault; classification; definition 

   A. A person commits aggravated assault if the person commits assault 

    as prescribed by section 13-1203 under any of the following  

    circumstances: 

    3. If the person commits the assault by any means of force that 

     causes temporary but substantial disfigurement, temporary 

     but substantial loss or impairment of any body organ or 

     part or a fracture of any body part. 
    4. If the person commits the assault while the victim is bound 

     or otherwise physically restrained or while the victim's  

     capacity to resist is substantially impaired. 

    5. If the person commits the assault after entering the private 

     home of another with the intent to commit the assault. 
    9. If the person knowingly takes or attempts to exercise control 

     ver any of the following: 

     (a) A peace officer's or other officer's firearm and the 

      person knows or has reason to know that the victim  

      is a peace officer or other officer employed by one of 

      the agencies listed in paragraph 10, subdivision (a),  
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      item (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) of this subsection and is 

      engaged in the execution of any official duties.  

   B. Except pursuant to subsections C and D of this section, aggravated  

    assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 1 or 2 or paragraph 9,  

    subdivision (a) of this section is a class 3 felony  

 

Beasley gouged Stuart’s eyes, strangled Stuart, attempted to pull 

Stuart from Stuart’s vehicle, prevented Stuart from leaving 

Stuart’s vehicle, etc, all in an attempt to seriously injure or kill 

Stuart all while Stuart was still seat belted (restrained).  

Strangling someone and/or gouging their eyes can only be 

defined as attempts to permanently injure and/or kill.  He did 

attempt to enter Stuart’s vehicle which is also a “second home” 

to Stuart as it had food, water, toilet facilities, etc, and was built 

per Stuart’s design as a survival home in case of emergency.  

Beasley did attempt to take control of Stuart’s firearm at which 

time Stuart told him he was under arrest. 

 

 3. Unlawful imprisonment and Kidnapping 
 

  A. 13-1301. Definitions 

   In this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 

   2. "Restrain" means to restrict a person's movements without  

    consent, without legal authority, and in a manner which interferes  

    substantially with such person's liberty, by either moving such  

    person from one place to another or by confining such person.  

    Restraint is without consent if it is accomplished by: 

    (a) Physical force, intimidation or deception;  

 

  B. 13-1303. Unlawful imprisonment; classification 

   A. A person commits unlawful imprisonment by knowingly   

    restraining another person. 

   C. Unlawful imprisonment is a class 6 felony unless the victim is  

    released voluntarily by the defendant without physical injury in a  

    safe place prior to arrest in which case it is a class 1 misdemeanor.  

  C. 13-1304. Kidnapping; classification; consecutive sentence 

   A. A person commits kidnapping by knowingly restraining another  

    person with the intent to: 

    3. Inflict death, physical injury or a sexual offense on the  

     victim, or to otherwise aid in the commission of a felony; or 

    4. Place the victim or a third person in reasonable   

     apprehension of imminent physical injury to the victim  

     or the third person; or 
    5. Interfere with the performance of a governmental or  

     political function; or 

    6. Seize or exercise control over any airplane, train, bus, ship  

     or other vehicle. 
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   B. Kidnapping is a class 2 felony unless the victim is released   

    voluntarily by the defendant  

 

 4. Criminal trespass 
 

  13-1504. Criminal trespass in the first degree; classification 

  A. A person commits criminal trespass in the first degree by knowingly: 

   5. Entering or remaining unlawfully on the property of another and  

    burning, defacing, mutilating or otherwise desecrating a religious  

    symbol or other religious property of another without the express  

    permission of the owner of the property. 

   6. Entering or remaining unlawfully in or on a critical public service  

    facility. 

  B. Criminal trespass in the first degree under subsection A, paragraph 1, 5 or 6 

   is a class 6 felony.  

 

 5. Criminal damage 
 

  13-1602. Criminal damage; classification 

  A. A person commits criminal damage by recklessly: 

   1. Defacing or damaging property of another person; or 

   2. Tampering with property of another person so as substantially  

    to impair its function or value; or 
  B. Criminal damage is punished as follows: 

   3. Criminal damage is a class 6 felony if the person recklessly  

    damages property of another in an amount of more than two  

    hundred fifty dollars but less than two thousand dollars. 

 

 6. Resisting arrest 

 
  13-2508. Resisting arrest; classification 

  A. A person commits resisting arrest by intentionally preventing or attempting 

   to prevent a person reasonably known to him to be a peace officer, acting 

   under color of such peace officer's official authority, from effecting an  

   arrest by: 

   1. Using or threatening to use physical force against the peace officer  

    or another; or 

   2. Using any other means creating a substantial risk of causing  

    physical injury to the peace officer or another. 

  B. Resisting arrest is a class 6 felony. 

 

XIII.        JUSTIFICATION under Arizona Law 
 

  13-404. Justification; self-defense 

  A. Except as provided in subsection B of this section, a person is justified in  

   threatening or using physical force against another when and to the extent a 

   reasonable person would believe that physical force is immediately  
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   necessary to protect himself against the other's use or attempted use of  

   unlawful physical force. 

 
  13-405. Justification; use of deadly physical force 

  A person is justified in threatening or using deadly physical force against another: 

   1. If such person would be justified in threatening or using physical 

    force against the other under section 13-404, and 

   2. When and to the degree a reasonable person would believe that  

    deadly physical force is immediately necessary to protect  

    himself against the other's use or attempted use of unlawful  

    deadly physical force.  
 

  13-406. Justification; defense of a third person 

  A person is justified in threatening or using physical force or deadly physical force 

  against another to protect a third person if: 

   1. Under the circumstances as a reasonable person would believe them 

    to be, such person would be justified under section 13-404 or 13- 

    405 in threatening or using physical force or deadly physical force 

    to protect himself against the unlawful physical force or deadly  

    physical force a reasonable person would believe is threatening the 

    third person he seeks to protect; and 

   2. A reasonable person would believe that such person's intervention 

    is immediately necessary to protect the third person.  

 
  13-407. Justification; use of physical force in defense of premises 

  A. A person or his agent in lawful possession or control of premises is justified 

   in threatening to use deadly physical force or in threatening or using  

   physical force against another when and to the extent that a reasonable  

   person would believe it immediately necessary to prevent or terminate the  

   commission or attempted commission of a criminal trespass by the other  

   person in or upon the premises. 

  B. A person may use deadly physical force under subsection A only in the  

   defense of himself or third persons as described in sections 13-405 and 13- 

   406. 

  C. In this section, "premises" means any real property and any structure, 

   movable or immovable, permanent or temporary, adapted for both  

   human residence and lodging whether occupied or not.  

 
  13-408. Justification; use of physical force in defense of property 

  A person is justified in using physical force against another when and to the extent 

  that a reasonable person would believe it necessary to prevent what a reasonable  

  person would believe is an attempt or commission by the other person of theft or  

  criminal damage involving tangible movable property under his possession or  

  control, but such person may use deadly physical force under these circumstances  

  as provided in sections 13-405, 13-406 and 13-411.  

 
  13-409. Justification; use of physical force in law enforcement 
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  A person is justified in threatening or using physical force against another if  

  in making or assisting in making an arrest or detention or in preventing or  

  assisting in preventing the escape after arrest or detention of that other  

  person, such person uses or threatens to use physical force and all of the  

  following exist: 
  1. A reasonable person would believe that such force is immediately   

   necessary to effect the arrest or detention or prevent the escape. 

  2. Such person makes known the purpose of the arrest or detention or believes 

   that it is otherwise known or cannot reasonably be made known to the  

   person to be arrested or detained. 

  3. A reasonable person would believe the arrest or detention to be lawful.  

 
  13-410. Justification; use of deadly physical force in law enforcement 

  A. The threatened use of deadly physical force by a person against another is  

   justified pursuant to section 13-409 only if a reasonable person effecting the 

   arrest or preventing the escape would believe the suspect or escapee is: 

   1. Actually resisting the discharge of a legal duty with deadly physical 

    force or with the apparent capacity to use deadly physical force; or 

   2. A felon who has escaped from lawful confinement; or 

   3. A felon who is fleeing from justice or resisting arrest with physical 

    force. 

  B. The use of deadly physical force by a person other than a peace officer  

   against another is justified pursuant to section 13-409 only if a reasonable  

   person effecting the arrest or preventing the escape would believe the  

   suspect or escapee is actually resisting the discharge of a legal duty with  

   physical force or with the apparent capacity to use deadly physical force. 

  C. The use of deadly force by a peace officer against another is justified  

   pursuant to section 13-409 only when the peace officer reasonably believes 

   that it is necessary: 

   1. To defend himself or a third person from what the peace officer  

    reasonably believes to be the use or imminent use of deadly physical 

    force. 

   2. To effect an arrest or prevent the escape from custody of a person  

    whom the peace officer reasonably believes: 

    (a) Has committed, attempted to commit, is committing or is  

     attempting to commit a felony involving the use or a  

     threatened use of a deadly weapon. 

    (b) Is attempting to escape by use of a deadly weapon. 

    (c) Through past or present conduct of the person which is  

     known by the peace officer that the person is likely to  

     endanger human life or inflict serious bodily injury to  

     another unless apprehended without delay. 

    (d) Is necessary to lawfully suppress a riot if the person or  

     another person participating in the riot is armed with a  

     deadly weapon. 

  D. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, a peace officer is  

   justified in threatening to use deadly physical force when and to the extent a 
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   reasonable officer believes it necessary to protect himself against another's 

   potential use of physical force or deadly physical force.  

 
  13-411. Justification; use of force in crime prevention; applicability 

  A. A person is justified in threatening or using both physical force and deadly 

   physical force against another if and to the extent the person reasonably  

   believes that physical force or deadly physical force is immediately  

   necessary to prevent the other's commission of arson of an occupied  

   structure under section 13-1704, burglary in the second or first degree  

   under section 13-1507 or 13-1508, kidnapping under section 13-1304,  

   manslaughter under section 13-1103, second or first degree murder  
   under section 13-1104 or 13-1105, sexual conduct with a minor under  

   section 13-1405, sexual assault under section 13-1406, child molestation  

   under section 13-1410, armed robbery under section 13-1904 or   

   aggravated assault under section 13-1204, subsection A, paragraphs 1  

   and 2. 

  B. There is no duty to retreat before threatening or using physical force or  

   deadly physical force justified by subsection A of this section. 

  C. A person is presumed to be acting reasonably for the purposes of this  

   section if the person is acting to prevent the commission of any of the  

   offenses listed in subsection A of this section. 

  D. This section is not limited to the use or threatened use of physical or  

   deadly physical force in a person's home, residence, place of business, land 

   the person owns or leases, conveyance of any kind, or any other place in  

   this state where a person has a right to be.  

 
  13-412. Duress 

  A. Conduct which would otherwise constitute an offense is justified if a  

   reasonable person would believe that he was compelled to engage in the  

   proscribed conduct by the threat or use of immediate physical force against 

   his person or the person of another which resulted or could result in serious 

   physical injury which a reasonable person in the situation would not have  

   resisted. 

 

  13-418. Justification; use of force in defense of residential structure or  

  occupied vehicles; definitions 

  A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a person is  

   justified in threatening to use or using physical force or deadly physical 

   force against another person if the person reasonably believes himself  

   or another person to be in imminent peril of death or serious physical  

   injury and the person against whom the physical force or deadly  

   physical force is threatened or used was in the process of unlawfully or 

   forcefully entering, or had unlawfully or forcefully entered, a   

   residential structure or occupied vehicle, or had removed or was  

   attempting to remove another person against the other person's will  

   from the residential structure or occupied vehicle. 

  B. A person has no duty to retreat before threatening or using physical  

   force or deadly physical force pursuant to this section. 
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  C. For the purposes of this section: 

   1. "Residential structure" has the same meaning prescribed in  

    section 13-1501. 

   2. "Vehicle" means a conveyance of any kind, whether or not  

    motorized, that is designed to transport persons or property.  

 
  13-419. Presumption; exceptions; definitions 

  A. A person is presumed to be acting reasonably for the purposes of  

   sections 13-404 through 13-408 and section 13-418 if the person is acting  

   against another person who unlawfully or forcefully enters or entered the  

   person's residential structure or occupied vehicle, except that the   

   presumption does not apply if: 

   1. The person against whom physical force or deadly physical force  

    was used has the right to be in or is a lawful resident of the   

    residential structure or occupied vehicle, including an owner, lessee, 

    invitee or titleholder, and an order of protection or injunction  

    against harassment has not been filed against that person. 

   2. The person against whom the physical force or deadly physical  

    force was used is the parent or grandparent, or has legal custody or 

    guardianship, of a child or grandchild sought to be removed from  

    the residential structure or occupied vehicle. 

   3. The person who uses physical force or deadly physical force is  

    engaged in an unlawful activity or is using the residential structure  

    or occupied vehicle to further an unlawful activity. 

   4. The person against whom the physical force or deadly physical  

    force was used is a law enforcement officer who enters or attempts  

    to enter a residential structure or occupied vehicle in the   

    performance of official duties. 

  B. For the purposes of this section: 

   1. "Residential structure" has the same meaning prescribed in section  

    13-1501. 

   2. "Vehicle" means a conveyance of any kind, whether or not   

    motorized, that is designed to transport persons or property.  

 
  13-2508. Resisting arrest; classification 

  A. A person commits resisting arrest by intentionally preventing or attempting 

   to prevent a person reasonably known to him to be a peace officer, acting  

   under color of such peace officer's official authority, from effecting an  

   arrest by: 

   1. Using or threatening to use physical force against the peace officer  

    or another; or 

   2. Using any other means creating a substantial risk of causing  

    physical injury to the peace officer or another. 

 
  13-3884. Arrest by private person 

  A private person may make an arrest: 

  1. When the person to be arrested has in his presence committed a   

   misdemeanor amounting to a breach of the peace, or a felony. 
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  2. When a felony has been in fact committed and he has reasonable ground to 

   believe that the person to be arrested has committed it.  

 
  13-3889. Method of arrest by private person 

  A private person when making an arrest shall inform the person to be arrested of  

  the intention to arrest him and the cause of the arrest, unless he is then engaged in  

  the commission of an offense, or is pursued immediately after its commission or  

  after an escape, or flees or forcibly resists before the person making the arrest has  

  opportunity so to inform him, or when the giving of such information will imperil  

  the arrest.  
 
 

XIV.                  MEMORANDUM IN ACCORDANCE WITH D.C. v. HELLER 

                                District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. (2008) 

             I would be remiss to not first mention the opinion of the highest ranking law enforcement 

officer in this county, the Sheriff, concerning the use of a firearm to defend one’s self:                     

 
"…… Sometimes people need to defend themselves while 
we're responding to a 911 call. Law enforcement officers know that 
firearms in the hands of decent people are a deterrent to crime… 
It's good to know the Supreme Court has been this positive about 
gun rights and self defense… pulls the rug out from under politicians 
who want you to believe you have no right to defend yourself or own a gun." 
Joe Arpaio, MARICOPA COUNTY Sheriff"                  

            The Heller majority’s final words were: “[I]t is Not the role of this court to pronounce the 

Second Amendment extinct.” Having saved the Second Amendment from that fate, it is equally 

true that it is not the role of SCOTUS to deem Second Amendment rights less worthy of 

incorporation than other rights of the people enumerated in the Bill of Rights. Accurately 

considered the “true palladium of liberty,” the people’s right to keep and bear arms should be 

incorporated into the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and rightfully take its 

place alongside all the other fundamental rights that the right to arms secures. The people’s right 

to arms is inextricably tied to the equally fundamental right to defend oneself – to fight to 

save one’s own life.  

         The former is often indispensable to effectuate the latter. Heller noted that founding-

era legal scholars considered these rights inseparable. In fact, an original justice of 

SCOTUS, Justice Wilson, described the right to use deadly force to repel a homicidal 



 

AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF / NOTICE 18 U.S.C. § 4 / CR2008-106594-001  Pages 100 plus exhibits 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

81 

attacker as “the great natural law of self preservation which, as we have seen, cannot be 

repealed or superseded, or suspended by any human institution.” 

        Justice Wilson did not discern what steps must be taken to survive an attack, only that one is 

mandated by the laws of nature and God himself to attempt to survive an attack by any means 

necessary, and said mandate cannot be violated by any human institution. As is obvious, an 

attacker creates the situation and is armed since surprise itself is enough of an advantage to be 

considered a weapon. Couple that with the fact alcohol ingested by people with certain aggressive 

personality traits is itself a lethal weapon. One may then only reason that when a drunken enraged 

man surprise attacking another man he has in actuality two lethal weapons and the victim of said 

attack may then lawfully be allowed to use a firearm against what most combat hardened veterans 

would consider two superior weapons.  

          Heller informs, if not resolves, reaffirming that armed self-defense is an “inherent,” 

“natural,” “fundamental,” “right.” See Heller, 128 S.Ct. at 2793, 2797-2799, 2801, 2809, 2817. 

And further, the “inherent right of self-defense has been central to the Second Amendment right” 

to keep and bear arms. Heller, at 2817. It is difficult to read Heller without acknowledging, 

whether by hearty agreement or begrudging concession, that the right to use arms must be 

protected. The Court’s landmark decision in Heller concluded that the Second Amendment’s right 

to use firearms is “deeply rooted in this 

Nation’s history and tradition,” is “fundamental to the American scheme of justice,” and is 

“necessary to an Anglo-American regime of ordered liberty.” See Heller, at 2793, 2797-2799, 

2801, 2809, 2817. Those are the tests for incorporation. See Moore v. East 

Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 503 (1977) (plurality op.); Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 

721 (1997); Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 150 n.14 (1968).  

           California’s Supreme Court found that even a felon nonetheless had a right to use his 

friend’s handgun to shoot an attacker in self-defense, and could not be prosecuted 

for possessing the firearm for that purpose. The court found that the prohibition against felons 

possessing handguns “was not intended to affect a felon’s right to use a concealable firearm in 

self-defense[.]” People v. King, 22 Cal. 3d 12, 24, 582 P.2d 1000, 1007 (1978) 
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(emphasis added). SCOTUS came to a similar conclusion in Starr v. United States, 153 U.S. 614, 

623 (1894), finding an alleged horse thief had the right to defend himself against an overzealous 

posse. 

            These holdings are not an anomaly. They reflect a judicial recognition of the American 

tradition of gun ownership and use, and an acknowledgment of the fundamental right to armed 

self-defense. This tradition and right are also recognized in state constitutions, statutes, and in the 

Court’s own jurisprudence. 

             People v. King and countless other cases confirm that the right to keep and bear arms is 

the “true palladium of liberty,” and the right to armed self-defense is fundamental to the 

American scheme of justice. That being the case, the Seventh Circuit’s postulations in NRA v. 

Chicago, 567 F.3d at 857 and the cases consolidated thereunder are incongruous.  

             SCOTUS observes that the right of “[s]elf defense is a common-law gloss on criminal 

statutes.” Id. at 859. From that premise, the Seventh Circuit Court hypothesized 

that SCOTUS might find self-defense rights subject to state abrogation, or “arms” limited, for 

example, to long guns only or even to “pepper spray.” Id. at 860. SCOTUS’ observations in NRA 

v. Chicago appear based on a common but mistaken belief that 

there is little legal authority supporting a right to self-defense, beyond criminal statutes. It is 

simple to dispel this myth by reviewing the substantial body of law that supports a right to armed 

defense, including numerous cases by SCOTUS dating back to the 1800’s.  

 
 
      THE SECOND AMENDMENT RIGHT TO USE ARMS IS FUNDAMENTAL  
      AND THUS INCORPORATED BY THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE   
      FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT 
 

          Numerous cases confirm what Justice Scalia has said: “virtually all” individual rights found 

in the Bill of Rights have been incorporated against the States via the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Pac. Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Haslip, 499 U.S. 1, 34 (1991) (Scalia, J., concurring in judgment); see 

also Planned Parenthood v. Casey, 505 U.S. 833, 847 (1992) (“We have held that the Due Process 

Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 
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incorporates most of the Bill of Rights against the States”). Thus, if the rights protected by the 

Second Amendment are “fundamental,” then the Second Amendment likewise restricts state 

infringement of those rights through the Fourteenth Amendment. “Fundamental” rights have been 

defined as those “necessary to an Anglo-American regime of ordered 

liberty,” Duncan, 391 U.S. at 150 n.14, or “deeply rooted in this Nation’s history and tradition.” 

Glucksberg, 521 U.S. at 721. To determine whether the right to keep and bear arms is 

“fundamental,” SCOTUS must engage in a culturally specific inquiry, canvassing the attitudes 

and historical practices of the founding-era and post-Civil War period 

because those times produced the constitutional provisions at issue. 

                In Heller, SCOTUS already effectively conducted analysis, albeit for a different 

but related purpose. After its exhaustive analysis, SCOTUS concluded that self defense 

is an “inherent,” “natural,” “fundamental,” “right.” See Heller, at 2793 (natural right of 

defense), 2797-2798 (pre-existing right), 2798 (fundamental right), 2799 (natural right), 2801 

(central right), 2809 (natural right), and 2817 (inherent right). 

                SCOTUS came to a similar conclusion concerning the Second Amendment’s origins 

and links to self-defense. It found the “inherent right of self defense has been central to the 

Second Amendment right[ ] ” to keep and bear arms, id. at 2817, and 

further, that while self-defense “had little to do with the right’s codification; it was the central 

component of the right itself.” Id. at 2801. Given Heller’s findings, the  incorporation 

determination reduces to a simple syllogism: (1) all fundamental 

rights of the people enumerated in the Bill of Rights are incorporated by, and apply to, the states 

through the Fourteenth Amendment; (2) Heller found the Second Amendment embodied a 

fundamental right of the people to keep and bear arms; and therefore (3) the Second Amendment 

is incorporated by,  and applies to, the states through the Fourteenth 

Amendment. 

              Self-defense is more than a “common-law gloss on criminal statutes,” It Is 

a universally recognized fundamental right. NRA v. Chicago suggests the right to self-defense is a 

“common-law gloss on criminal statutes,” and may be a “right” so lacking in foundation that state 
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legislatures would be free to abrogate it entirely. NRA v. Chicago, 567 F.3d at 859. Without a 

right to self defense, however, the right to keep and bear arms is stripped of one of its fundamental 

tenets – indeed, its core motivating principle, as the court reveals in posing its self-described 

“farfetched” hypothetical: 

 
Suppose a state were to decide that people 
cornered in their homes must surrender 
rather than fight back – in other words, that 
burglars should be deterred by the criminal 
law rather than self help. That decision 
would imply that no one is entitled to keep a 
handgun at home for self-defense, because 
self-defense would itself be a crime, and 
Heller concluded that the second amendment 
protects only the interests of law-abiding 
citizens. 

Id. “Farfetched” perhaps too gently describes that hypothetical. If, as NRA v. Chicago suggests, 

some states are moving toward criminalizing – and have authority to criminalize – self-defense, 

then the Heller decision came down none too soon. The court’s hypothetical rests on the false 

premise that the “right” to self-defense is divorced from 

self-preservation, from survival, from natural law, i.e., that it is solely a creature of the legislature. 

The court indicates that, rather than being a fundamental right, self-defense is little more than an 

affirmative defense, a statutory entitlement to avoid criminal prosecution for bodily injury 

inflicted upon an aggressor by the intended victim – if the victim survives. And further, that 

despite a “common-law gloss” applied by courts, self-defense remains a mere legislative creation 

legislatures can revoke at will. Id. At 859-860.  

              Heller, however, put to rest the belittling notion that the bedrock right to self-

defense, i.e., the right to fight for one’s own life, is mere legal varnish. And it 

did so repeatedly. Heller, 128 S.Ct. at 2793, 2797-2799, 2801, 2809, 2817 (finding self-defense 

an “inherent,” “natural,” “fundamental” and pre-existing “right”). 

             The right to self-defense is well-established in state and Federal law a central argument in 

Heller is that the right to keep and bear arms is inextricably tied to a fundamental, individual right 

to self-defense, a right well-established in state and federal law – especially when defending 
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hearth and home, (even now as vehicles are inclusive of areas a man shall protect, especially 

under Arizona’s version of “castle doctrine known as A.R.S. § 13-418).  

             As Judge Cardozo explained People v. Tomlins, 213 N.Y. 240 (Ct. App. 1914): 

It is not now, and never has been the law  
that a man assailed in his own dwelling, is 
bound to retreat. If assailed there, he may 
stand his ground, and resist the attack. He is 
under no duty to take to the fields and the 
highways, a fugitive from his own home. 
More than two hundred years ago it was said 
by Lord Chief Justice Hale (1 Hale’s Pleas of 
the Crown, 486): In case a man is assailed in 
his own house, he “need not fly as far as he 
can, as in other cases of se defendendo, for he 
hath the protection of his house to excuse 
him from flying, for that would be to give up 
the possession of his house to his adversary 
by his flight.” Flight is for sanctuary and 
shelter, and shelter, if not sanctuary, is in the 
home. That there is, in such a situation, no 
duty to retreat is, we think, the settled law 
in the United States as in England. It was so 
held by the United States Supreme Court in 
Beard v. United States (158 U.S. 550). 

 

               In addition to Beard, Judge Cardozo cites two more self-defense opinions by SCOTUS, 

and references leading treatises, scholars, and several other state opinions for the same 

proposition. Moreover, the Beard decision cited by Judge Cardozo is only one of many cases 

where SCOTUS and others have recognized the right to defend oneself 

and others, and the right to use lethal force in doing so, with or without a firearm. It should be 

noted that when discussing lethal self-defense it is prudent to expect that some form of weapon is 

involved. Although not always a firearm, a firearm is just another weapon. 

              SCOTUS has recognized the fundamental right to armed self-defense 

on multiple occasions, often reversing criminal convictions where lower courts failed to honor 

that right conventional wisdom suggests a paucity of SCOTUS case law concerning firearms and 

self defense, and thus little pre-Heller support for a fundamental right to armed self-defense. This 

can be seen in the lack of attention paid to SCOTUS’ own self-defense cases by those analyzing 

the roots of the Second Amendment right to arms. 
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              As noted above, the court in NRA v. Chicago reflects this “wisdom” by deeming the right 

to self-defense a “common-law gloss,” easily removed. NRA v. Chicago, 567 F.3d at 859. But to 

the extent the court in NRA v. Chicago suggested the right to armed self-defense is not solidly 

grounded in American culture and legal tradition, the court was mistaken. On the contrary, a 

substantial body of self defense – and armed self-defense – case law exists dating back to the late 

1800’s. 

              These cases show that courts routinely treat self-defense as a natural right, 

and armed self-defense as an extension of that right under proper circumstances. To make the 

point, we examine a few of SCOUTUS’ more prominent cases on the subject, along with 

examples of other cases that engage in their own, independent review of the 

right to armed self-defense and its historic roots. 

                Gourko v. United States marks the beginning of a string of cases out of the Western 

District of Arkansas, where SCOTUS reversed convictions because of improper jury instructions 

on self-defense provided by Judge Isaac Parker (widely known as the 

“hanging judge”). Gourko v. United States, 153 U.S. 183 (1894). Gourko involved a dispute 

between coal miners. Victim Peter Carbo, who “possessed extraordinary 

physical strength and was regarded as a dangerous character,” (this is very similar to this instant 

case as the attacker was extremely intoxicated and was possibly under the effects of steroids and 

his repetitive use of acid and L.S.D.) accused the smaller John 

Gourko of taking money for certain lots of coal dug by Carbo. Carbo threatened to shoot Gourko 

“down like a dog.” Id. at 183. In response to Carbo’s threats, Gourko armed himself. In a later 

confrontation, Gourko shot and killed the unarmed Carbo. Gourko 

was convicted of murder. Ibid.  

               Gourko appealed, claiming Judge Parker erred by instructing the jury that, because 

Gourko had armed himself, the verdict could not be manslaughter; it had to be either murder or 

justifiable homicide based on self-defense. Justice Harlan, writing 
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for the Court, found the instructions constituted prejudicial error, noting that arming oneself for 

necessary self-defense in response to a threat did not preclude a verdict of manslaughter based on 

a subsequent encounter, provided the case for manslaughter 

was otherwise made. Id. at 191-192. 

             Thus, assuming the facts did not support a finding that Gourko shot Carbo in self-defense, 

it was up to the jury, not the judge, to decide the nature of the homicide. In other words, 

“manslaughter” did not become “murder” solely because Gourko armed himself well before he 

killed Carbo. Under the circumstances, arming himself might have been a 

reasonable precaution, given Carbo’s threats of violence, and thus did not necessarily show an 

intent to kill. Gourko had a right to armed self-defense. Ibid.; accord Thompson v. United States, 

155 U.S. 271, 283 (1894); Wallace v. United States, 162 U.S. 466, 474 

(1896). 

              On the heels of Gourko, Chief Justice Fuller ruled that defendant Henry Starr, a teenager 

wanted for stealing horses, was entitled to defend himself when fired upon by a peace officer who 

failed to identify himself. Starr v. United States, 153 U.S. 614 (1894). The officer had tracked 

down Starr to serve a warrant, but decided upon seeing him to shoot first and serve later. Starr 

shot back. The Court found that even an accused horse thief in hiding could defend himself, 

reasoning that each person “is entitled to protect his life.” Id. at 623; cf. People v. King, supra, 

Cal. 3d at 24 (felon had a right to use otherwise 

prohibited firearm in self-defense). 

              In Beard v. United States, the Court again reviewed Judge Parker’s jury Instructions on 

several principles of self-defense. Beard v. United States, 158 U.S. 550 (1895). Beard arose out of 

a family dispute between Mr. Beard and his nephews, the three Jones brothers, over ownership of 

a cow. Edward Jones, who had been living with the Beards following his mother’s death, claimed 

the cow belonged to his mother and thus was rightfully his; further, he determined to leave the 

farm and take the cow with 
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him. In an initial confrontation with the Jones brothers, one of whom was armed with a shotgun, 

Mr. Beard disputed Edward’s claim, and told him to file a legal action to settle the matter. Beard 

ordered the brothers off the property and told them not to come 

back, which of course they did. In the meantime, Will Jones publicly avowed his intention to get 

the cow or kill Beard. Beard heard of these threats right before the fatal encounter. Id. at 551-553. 

              When Edward and his older brothers returned to the farm, this time armed with pistols, 

they quarreled with Mrs. Beard, who refused to let them take the cow. It was while the boys were 

arguing with Mrs. Beard in a field some 50 yards from the farmhouse 

that Mr. Beard arrived on the scene, returning from town. He was carrying his shotgun, as was his 

custom. Mr. Beard ordered the boys to leave. They refused. Will Jones moved aggressively 

toward Beard and, while exclaiming “Damn you, I will show you,” moved his hand as if to draw 

his pistol. When Jones got within a few feet of Beard, Beard hit him on the head with his shotgun, 

causing serious injury. Jones died soon thereafter. Id. at 552-553. Beard was tried and convicted 

of manslaughter. 

              On appeal, Beard argued that Judge Parker’s lengthy jury instructions on self-defense 

misstated the law and prejudiced his case (such is ironically similar to the misstatements by 

Prosecutor Charbel and Detective Dalton to two grand juries in this instant case),and SCOTUS 

agreed, finding that the trial court incorrectly limited the “castle doctrine” (no duty to retreat) to 

one’s actual dwelling. That interpretation precluded a finding of justifiable homicide if Beard 

could have retreated, because Beard struck the fatal blow while in his field, not his house. Justice 

Harlan stated: “we cannot agree that the accused was under any greater obligation, when on 

his own premises, near his dwelling-house, to retreat or run away from his assailant (again 

similar to this instant case), than he would have been if attacked within his dwelling-house.” 

Id. at 559-560; see also Tomlins, supra, 213 N.Y. at 243 (Cardozo, J).  

              The Court further found that someone in Beard’s position “is not obliged to retreat, 

but may pursue his adversary until he has secured himself from all danger[,] and if he kills 

him in so doing it is called justifiable self-defence[.]” Id. at 562.22 
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             The Court in Beard found other errors in Judge Parker’s instructions on self-defense, and 

took the opportunity to explore the origins of self-defense doctrine. In doing so, the Court turned 

to other courts and legal scholars, including the Supreme Courts of 

Ohio (Erwin v. State, 29 Ohio St. 186 (1876)) and Indiana (Runyan v. State, 57 Ind. 80 (1877)), 

East’s Pleas of the Crown, Foster’s Crown Cases, Bishop’s New Criminal Law, Wharton on 

Criminal Law, etc. Beard, 158 U.S. at 560-563. 

             The point here is not to list the fundamental elements or examine the subtle nuances of the 

right to self-defense, but to illustrate that SCOTUS has explored, on multiple occasions, the 

origins of that right and its link to the right to keep and bear arms. 

             Beard, Gourko, Starr and at least ten other SCOTUS cases do that to varying degrees. And 

the right to self-defense and right to arms are discussed further in cases citing SCOTUS’ 

decisions. For example, Beard has been cited in over 100 cases on armed self-defense, with many 

jurists in those cases, e.g., Judge Cardozo in Tomlins, supra, 

exploring at length the origins and nature of the those rights. Of course, the citations go in both 

directions as seen above in Beard’s references to cases in Ohio and Indiana. The result is a 

substantial body of law providing SCOTUS with ample support for finding the Second 

Amendment’s right to arms and underlying right to self-defense, together, are part of this 

country’s history and traditions. The Second Amendment guarantees the means necessary to 

exercise the most fundamental right of all – the right to survive.  

              It is an expression of the natural law of self preservation. See Heller, 128 S.Ct. at 

2797-2799 (right to arms is fundamental). In sum, these cases show that not only self defense, 

but armed self-defense, is a fundamental right deeply rooted in our history and traditions. 

Because the right to armed self-defense is central to the Second Amendment, Heller, 128 S.Ct. at 

2817, these cases also support incorporation of the Second Amendment. See Moore v. East 

Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 502-503 (1977) (plurality op., discussing various tests for protecting 

fundamental rights via incorporation); 

see also Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 727 (1997); Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 

145, 149 (1968). 
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                                     FIREARMS ARE ESSENTIAL TO THE  

                                              RIGHT TO SELF-DEFENSE 

             One of Judge Easterbrook’s more unconventional suggestions was that a right to “arms” 

be limited by state and local governments to, for instance, “pepper spray.” NRA v. Chicago, 567 

F.3d at 859-860. But that comment fails to appreciate the unique role firearms play in self-

defense, a role most people understand, intuitively, but one often left unexplained. 

            Firearms are unique among weapons. Although the unlawful violent misuse of firearms is 

sensationalized by the media, one primary lawful use of firearms is for protection and safety. This 

crucial and greater role is exercised daily across the country, with little fanfare. Properly used, 

firearms (particularly handguns) are weapons that defend. They are unique in allowing the weak 

to defend against aggression and victimization by the strong.  

            It must be noted here that well over twenty State legislative bodies have enacted laws in 

accordance with this belief. These laws, often called “castle doctrine”, were designed to prevent 

prosecutors from mischievously prosecuting people that use weapons, especially firearms, to 

survive violent attacks. Arizona’s version of “castle doctrine”, A.R.S. §13-418, states: 

                   13-418. Justification; use of force in defense of residential structure or             

                                 occupied vehicles; definitions 

                    A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a person is justified  

                    in threatening to use or using physical force or deadly physical force against  

                    another person if the person reasonably believes himself or another          

                    person to be in imminent peril of death or serious physical injury and the  

                    person  against whom the physical force or deadly physical force is  

                    threatened or used was in the process of unlawfully or forcefully entering,  
                    or had unlawfully or forcefully entered, a residential structure or occupied  

                    vehicle, or had removed or was attempting to remove another person  

                    against the other person's will from the residential structure or occupied  

                    vehicle. 
                    B. A person has no duty to retreat before threatening or using physical  

                    force or deadly physical force pursuant to this section. 

                    C. For the purposes of this section: 

                    1. "Residential structure" has the same meaning prescribed in section 13- 

                    1501. 

                    2. "Vehicle" means a conveyance of any kind, whether or not motorized,  

                    that is designed to transport persons or property. (Emphasis added) 

                Although there are few if any precedents for A.R.S. §13-418, since it is such a new law, 

a cursory inspection of other States with similar laws and the legislative intent for A.R.S. §13-418 
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proves that the law was created to prevent prosecutors from prosecuting any case similar to this 

instant case. The fact that the witness statements make it clear that the attacker in this instant case 

had entered and was attempting to remove the person charged in this matter from his own vehicle, 

and that almost all of the evidence confirming the witnesses statements, and all other exculpatory 

evidence have been purposely destroyed by the police, and that the detective and prosecutor 

attempted to avoid A.R.S. §13-418 and the witness statements during both grand juries, leaves no 

doubt that the prosecutor and police are well aware that A.R.S. §13-418 was designed to prevent 

them from doing what they are doing.  

                 NOTE: An abridge list of violations, all of which are part of this court’s own   

                             record, to prevent “castle doctrine” from being used in this case: 

                                 Detective Dalton: 

                                  a) Committed perjury to two (2) grand juries, as evidenced by 

                                      the grand jury  records. 

                                  b) Refused to do as ordered by a warrant, thus destroying  

                                       exculpatory evidence that proved conclusively that decedent  

                                       was inside Defendant’s vehicle. 

                                  c) Refused medical attention to an injured Defendant while 

                                       integrating Defendant. 

                                  d) Destroyed original witness statement notes made by other 

                                       police officers. 

                                 Prosecutor Charbel: 

                                 a) Refused to file criminal charges against decedent’s wife,  

                                     including without limits kidnapping even though decedent  

                                     and decedent’ wife’s actions are clearly defined in law as  

                                     kidnapping. 

                                 b) Refused to list A.R.S. §13-418 to the first grand jury, then avoided the  

                                   same issue in the second grand jury. 

                                 c) Attempted to coerce a non-witness into filing charges against Defendant’s  
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                                     primary witness so the State could arrest said witness and coerce her into  

                                     testifying against Defendant. 

                                 Public Defenders (who have acted as Prosecutor’s Assistance) 

                                 a) Refused to have attackers hair tested for previous drug use. 

                                 b) Refused to have attacker’s “inhaler” tested for steroids. 

                                 c) Refused to file notice(s) of appearances in this case. 

                                 d) Attempted to have “Defendant” ruled incompetent even though the State’s  

                                     own specialist have ruled him competent. 

                                  e) Refused to withdraw even though informed numerous times they are not  

                                      “defendants” attorney. 

                                  Judge McMurdie 

                                  a) Has forced “Defendant” to have a Public Defender, in violation of  

                                      Farretta. 

                                  b) Refused to sanction prosecutor and/or detective for their criminal acts. 

                                  c) Threatened “Defendant” numerous times to prevent “Defendant” from  

                                       moving the court and/or entering evidence into court. 

                                  d) Denied “Defendant” almost all substantive rights.  

              Criminals always have the decided advantage of choosing the time, place, and victim. 

The presence of an intended-victim’s firearm provides a semblance of balance to that life-

threatening equation. The defensive nature of firearms is part of the reason why we as a society 

have chosen to arm the police and ourselves. Criminological studies find that in confrontations 

between criminals and armed citizens, the armed citizens usually win, (again, as in this 

instant case). 

             For example, 80 percent or more of attackers flee when victims just display a gun in 

self-defense. The accuracy of this statistic is obvious, except in situations that involved 

sociopathic and/or psychotic persons that are “high” or in some manner temporarily violently 

criminally insane (decedent in this instant case had a B.A.C. of 0.19 which is known to cause 

violent psychotic behavior, and he was a frequent illegal drug user, which can also cause extreme 
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violent behavior). Such people cannot be stopped by fear and/or physical force. Professor 

Southwick’s study finds that in those criminal attacks, “The use of a gun by the victim 

significantly reduces her chance of being injured. . . .”            

            Another study finds that “firearms are used over half a million times a year [in America] 

against home invasion burglars; usually the burglar flees as soon as he finds out that the victim is 

armed, and no shot is ever Fired”, (again, unless the attacker is under an extreme amount of 

alcohol and/or drugs, as was the case in this situation). 

             The foregoing quote is emphasized because it represents the consistent outcome of 

confrontations between criminals and gun-armed citizens. Armed citizens have two immense 

advantages, which may explain why criminals usually flee without firing a 

shot. First, gunshots attract police, a result as adverse to criminals as it is welcome to victims. 

Second, roughly 85 percent of people wounded by gunshot survive if given medical care. Victims 

unequivocally welcome such medical help. But criminals would 

rather avoid it. For criminals, going to a hospital is typically just a first step toward going to 

prison. It must also be stated that even a violent attacker must considered much more dangerous 

when on drugs and/or alcohol and has no fear of their victim being armed, and often times does 

not feel pain and is not usually stop from any injury shy of a mortal wound.  

          Thus, generally speaking, firearms alter the balance of power between criminals and 

victims, and in some respects give victims the advantage. That is, firearms are comparatively less 

useful to criminals than victims. Conversely, the absence of firearms 

leaves victims defenseless without appreciably inconveniencing criminals, who can victimize 

unarmed citizens and commit most crimes even without a firearm because, as noted above, 

criminals have the luxury of choosing the time, place, and victim. 

           As a matter of common sense, the right to self-defense implies the right 

to use firearms, especially to defend one’s self during a violent attack by a drunken or drug 

induced maniac. The court in NRA v. Chicago tried unsuccessfully to distinguish the right to arms 

from the right to self defense. NRA v. Chicago, 567 F.3d at 859-860 (suggesting 
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“pepper spray” might suffice). The right to self-defense without access to the tools essential for 

self-defense is no right at all. The Heller decision left no doubt on this point. To reiterate, the 

“inherent right of self-defense has been central to the Second 

Amendment right” to keep and bear arms, Heller, 128 S.Ct. at 2817. And, while self-defense had 

little to do with the codification of the right to arms, “it was the central component of the right 

itself.” Id. at 2801.  

            With respect to spray cans and similar products, studies show these half-measures are 

simply ineffective against anyone sufficiently inebriated, under narcotic influence – or just 

very angry (as in this instant case where the “attacker was violently angry” according to several 

witnesses, and extremely drunk according to the autopsy). In other words, as a practical matter, 

sprays are ineffective to defend against exactly the people from whom victims need defense. A 

“right” to self-defense without a correlative right to firearms is no right at all. That is why 

modern philosophers overwhelmingly conclude that a right of self-defense entails a right to 

possess and use a gun when needed. 

     

        NOTE:  The courts and legislatures in Arizona have decided that the  

        right to defend one’s self with a weapon of any type, firearms inclusive  

        of said right, also entails the right to not be required to retreat. See;  

        A.R.S. §13-418 and the corresponding legislation.  If one must retreat  

        instead of defend,  there is no right of self-defense, only a legal defense  

        to surviving an attack.  

            The Founders understood that the right to self-defense included the right to arms. The 

Founders inherited the view that self defense is the first right – and embraces the right to arms – 

from the philosophers they knew, especially Locke and Hobbes. The Founders did not entertain 

any theoretical distinction between the right of self-defense and the right to possess arms for self-

defense. An original justice of SCOTUS law professor James Wilson, was a member of the 

Continental Congress and the principal draftsman of the Pennsylvania Constitution. Wilson 

explained the right to use deadly force to repel a homicidal attacker: 

 
[I]t is the great natural law of self preservation 
which, as we have seen, cannot be 
repealed or superseded, or suspended by any 
human institution. This law, however, is 
expressly recognized in the Constitution of 
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Pennsylvania: “The right of the citizens to 
bear arms in defence of themselves shall not 
be questioned.”36 
Modern philosophy and the Founders agree: any 
academic distinction between the right of self-defense 
and the right to possess arms for self-defense is a 
distinction without a difference. 

 

            NOTE: One important point not discussed in the Heller opinion was what else may be 

considered a weapon. Numerous scientific studies have shown that the human body is itself a 

weapon and in cases of extreme alcohol intoxication, especially when mixed with drugs like 

steroids and/or with people that have used high amounts of L.S.D. and acid, may be a very 

efficient and lethal weapon. To claim an attacker is unarmed yet his body is unable to feel pain 

and is several times stronger than what would be normal for a human being due to the alcohol 

and/or drugs is misleading at best, and a lie at worst. 

            History is replete with cases of “native peoples” using drugs and alcohol to turn their 

bodies into weapons when attacking much more modernly armed foes. In fact, the U.S. Military 

spent vast sums of money to design a new pistol (known as the Colt Model 1911) for the Army 

due to the fact the standard service pistol of the day was almost useless against the drunken 

Moroccans that attacked soldiers in broad daylight.  

            A Prosecutor attempting to convict an innocent man may claim the alcohol in a drunken 

man that dies is not a weapon, yet that same prosecutor would quickly admit the alcohol in a man 

may be the reason a police officer had to resort to using his firearm against another man just as 

drunk because the officer was unable to stop the attacker.  

           This appears to prove without a doubt that alcohol is truly a weapon if used properly, or 

improperly as the case may be. Regardless of how the Prosecutor decides to obfuscate facts in this 

instant manner, there is no doubt that alcohol may quickly turn an enraged man into a dangerous 

and almost unstoppable weapon.  
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                              CONCLUSION OF THE HELLER DECISION   

            The individual right of self-defense, and the right to keep and bear arms necessary for self-

defense, are integral parts of this nation’s laws and tradition. The Founders understood the 

fundamental nature of these inseparable rights, and the need to protect 

them to secure all other rights in a free society. Legal scholars and philosophers, too, understood 

the right of self-defense as the first law of nature, and the right to arms as its corollary. SCOTUS 

has recognized both rights on multiple occasions, as have state courts and legislatures. See 

Wilson, supra note 5, at 84. 

           While often unstated, the link between self defense and the right to arms is the unique 

function firearms serve in human society. Firearms in the hands of law-abiding citizens uniquely 

allow the weak to defend against victimization by the strong. Nations that ban firearms have not 

managed to control crime, nor even disarm criminals. Only the 

law-abiding disarm themselves in reaction to such laws. The effect has often been to promote 

violence, not dissuade it.  

             This result fulfills the prediction of “the father of criminology,” Cesare Beccaria.             

Beccaria, known and esteemed by our Founders, speaks directly of the need to protect 

fundamental rights from the vagaries of state and local officials, who would unwittingly aid 

assailants. His comments are doubly worthy of attention: First, because they are the flowery 18th 

Century precursor of the modern slogan: “When guns are outlawed, only outlaws will have guns.” 

Second, because Thomas Jefferson translated 

this passage from the Italian and wrote it into his collection of great quotations: 

 
False is the idea of utility that sacrifices a 
thousand real advantages for one imaginary 
or trifling inconvenience; that would take 
fire from men because it burns, and water 
because one may drown in it; that has no 
remedy for evils, except destruction. The 
laws that forbid the carrying of arms are 
laws of such a nature. They disarm those 
only who are neither inclined nor determined 
to commit crimes. Can it be supposed that 
those who have the courage to violate the 
most sacred laws of humanity, the most 
important of the code, will respect the less 
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important and arbitrary ones, which can be 
violated with ease and impunity, and which, 
if strictly obeyed, would put an end to 
personal liberty – so dear to men, so dear to 
the enlightened legislator – and subject innocent 
persons to all the vexations that the 
guilty alone ought to suffer? Such laws make 
things worse for the assaulted and better for 
the assailants; they serve rather to encourage 
than to prevent homicides, for an unarmed man  
may be attacked with greater confidence than an  
armed man. They ought to be designated as laws  
not preventive but fearful of crimes, produced by  
the tumultuous impression of a few isolated facts, 
and not by thoughtful consideration of the  
inconveniences and advantages of a universal decree. 

 
 
                      CONCLUSION OF HELLER DECISION FOR THIS CASE 

             The right to defend one’s self absent the right to use a firearm in the defense is no right at 

all. Prosecuting a man that survives an attack by a drunken mad man attempting to murder anyone 

in his path is in direct violation of everything this country holds sacred. To claim that a drunken 

man is not a weapon is as ludicrous as claiming a child cannot use a firearm to stop a grown man 

from attacking them. Alcohol, and/or any drug, may not in and of itself be a weapon anymore than 

metal is a knife. Yet once forged properly that metal becomes a lethal weapon known as a knife, 

and once enough alcohol is ingested by a man that “sees red” (as admitted to by the attacker’s 

wife in a television interview), that man is then a lethal weapon, whether behind a steering wheel 

of a car or while attempting to murder someone behind their own steering wheel.   

             In its most obvious concept, the prosecution of a victim for surviving the very crime that 

made him a victim is a crime in and of itself and is the greatest insult a court could direct toward 

the Constitution, the Founding Fathers and liberty.  

 

XV.      SUMMARY 

 This case is fraught with fatal errors committed by the various State agents. Most of which 

are in actuality criminal acts that due to immunity for their illicit acts the offenders will never 

experience any retribution, yet they are still criminal acts. Some of the errors are simple mistakes, 

some are negligence, and some are just signs the system is out of control. Regardless, there are so 
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many errors that it will be impossible for Defendant to ever receive a fair trial in this matter. 

Almost all of the exculpatory evidence is now missing, has been destroyed, was refused to be 

collected or won’t be allowed. The lies told by Detective Dalton, Prosecutor Charbel, et al, have 

been allowed for so long they are now a part of the court’s record and will appear true.  

 If in fact, Detective Dalton had told the truth to the original grand jury and had kept 

Defendant’s clothing the State would not proceed with this matter.  Those two (2) crimes 

committed by one man acting in unison with Prosecutor Charbel is the true cause of this travesty 

of justice. Charbel secretly held the grand jury a day early after receiving written notice from 

Defendant he would be appearing according to the schedule Charbel set. Such schedule change is 

prima facie evidence Charbel was working in collusion with Dalton to obfuscate the facts and gain 

a fraudulent grand jury indictment.  

 As for the incident that was used to create this almost two (2) year long endeavor into 

fraudulent and malicious prosecution, it was in and of itself, simply a tragedy, not a crime. For if 

the decedent had not been spending his time his usual way of being out getting drunk and risking 

the lives and safety of the public in general, and if Defendant had not been spending his time in 

his usual way of doing a service for society, the two would have never met. 

 The one who caused the tragedy died from his unlawful attack on an innocent man. That 

simple fact is clear and therefore there is no need and no lawful reason to continue this matter. 

The fatal errors in procedure committed by the State’s agents have invoked estoppel in pais 

against the State, dismissal with prejudice of this case, and the release of Defendant.  

 Again,  the Arizona legislature, the “Lawmakers”, wrote legislation, and the governor then 

signed into Law in April 2006, that legislation, now known as A.R.S. § 13-418. This Law made 

ANY homicide that occurs while a criminal is attacking a person in their own home and/or vehicle 

“justifiable.” The intent of this Law was to prevent the courts from sending innocent people to 

prison for simply protecting themselves, as such as been the frequent case since the Law was 

changed in 1997. This new Law, similar to the Law previous to 1997, REQUIRES the State to 

consider defendants “innocent until proven guilty” in cases of self-defense. Every action of the 

State has been to purposely avoid and disavow this new Law, even to the extent of re-writing 
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witness statements and destroying evidence to prevent Defendant from invoking the protection 

guaranteed by this Law.  

 It is the Court’s duty to follow the law to protect the people of this State, not disregard it to 

convict innocent people and create precedents to make the Law impotent. 

As such, the Court has the duty to dismiss with prejudice this case and hold the real criminals 

responsible for their unlawful acts committed under color of law. 

 

XVI.       CONCLUSION AND RECTUM ROGARE 

 WHEREAS, the facts and the law contained herein are before this court; and. WHEREAS, 

the facts and the law contained herein are the Truth; and WHEREAS, we hold said Truths to be 

self-evident; and, WHEREAS, self-evident Truths are undisputed and incontrovertible, no oral 

argument is requested, for no words can alter or overcome these Truths; and, WHEREAS, Truth is 

Sovereign: She comes from God and bears His message, from whatever quarter her great eyes 

may look down upon you; Psalms 117:2; John 8:32; II Corinthians. 13:8; and Exodus 22:2 "If a 

thief is caught breaking in and is struck so that he dies, the defender is not guilty of bloodshed”; 

THEREFORE; this court must perform its duty under the Rule of Law, do Justice, Rectum 

Rogare, and DISMISS WITH PREJUDICE the above-captioned case without delay for “Justice 

delayed is Justice denied.”   

   

 

RESPECTFULLY  ENTERED INTO EVIDENCE this 3
rd

 day of December 2009. 
 
 
 
 
 
     BY:________________________________________ 
      Terry I. Major, Notary Public 
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ORDER OF EXHIBITS 
By date 
 

Ex   P#    Date                               Item        
 

A    14     01/30/08     WARRANT 

                                    Det. Dalton refused to follow warrant even after repeated requests 

B     4      02/08/08     I.R.S. Letter and corresponding ME 

                                    Used by prosecutor to fraudulently obtain warrant 

C     7      several        NAR for six (6) other attorneys  

                                    No NAR for public defenders 

D     1      02/26/08     First GJ, page 3, no mention of A.R.S. § 13-418  

                                   Cause for remand 

E     1      03/24/08     JUDGE STEINLE’S ORDER 

                                    Sealed by the court 

F     8      09/08/08      MTD pages 8-15, Detective lied to grand jurors 

                                    Obvious perjury, yet no remand under current judge 

G     7     11/05/08      States Motion against attorney w/o NAR 

                                     Yet State forces PD w/o NAR on Defendant 

H    11     11/08/08     Motion for reconsideration to preserve evidence 

                                     State destroyed ALL exculpatory evidence purposely 

I       3     11/17/08      ME requiring NAR 

                                     PD cannot be excluded from this order 

J       4     01/21/09      MIL #9; MTD for failure to preserve evidence 

                                     Never answered by Prosecutor 

K     3      05/20/09      Order & ME for blood and urine samples 

                                       Def. requested hair, not blood and urine, hair test go back 

                                       90 days, b & u go back 3 days 

L      4      07/06/09     Motion and Notice terminating ALL attorneys 

                                      Ignored by judge 

M     2      07/08/09     MTC by PD Johnson 

                                     PD not attorney of record, continuance cannot count 

N     3      07/09/09     Notice CA of attorney for private compensation 

                                     Second denial by Defendant of attorney 

O     2      07/13/09     ME ignoring Defendants termination of ALL attorneys 

                                     Judge forcing PD on Defendant 

P     2      09/08/09      ME granting Rule 11 

                                      Sua sponte order w/o motion listing reason for Rule 11 

Q     2     10/07/09       ME preventing Defendant from filing 

                                      Def. forced to have PD and can’t file motions: Star Chamber 

R     3     10/29/09       ME Rule 11 continuance 

                                       Another unlawful continuance 

S     8     10/29/09        Competency evaluation from 2 court Doctors 

                                       Both Doctors agree Def. is competent 

T     6     11/20/09       Full Docket as of 11/20/09, No PD NARs 

                                        No NAR(s) for P.D., six NARs for other attorneys 

 


